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BATTLING PARISH PRIESTS, BOOLEGGERS, AND FUR SHARKS:
CCF COLONIALISM IN NORTHERN SASKATCHEWAN

This study examines the relationship between the government of Saskatchewan and the northern
half of the province and its residents during the immediate post-World War Two period. Up
until 1944, the people of the region lived in relative isolation and had developed a unique society,
culture, and economy distinct from the rest of the province. But under the Co-operative
Commonwealth Federation (CCF), which formed the government of Saskatchewan from 1944 to
1964, the North underwent profound change. During this twenty-year period, the CCF attempted
to impose modernization, assimilation, and socialism within the northern Aboriginal society.
Northerners experienced a very different CCF government than did southerners. While the CCF
drew back from its socialist policies in the South, the party applied strongly socialist economic
policies to many aspects of the northern economy. On the other hand, in the realm of social
policy, the CCF proved less generous to northerners than to southerners. CCF efforts in the
North proved largely unsuccessful. A failure to commit adequate resources, a lack of planning,
and resistance from northemers to the intrusive governmental presence combined to limit the
success of the CCF project. The CCF also destroyed much of the former northern economic and
social system, while failing to build a workable new economy and society. This contributed to
the worsening poverty and social dysfunction within Aboriginal communities.

This work breaks new ground in significant ways. Other studies have examined particular
aspects of the CCF northern record, but none have employed extensive original research in an
effort to grasp the larger northern picture. This research seeks to understand and explain, in a
comprehensive fashion, the legacy left by the CCF to the North.

Various sources have provided information for this research. Archival records located at the
Saskatchewan Archives Board served as the largest single source. Documents from the Glenbow
Archives also have proven valuable. Oral interviews with northern residents and former
provincial government employees added new perspectives and invaluable checks on the archival
information. The existing body of secondary scholarship has provided a necessary base of
information.
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ABSTRACT

“Battling Parish Priests, Bootleggers, and Fur Sharks: CCF Colonialism in Northern
Saskatchewan,” examines the relationship between the government of Saskatchewan and the
northern half of the province during the immediate post-World War Two period. Prior to 1944,
the people of the region lived in relative isolation and had developed a unique society, culture, and
economy distinct from the rest of the province. But under the Co-operative Commonwealth
Federation (CCF), which formed the government of Saskatchewan from 1944 to 1964, the North
underwent profound change. During this twenty-year period, using colonial methods, the CCF
attempted to impose modernization, assimilation, and socialism within the northern Aboriginal
society. CCF efforts in the North proved largely unsuccessful. A failure to commit adequate
resources, a lack of planning, and resistance from northerners to the intrusive governmental
presence combined to limit the success of the CCF project. The CCF also destroyed much of the
former northern economic and social system, while failing to build a workable new economy and
society. This contributed to the worsening poverty and social dysfunction within Aboriginal
communities.

This work breaks new ground in significant ways. Other studies have examined particular
aspects of the CCF northern record, but none have employed extensive original research in an
effort to grasp the larger northern picture. This research seeks to understand and explain, in a
comprehensive fashion, the legacy left by the CCF to the North. Additionally, this study offers a
new perspective on the socialism of the CCF in Saskatchewan. The CCF’s northern record
indicates the presence of a much stronger socialism than many observers, who have only examined
the CCF in the South, thought.

Various sources have provided information for this research. Archival records located at
the Saskatchewan Archives Board served as the largest single source. Documents from the
Glenbow Archives also have proven valuable. Oral interviews with northern residents and former
provincial government employees added new perspectives and invaluable checks on the archival
information. The existing body of secondary scholarship has provided a necessary base of

information.
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Map Number 3: Northern Saskatchewan Road Systems
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Introduction

My interest in northern Saskatchewan goes back to my childhood, spent growing up on the
banks of the Swift Current Creek, an oasis in the dry southern Saskatchewan prairie. Familiarity
with northern Saskatchewan first came from neighbors and relatives who traveled there and
brought back large fish and tales of lakes and forests. My first visits to the North came when, as
a teenager, I traded labour as a fish filleter for trips to the North, spending days on wind-swept
rocky lakeshores. Later, as a fresh graduate with a Bachelor of Arts, my willingness to work in the
North brought a job as a social worker with the Department of Welfare during the closing years
of the Ross Thatcher Liberal government. Although stationed in La Ronge, the job involved
administering the department’s programs in a large area extending to the Northwest Territories
(NWT).

While the Liberal government’s delivery of social services in the North differed from that
of the earlier Co-operative Commonwealth Federation (CCF) era, some of the same persons stiil
worked for the government. My supervisor, a gentleman by the name of John Edgerton Hugh
Parsons, once single-handedly provided the Department of Social Welfare presence in the North
under the CCF. A tireless spinner of yarns, Hugh whetted my interest in this earlier time in the
North with stories about his experiences as a social worker in remote communities.

Working for the Liberals in the North also whetted my interest in the relationship between
northerners and the provincial government." Economic and social problems plagued the region,
and one could not help but wonder how government might creatively deal with the issues. About
two weeks after arriving in the North, I knew the answer to northern problems, but this confidence
faded as the northern dilemma became clearer. Yet it clearly seemed that government could do
things differently and, in many cases, much better. Shortcomings existed not only in policies made
by a remote government in Regina, but also at the local administrative level, where corrupt petty
officials twisted northern programs to add to their personal wealth and power. Cynicism and
resignation that the North and Aboriginals were inherently dysfunctional pervaded the northern
civil service.

When the pull of southern attractions proved irresistible, I left the rugged beauty of La

Ronge. My work as a social worker in the area west and north of Prince Albert ensured that my
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contact with Aboriginal families continued. A second career as a building contractor, which
included work on Indian reserves, provided a different perspective on life in these Aboriginal
communities. My family also chose to live in the southern fringe of the northern forest, in an
environment similar to that of northern Saskatchewan. This proximity to the North facilitated
spending countless days and weeks in various parts of the North over the past decades. In recent
years, work on this study also drew me to the North. Having little first-hand familiarity with the
area from Beauval to La Loche, it became a priority to spend time there. A trip up the long gravel
road north from La Loche to the Clearwater River and on to the Cluff Lake mine near Lake
Athabaska revealed some of the wonders of that area. Paddling trips on the Churchill River, time
spent in La Ronge, visits to communities along the Hanson Lake road, and voyages by water and
road to the Cumberland House delta area provided first-hand experience of some of the issues in
these areas.

The North I came to know over the past thirty-five years bore the mark of events which
began to unfold in the spring of 1944. At that time, newspaper headlines proclaimed that
Saskatchewan voters elected North America’s first socialist government, the Co-operative
Commonwealth Federation government, led by T. C. (Tommy) Douglas. Although preoccupied
with introducing changes in the South, including economic diversification, modernization, and new
social and health care programs, the CCF concern also extended to the 10,000 or so persons who
inhabited the forested northern half of the province. In fact, it made dealing with the previously
ignored northern part of the province one of its priorities.

The CCF interest in the North came from a number of sources. In an effort to avoid a
repeat of the economic disaster of the Great Depression of the 1930s, the CCF sought to diversify
the provincial economy. This would free the province from its over-reliance on agriculture, in
particular the production of wheat for the world market. At the time the CCF came to power, the
new government faced severe financial limitations and lacked the economic resources to spend as
the CCF would have liked. While this situation improved only slowly, northern resources offered
hope for increasing the province’s wealth.” Some in the new government vaguely sensed that the
North hid great resource wealth which could contribute to long-term economic diversity and
stability. CCF dreamers particularly yearned for riches from northern mines and forests.

Much of the justification for the subsequent massive CCF intervention in the North also
came from the ideological fervour of Premier Douglas and others in the CCF. They condemned
the primitive capitalism and church control which had evolved in the North. To the CCF way of

thinking, the Hudson’s Bay Company (HBC) operated an exploitive and outdated economic
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system, while the Roman Catholic and Anglican churches carried out many functions, especially
in the areas of health care and education, which belonged to the state. For several reasons then,
the CCF set out to destroy the existing northern economic, power, and social structures.

Believing modern ways superior to the old, the CCF set out to modernize northern systems.
The North in 1944 remained remote and, in many respects, separate from the South. CCF plans
to modernize the North fit well with the new government’s push to also modernize southern
Saskatchewan, which had lagged behind much of the rest of the North American continent.
Southern initiatives included rural electrification, urban water and sewer systems, improved
telephone service, road improvements, and building new schools and hospitals. To modernize the
North represented a much more formidable challenge, since the northern infrastructure had
changed little since the nineteenth century. Although the increasing use of airplanes offered an
important transportation option to some, most northerners still travelled on the traditional water
routes which traversed the North. The region lacked roads, railways, electrical service, and
communications systems. The absence of modern infrastructure also limited the northern
economy. While some extraction of furs, fish, timber, and minerals took place, transportation
limitations prevented the economy from expanding. Large expanses of the North also received few
services, including in the areas of education, medicine, policing, and other government services.
While many northerners did not see the need for or want widespread modernization of their
homeland, the CCF considered it essential to bring the region into the twentieth century.

The CCF effort included an agenda of assimilating northern Aboriginals into modern
Canadian society. This government viewed the Aboriginals’ semi-nomadic, hunter-gatherer way
of life as a primitive form of economic, political, and social organization, much below that of the
Euro-Canadian culture and its “progress.” During its two decades in power, the CCF continued
to disrespect the choices made by northern Indians and Metis. Its belief that Aboriginals needed
to adopt white ways of thinking and acting in order to have a viable future directed many CCF
projects.

The CCF set another major goal for the North: to establish a socialist society there. While
various other provincial governments and the federal government also worked to modernize their
_ jurisdictions and assimilate Aboriginal populations, only the Saskatchewan government sought to
build a northern socialist society. The CCF did so with a missionary-like zeal. This socialist
agenda meant that the path of development in northern Saskatchewan would differ substantially
from that seen in other northern regions. The new CCF government largely invented the form

northern socialism would take as it went along. Unlike some socialist societies elsewhere, the CCF
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only very sparingly shared provincial or northern wealth with northerners through social programs.
A fear of spoiling northerners’ work ethic, financial restraints, and sometimes outright neglect
limited CCF spending on social programs. What developed was largely an economic socialism,
under which the provincial government took over or controlled large parts of various northern
resource industries. Newly-established crown corporations and marketing boards exerted powerful
control. The CCF also visualized co-operatives playing a role in creating a socialist society,
although involving northerners through co-operatives would have to wait. In its effort to establish
a socialist society, the new government attacked free enterprise, even though most businesses,
whether in fishing, trapping, or forestry, consisted of small, marginal operations. It viewed the
existing northern capitalist society as immoral and wanted to replace it with a new and better
society. The CCF looked on the North as a giant “tabula rasa” where, after wiping out the existing
worthless society, it would design and build a northern utopia. Only in the North could the CCF
impose a socialist society without fear of repercussions at the polls, since northerners lacked the
numbers to remove the CCF from power, and southern voters, who would not have tolerated
similar programs closer to home, would not interfere in the remote North. The CCF confidently
followed its vision, not viewing it as an experiment in socialism; rather, it believed that it had
correctly analysed northern problems and knew how best to establish a northern socialist utopia.
Even when faced with failure, which became a frequent occurrence, the CCF did not question its
basic hypothesis or goals but blamed imperfect subjects and methods.

The CCF simultaneously worked to impose modernization, assimilation, and socialism,
expecting their joint application to solve many other problems. Douglas and his ministers placed
great confidence in the power of knowledge and planning as applied by those with the benefit of
social democratic enlightenment. They held a roughly equal lack of faith in the ability of northern
Aboriginals to plan for their future. Although northerners resisted CCF plans for the North both
at the ballot box and through numerous actions, this had little effect on the southern-based party.

Although the area known as “the North” covered about one-half of Saskatchewan, this
region lacked power. The northern population formed only one to two percent of the provincial
population during the CCF era. Only two elected MLAs represented northerners, while the
relatively massive southern population dictated what happened in the North. The physical distance
between the North and the centre of power in the provincial capital of Regina also meant that the
North became a distant periphery of the southern centre. About three hundred miles separated
Regina from the near North, and seven hundred miles or more lay between the seat of power and

some remote areas.



Possibly as important as what the CCF set out to do in the North was how it sought to bring
about change. It utilized destructive, paternalistic, colonial methods to impose its agenda.
Northern Saskatchewan already had a centuries-old history of colonial control by outside forces.
First Britain, then Canada, and finally Saskatchewan each exerted control over the area. Under
each phase, political and economic control remained largely outside the region. This situation was
notunique. Governments had long established colonial control, both economically and politically,
over far-flung regions of globe. The post-World War Two years brought a global decolonization
movement, which saw colonial masters gradually relinquish control over their former possessions.
In contrast, the Saskatchewan CCF imposed an unprecedented level of colonial control over
northern Saskatchewan. Although northerners accepted and valued the existing northern system
which had evolved over several centuries, the CCF showed no concern about wiping it out. Driven
by the dual engines of unquestioning ethnocentricism and socialist fervor, CCF ministers and
bureaucrats overpowered the North. The early CCF government brimmed with confidence that it
would do things much better than had former governments and institutions. While most CCF
officials had virtually no experience in or with the North, they consulted only minimally with
northerners, considering them incapable of analyzing their society or participating in designing
improvements to it. The CCF did not ask northerners whether they wanted the radically intrusive
CCF presence or not. At best, a relatively small number of northerners helped determine some
minor details of the CCF interventions. CCF surveys about proposed changes to resource policies
excluded most isolated and non-English speaking northerners. Even this minimal consultation
process did not extend to the other economic and social engineering policies which quickly and
dramatically altered reality for northerners. The early CCF government chose the Department of
Natural Resources and Industrial Development (DNR) to serve as its strong, colonial arm, greatly
expanding its presence and power in the North.

The first few years after the 1944 election victory brought the most aggressive intervention
by Joe Phelps, the powerful Minister of Natural Resources, and a handful of dedicated bureaucrats.
Yet the CCF’s northern actions did not reflect its much-touted planning ability. Goals remained
poorly articulated, chaotic natural resource development projects disrupted northern lives, and no
competent agency picked up the pieces. This stage of socialist fervor brought the most dramatic
change to the North, as Phelps and other southern socialists fought to excise capitalist abuses and
introduce socialism and strict state control. Often flying by the seat of his pants, Phelps
energetically made and modified policies until his electoral defeat in 1948 marked the beginning

of a long period of less aggressive CCF action.
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A second stage in CCF northern policy began in the late 1940s. Politicians’ interest in the
North waned. They came to realize that diversification of the provincial economy through
developing northern resources would not come about easily or cheaply. Financial realities also
severely limited the CCF’s options. While early optimism and hopes of a quick return on northern
investments had helped loosen the purse strings after 1944, a more cautious fiscal approach
affected provincial spending in the North by 1948. CCF interest in the welfare of northern people
also faded. Erosion of earlier reforms took place, radical staff quit, and CCF attacks on the
churches and the HBC eased. Perplexed by failures and resistance, the CCF lost faith in its quick
and easy answers to northern problems. Yet, instead of giving up, it adopted subtler methods to
impose its agenda on northerners. The new plan combined extensive anthropological study of
northern Aboriginals with community development methods to achieve its goals. The modernizing,
assimilationist, and socialist agenda remained, with DNR still the primary colonial administrator.
This stage continued until the defeat of the CCF in 1964.3

The contrast between the CCF self-image as a rational, intelligent government and its
failure to apply effective planning in its northern interventions stands out as one of the great
contradictions of the CCF northern record. Although the CCF wanted to establish a modern,
assimilated, socialist society, confusion reigned. Chaos characterized Phelps’ time as Minister of
Natural Resources, and his replacement, J. H. Brockelbank, also favored action over
contemplation, placing little emphasis on developing goals and plans.* The lack of effective
planning became apparent in the unexpected consequences of CCF actions: health care
improvements led to a population explosion, roads brought social problems, market interventions
increased poverty, and social aid undermined self-reliance. The new problems created by the CCF
often proved more formidable than the old ones.

This thesis breaks new ground in significant ways. Few historians and others in related
disciplines have examined the CCF era in the North. While a vast body of literature touches on
the issues in this study, virtually no one has specifically examined the CCF record in the North
using the benefit of the distance provided by several decades of time. Some earlier efforts
attempted to understand the dynamics of CCF interventions in the North. In the 1950s, V.
Valentine wrote analytically about the North under the CCF, but his work demonstrates a strong
ideological agreement with the CCF agenda; indeed, he helped form and direct CCF policies there.’
In the early 1960s, the Center for Community Studies carried out the most comprehensive study
of the North under the CCF. The Center, commissioned by the CCF to study the North for the

purpose of creating new programs, hired numerous academics to scrutinize the worsening northern
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problems. Helen Buckley, J. E. M. Kew, and John B. Hawley produced “The Indians and Metis
of Northern Saskatchewan,” which, combined with various other reports produced by the Center,
captured much of the northern reality in the declining years of the CCF government.® The official
report produced by the Center let the CCF off easily when it came to assigning blame for the
northern situation. Many of the academics associated with the Center’s study dissented from its
official report. They wrote their own descriptions of the state of the North under the CCF. Arthur
K. Davis pulled together the dissenting works in 4 Northern Dilemma: Reference Papers.” These
writings provide valuable descriptions of the North during the late CCF era and reveal the sense
of frustration experienced by the CCF when confronted by the failure of its plans. Yet they fail
to convey the larger history of CCF involvement in the North and tell little about why the northern
society’s dysfunction increased under the CCF.

Numerous reports, books, and articles contain relevant information about the North, the
CCF, and Aboriginals. Bill Waiser of the University of Saskatchewan (U of S), in “Writing about
Northern Saskatchewan,” has recently surveyed much of the relevant literature about the region
and notes the absence of any comprehensive studies about the CCF northern interventions.®
Individually and collectively the existing writings fail to adequately depict what happened under
the CCF in the North. Many of the available sources rely on little original research. Some present
highly doctrinaire opinions and repeat well-worn cliches, helping raise them to the status of general
knowledge. A vague sense of CCF good intentions and memories of Tommy Douglas’ charisma
have left an impression of a positive CCF record in the North. Many peripheral sources lack a
northern perspective, and truisms about the CCF and Metis and Treaty Indian history generated in
the South do not transfer well to northern Saskatchewan.

Some of the sources deserve special mention and serve as examples of the type of literature
available about northern Saskatchewan under the CCF. Murray Dobbin, a southern Saskatchewan
socialist writer, is among the few who have examined the CCF’s record in the North. In addition
to numerous articles which approach northern history from a leftist perspective, he has studied the
lives of James Brady and Malcolm Norris, two CCF radicals who left their mark on the North
under the CCF.> At times Dobbin’s lament for the lack of a more radical CCF socialism takes
precedence over depicting the CCF North. Laurie Barron, former head of the Native Studies
program at the U of S, also offers recent and original work about the North under the CCF in
Walking in Indian Moccasins: The Native Policies of Tommy Douglas and the CCF. While
Barron’s exploration of the relationship between the CCF and Aboriginals includes some

information about the North, he concentrates more on the record of the CCF in the South. Barron’s
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research does not expose the most devastating northern CCF policies and actions. James Waldram,
formerly of the U of S Native Studies Department, includes research about northern Saskatchewan
in As Long as the Rivers Run: Hydroelectric Development and Native Communities in Western
Canada. He focuses on the effects of hydro-electric development on the Saskatchewan River
which devastated the south-east area of the North. Waldram’s work provides a critical evaluation
of hydro development, including that carried out by the CCF." Various other persons contribute
information about specific aspects of the North under the CCF. Keith Goulet, a Saskatchewan
NDP cabinet minister, offers information about Sandy Bay and developments there.!" William D.
Knill and Lionel George Marshall furnish valuable details about the development of education in
the North.”” Dan Beveridge of the University of Regina and Trimension Research have recently
carried out separate studies on the northern fishery. Neither deals extensively with the problems
of the fishery under the CCF." Yet, in spite of the vast body of information, no one provides a
broad and detailed look at northern Saskatchewan under the CCF.

While the secondary sources already mentioned furnish invaluable information, archival
sources provide the backbone of this study. Governmental records located at the Saskatchewan
Archives Board and the personal papers of James Brady housed at the Glenbow Archives in
Calgary, Alberta have proven invaluable to this research. These archives preserve the letters,
memoranda, and reports of hundreds of persons who wrote about events as they unfolded. They
often provide dates, names, and other details with a high level of accuracy. These sources,
however, usually describe the North from the perspective of those outside the Aboriginal
community and the North. This apparent weakness also serves as a strength, since the records
candidly portray the plans, schemes, and actions of those who reshaped the North and also reveal
these interveners’ perceptions about the North and northerners. While some undoubtedly censored
their writing, many wrote as if they never expected their reflections to undergo scrutiny. The
archives also contain the thoughts of numerous northerners, in the form of letters and petitions
directed to the CCF.

Oral history also makes an important contribution to this research. Collection of oral
history involved interviewing northern residents and persons who worked there for the provincial
government. In some cases, the persons interviewed lived both in northern Saskatchewan and
worked for the province; most still lived in the North at the time of the interviews. Using oral
sources helps overcome some of the shortcomings of the archival documents, which fail to
adequately include the viewpoints of Aboriginals and women. The North was a man’s world under

the CCF, where men made and administered CCF policies. The party also viewed the northern
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economy and society as a male-dominated realm. Men wrote nearly all of the relevant archival
information, usually writing about and to other men. Interviews conducted with women as part of
this study help provide the perspective of women on northern events. Saskatchewan Archives
Board audio tapes of interviews with several CCF ministers also add to this study by providing a
more intimate understanding of their thoughts and recollections. Oral history provides invaluable
insights and checks on the information obtained from other sources. Appendices A to D provide
detailed information about the methods used to collect interview data, while Appendix E discusses
various issues encountered.

This work presents a fairly comprehensive view of the people of the North and of the CCF
governmental presence there from 1944 to 1964. Numerous examples serve to illustrate the major
arguments of the study, but do not provide a complete history of any one community or group of
people. The dissertation demonstrates that the CCF used a colonial apparatus to govern the North
very differently than the South, striving to impose a modern, assimilated, and socialist northern
society. The significance of this study also extends beyond providing an analysis of two decades
in northern Saskatchewan. It sheds light on the nature of CCF socialism in the larger context of
Saskatchewan and Canada. Many Canadians look on the CCF and its successor the NDP as the
originators of many of the best aspects of Canadian society. They accept that Tommy Douglas and
his party helped save Canadians from the excesses of capitalism by developing and implementing
a kinder, more humane society. The CCF record in southern Saskatchewan serves as the primary
basis for this belief. Yet little is known about the actions of the CCF in the northern half of the
province, where the CCF had much more freedom and power to show its mettle.

This study, initially prompted by my interest in and love of northern Saskatchewan, has
unexpectedly led to disturbing conclusions about some underlying reasons for many of the
problems which have existed and still exist in northern Saskatchewan. Some of the CCF goals for
the North, including socialism and modernization, found and still find many sincere and devoted
supporters. Many also would agree with Joe Phelps in his desire to end the reign of parish priests,
bootleggers, and fur sharks in the North."* Yet, instead of serving as a liberating presence from
forces which the CCF viewed as corrupt and capitalistic, the party brought a new destructive
oppression to the North. Some of the negative effect of the CCF presence came from its failure
to reconcile its actions with its ideology. As a result, the CCF left a legacy riddled with
contradictions. Even though it prided itself on being an intelligent, thoughtful government, it often
acted on impulse and emotion. While the CCF thought of itself as a kinder, gentler alternative to

capitalism, it built and employed an ugly, heavy-handed colonial apparatus. At the same time that
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it claimed to care for northern Aboriginals, the CCF judged their culture as worthless and worked
to assimilate them. Discord also appears between the CCF attempt to impose economic socialism
on the North, while opposing expanded sharing through social programs. Similarly, the CCF
viewed northern wealth as belonging to all Saskatchewan residents, while it harshly refused to
fairly share the province’s wealth with northerners. Another major contradiction exists between
the CCF choice of pre-industrial vocations for northern Aboriginals and its stated goal of
assimilating Indians and Metis. CCF policies which established isolated Aboriginal ghettos also
limited assimilation. Additionally, while the CCF wanted to modernize the North, it failed to
devote the needed resources to bring this about, leaving northerners living in semi-modern poverty.
This study demonstrates that the CCF imposed its ideology and programs in the North, ignoring
and overruling the desires of northerners, while attempting to bring modernization, assimilation,
and socialism to the region. It did so in a haphazard and destructive fashion, destroying the old

without successfully building a new North.
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Chapter One

ANOTHER COUNTRY ALTOGETHER

Northern Saskatchewan found itself at a crossroads in 1944. Technological advances in
transportation and communications, together with a growing southern hunger for northem
resources, meant that the North’s former isolation could not continue indefinitely. The informal
governance of the Hudson’s Bay Company and the churches would have to make way for an
expanded governmental presence. Developments in neighbouring provinces and the northern
territories demonstrated that change would inevitably come to northern Saskatchewan, no matter
who governed the province. Yet, the nature of the impending transformation remained
undetermined in 1944. The landslide election victory of T. C. Douglas and the CCF granted this
party the authority to choose the direction to follow at the crossroads. The new CCF government
held great power over and responsibility for the future of northerners.

On June 15, 1944, the CCF defeated W. Patterson’s Liberals, winning 53.1% of the
popular vote and forty-seven of fifty-two seats. Various southern issues contributed to the CCF
election victory. The Liberals had alienated supporters by their ineffective handling of the Great
Depression of the 1930s and subsequent economic and social problems. In 1944, southern
Saskatchewan appeared as a beaten-down and obscure area which had not yet fully recovered from
the devastation wrought by the Depression. Poverty there had reached legendary proportions,
dashing the hopes of the immigrants who had come to this place onée thought to be a Garden of
Eden. By provincial election day, although rains again fell and the war economy created a demand
for prairie wheat, poverty still dominated. Patterson and his party lost further support by extending
their term past the customary four years; voters simply tired of the long-serving Liberalg. For its
part, the CCF and its energetic leader, T. C. Douglas, attracted voters by offering benevolent
government planning to prevent a recurrence of economic catastrophe. The party held out hope
that its skilled planning would solve existing problems and prevent new ones from developing.
The new government also promised changes in education, health, and labour legislation.

The CCF also owed much of'its election victory to a moderation of its more radical earlier

socialist policies. The party once had called for nothing short of a complete elimination of
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capitalism. Even though it did not denounce socialism, the CCF convinced most voters that they
need not fear its new mild socialism. Voters became familiar with the CCF while it served as the
Opposition in the Legislature, where its moderate stance and advocacy for farmers assuaged fears
somewhat. CCF roots in the Christian Social Gospel movement and Douglas’ position as a Baptist
minister also helped appease fears of dreaded communism. Consequently, the Liberals’
characterization of the CCF as radical socialists or communists had little effect, and voters i gnored
some of the more radical roots of the CCF. Many who feared Soviet-style socialism accepted the
democratic Christian socialism advocated by the CCF, and some former opponents supported the
party.!

The CCF northerners would come to know began in the early 1930s, springing from
various socialist and non-socialist roots. Some of its strongest roots came from the western Social
Gospel movement of the early twentieth century. J. S. Woodsworth, the first leader of the national
CCF organization, and others had long applied Christian principles to solving society’s problems.
Social Gospel influenced the Progressive Party in the 1920s, and when the Progressives faded,
many idealists looked for a new political party which would apply Christian principles to everyday
life. Yet, while the CCF did not turn against Christianity and continued to advocate some Christian
ideals, its socialism incorporated various secular influences. It became the political party for many
radicalized workers who experienced defeat at the hands of big business after World War I and
who again suffered economic hardship during the Great Depression. These workers introduced
views which came from a variety of European socialist movements. The CCF also accepted ideas
from the League for Social Reconstruction and its eastern Canadian intellectuals who drew up the
Regina Manifesto for the new party in 1933. As a result, the CCF moved far beyond advocating
the limited social reforms of its predecessors in the Social Gospel and Progressive movements.
The Regina Manifesto, which for a time formed the official ideologicél basis for the CCF, said “No
C.C.F. Government will rest content until it has eradicated capitalism and put into operation the
full programme of socialized planning which will lead to the establishment in Canada of the Co-
operative Commonwealth.” Although such statements made the new party an easy target for
critics, it believed in the perfectibility of mankind and that it had the right answers to society’s
problems.?

Many observers accurately see only a mild and very limited socialism in the twenty-year
record of CCF government in southern Saskatchewan. The CCF, following unsuccessful elections
in the 1930s, backed away from its more radical pronouncements and policies to attract a broader

base of support. By 1944 it appeared as a social reform party. While the CCF originally wanted
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to nationalize farmland, it abandoned this policy in the 1930s. It then restricted its plans for social
ownership to taking over financial institutions, public utilities, and some natural resources.
Farmers who did not support the earlier, more radical CCF policies, which threatened their survival
as independent farmers, liked and came to trust the new CCF platform which offered to protect
them and give them higher wheat prices. By voting for the CCF, Saskatchewan electors did not
necessarily vote for socialism. Yet the CCF did not abandon all of its socialist inclinations even
in the South and adopted a cautious evolutionary approach, which, by 1964, moved Saskatchewan
towards becoming a “welfare state.””

The CCF did try a limited socialization of the southern economy after their election
victory. Itacted quickly, passing the Crown Corporations Act of 1945 which authorized industrial
and commercial enterprises. The new initiatives fell under Joe Phelps and his department, the
renamed Department of Natural Resources and Industrial Development, a name which reflected
its new mandate. Phelps, the dreamer, likely had the biggest job in the government, with
responsibility for industry, natural resources, and for remaking the electrical supply system.*
While Douglas wanted to limit public owneréhip to monopolistic industries, Phelps went much
further, taking ownership of many non-monopolistic industries.’ Wanting to diversify the economy
and produce a broader range of products locally, the CCF tried Import Substitution
Industrialization (ISI). Douglas hoped to build a non-agricultural economy and use the profits to
pay for social programs.® By 1948, the CCF set up more than twelve crown corporations. They
operated buses, made bricks, tanned hides, cobbled shoes, processed wool, built boxes, refined salt,
and slaughtered horses.

Since the CCF lacked business competence, all of the state ISI efforts folded, resulting in
a loss of face and money. The plan for economic diversification also failed with the CCF retreat
from extensive state ownership and private enterprise’s hesitancy to invest in a “socialist”
province.” Douglas later acknowledged that government expansion into artificially created
secondary industry did not work, blaming failure on the small market. He regretted some of the
early experiments with crown corporations. “We did too much in the first four years,” he said,
“and we unsettled a lot of people by trying to bring about a social revolution in almost every aspect
of human life, instead of tackling two or three fields, and bringing people to this gradually.”® The
CCF moved even farther from radical socialism in southern Saskatchewan. Phelps’ failure to win
reelection in 1948, resistance from ordinary people and capital to socialism, and the Cold War all
added to the “siege mentality” which developed in the CCF.? In 1948, Douglas and others

“pledged fair play, assistance, and the assurance of no expropriation to private enterprise.”'® The
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CCF did implement many relatively non-controversial aspects of its platform in the South. Largely
thanks to the Canadian economic upturn of the 1950s, it initiated medicare, new labour legislation,
rural electrification, telephone expansion, highway construction, and educational improvements. !
Crown corporations, meanwhile, continued in safer enterprises, including in the monopolies of
power, gas, and telephone. Provincially as well as nationally, the CCF continued to move away
from a hard socialist line, without completely relinquishing its image as a socialist party.

A very different situation existed in the North than in the South. The charm of Douglas
and the CCF failed to sweep the North in 1944. Had the rest of the province voted as did the
North, the CCF would not have won their landslide victory. Additionally, northern voters did not
give the CCF a mandate to impose its programs on the North. The CCF garnered only 7.4% of the
vote in Athabasca constituency, compared to 80.7% for the Liberals, while Cumberland
constituency voted 58.7% for the CCF, compared to 39.7% for the Liberals.'>? CCF support in the
North came disproportionately from white residents since Treaty Indians could not vote. Had
Indians voted, quite likely the Liberals would also have won in Cumberland. Many Indians
followed the Roman Catholic church, which supported the Liberal party. Throughout the CCF era,
northern voters demonstrated their resistance to key CCF policies for the North through opposition
on election day.” Appendix F contains details of the northern electoral record.

The North also had a distinct earlier history from that of the South. When the CCF turned
its attention to the North in 1944, in a sense white residents of southern Saskatchewan revisited
some largely-forgotten roots. The Euro-Canadian presence in Saskatchewan and western Canada
had northern beginnings. Hardy white traders and explorers used natural water routes to visit the
area which now forms northern Saskatchewan long before interest grew in settling the southern
prairie. Aboriginal people had lived in the hospitable bush for millennia, and the furs they trapped
became the first major northern attraction for white people. The fur trade founded Cumberland
House as the first permanent trading post in the area in 1774. By 1800, fur trading companies
strategically placed numerous trading posts on the maze of northern inland waterways. The
Saskatchewan River provided access to the south-eastern area of the North and to the Sturgeon
Weir River, which led to the Churchill River. It spanned the province from east to west. From
near the western end of the Churchill system, Aboriginals and traders crossed the Methye Portage
into the Clearwater River and the Mackenzie River watershed which flowed to the Arctic Ocean.
Aboriginals provided much of the labour for the trade, trapping furs and supplying traders with
food from the land. Many white men took Aboriginal wives, which led to a substantial mixed-

blood population in the area. Adding to the white presence, the Roman Catholic and Anglican
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churches established missions in the North by the 1840s.

Prime Minister John A. Macdonald’s vision for Canada led to the building of a
transcontinental railroad in the 1880s and the influx of tens of thousands of white settlers who
ploughed the southern prairie and parkland area. The growth of agriculture in the South took
attention away from the North, and the fur trade declined in relative importance to the economy
of western Canada. After Confederation, the North comprised part of the North-West Territories
until it became part of Saskatchewan with the creation of the province in 1905. Government placed
the northern boundary of Saskatchewan at the 60% parallel, optimistically and unrealistically
believing this to be the northern limit of agriculture. Partnering the North with the southern
farming area appeared illogical from the northern point of view, since in reality the two areas held
little in common. Yet creation of the province had little immediate effect on northerners,
particularly because the federal government maintained control over crown land and resources until
1930, when it transferred these to the province. Although most southerners seemed oblivious to
the existence of the North, some exceptions developed. Large lumber companies cut accessible
trees and some mining companies developed ore bodies. Wanting to confirm the agricultural
potential of the North, government sponsored expeditions, including that of Frank Crean in 1908
and 1909, to explore the region. The city of Prince Albert, while outside the North, viewed its
proximity to the North as a key to prosperity. It led various futile efforts for northern development.
Prince Albert National Park, established in 1927, became one of a few successful major
developments, creating a substantial tourism presence in the near North.'* Many young, white
males also ventured north in the years before 1940 seeking the riches of fish and fur while escaping
the ravages of the southern drought.

Prior to 1944, the Hudson’s Bay Company and other traders exerted benevolent control
in the North. The Roman Catholic and Anglican churches also played major roles in caring for
northerners. Over many decades, these outside forces helped shape a workable economic and
social system. The traders used a credit system to carry northerners through hard times, and the
churches established hospitals and schools. Sometimes government reimbursed the traders and
churches for their efforts. Neither the federal nor provincial government offered extensive welfare,
health care, or education services in the North. Few bureaucrats ventured north, leaving the area
unregulated and northerners doing much as they pleased. Even after Saskatchewan gained control
over northern crown lands in 1930, southern politicians, distracted by the Depression and World
War II, largely ignored the North. It was not until the election of the CCF that government turned

its attention northwards. The CCF found an undeveloped, isolated North, with no roads or railways
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entering it.

Since 1905, northern Saskatchewan had formed a distinct geographic region of the
province. Travellers immediately knew when they reached the North--the prairie grain fields
disappeared and trees and lakes dominated the landscape. Yet farther north, rock outcrops became
common. As Joe Phelps once said, it was “another country altogether.”"® Northern Saskatchewan
includes about one-half of the province. Its definition has varied over time and for various
purposes, although all definitions use the sixtieth parallel, the line which divides Saskatchewan
from the Northwest Territories, as the northern boundary, and the Manitoba and Alberta borders
as the eastern and western boundaries. The southern boundary is less certain, since governments
have drawn and redrawn this line for various purposes. Different lines delineate the southern edge
of Census Division 18 and federal constituency boundaries for Ottawa. The provincial definition
of the North has a more complicated history. During most of the CCF era, a Northern
Administration District (NAD) defined the North for natural resources administration. The NAD
extended farther south in the east than in the west. On the east side it included Cumberland House,
while on the west side it stopped north of Meadow Lake. The line of agricultural settlement in the
province followed a similar pattern, although in a line sornewhat south of the NAD boundary. The
CCF also defined the North differently for education, health, and electoral purposes. For most
purposes, this study follows the NAD definition of the North.

The drawing of lines on the map divided northern Saskatchewan from Manitoba, Alberta,
and the NWT, breaking a natural region into a number of powerless pieces. These areas shared
a geographic, cultural, economic, and historic unity which political division disrupted. Splitting
the North into many pieces helped create northern colonies of the South, colonies which lacked
power and control.'® The location of the provincial boundaries lacked rationality from the point
of view of the interests of northern Saskatchewan. Yet these borders helped define reality for
northerners.

Various areas of northern Saskatchewan also had little contact with each other during the
CCF era. The west side area, extending from Beauval to La Loche, remained distinct. On the
opposite side of the province, Cumberland House and the Saskatchewan River delta formed a
separate area. La Ronge, located midway between Alberta and Manitoba, served as the CCF
governmental centre within the North. In the fér North, near the north shore of Lake Athabasca,
Uranium City grew as a white mining community. The North also contained the mainly white
communities of Island Falls and Creighton. Aboriginals greatly outnumbered whites in nearly all

other settlements.
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Although the existing northern economic and social system seemed to work for
northerners, the election of the CCF speeded change and brought largely unexpected consequences
to the North. The CCF turned northern development in directions it would not otherwise have
taken, using ideologically-based planning and highly controlled programs. To bring rational
planning to government, Douglas and the CCF relied on various sources for advice. Early advisors
included the Economic Advisory Committee comprised of “three ideologically sympathetic”
University of Saskatchewan (U of S) faculty members, a Legislative Advisory Committee, and
Carlyle King, the provincial CCF president and a U of S professor of English. It established the
Economic Advisory and Planning Board (EAPB) on January 1, 1946 as its main economic planning
mechanism. The EAPB also co-ordinated most government enterprises. In addition to its chairman
George Cadbury, the EAPB included the maverick Minister of DNR Joe Phelps, other members,
and nine professional staff. The EAPB proved more conservative than Phelps, moving away from
instituting socialism in the South, although it supported Phelps’ aggressive plans and actions in the
North. In 1947, one section of the EAPB became a crown corporation, the Government Finance
Office (GFO), a holding company for crown corporations. Chairman Cadbury held a lot of power
as he also managed the GFO and acted as the Chief Industrial Officer. The CCF established
Budget Bureau in 1946. It examined spending proposals before they reached Treasury Board and
had the task of connecting budget making and program evaluation with a view to the longer term."”
Budget Bureau had a profound effect on northern developments, often controlling the purse strings.
The CCF continued to value rational planning throughout its time in office, although it made some
changes to how it did this. It decentralized research and planning by the early 1950s, delegating
some research and planning to individual departments. In theory, this made the entire system of
government a planning instrument.'® The CCF passed much of northern planning to DNR, and by
1951 DNR had a Planning Division, staffed largely by geographers.'

The CCF confidently relied on its own planning expertise, proceeding without much public
consultation. Yet the highly-touted group of planners included few with successful business
experience and some lacked the credentials to plan and run crown corporations and the economy.
While crown corporations played a large role in carrying out CCF plans for the North, the CCF did
not hold public inquiries into most of its new enterprises. Not even the Legislature debated the
corporations before their creation. The CCF deflected criticisms by having a Crown Corporations
Committee deal with questions about the corporations after 1949.%°

While southern voters and failed experiments limited the radicalism of the CCF in the

South, CCF planners operated with many fewer restraints in the North. Although lacking northern
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support, the CCF had a number of reasons for including the North in its energetic and optimistic
efforts to remake Saskatchewan. The dust storms and collapsed world wheat market which
characterized the agricultural disaster of the 1930s had shown the folly of nearly complete
dependence on agriculture. Along with a new southern program of Import Substitution
Industrialization (ISI), which aimed to have locally manufactured products replace imports, the
North offered hope for provincial economic diversification. The CCF only had to tap the North’s
mineral, timber, and other resource riches. The CCF confidently expected northern riches would
help lift the province to a life of prosperity and justice for all within a new prairie utopia.

In contrast to the previous Liberal administration, which had lacked a strong vision for the
North and seemed content to allow the status quo to continue there, the CCF wanted to bring
change to the region. The new government sought to modernize and socialize the North, believing
that modernization and socialism would liberate northerners. To have an un-modern society
dominated by fur traders and churches continue under its jurisdiction seemed intolerable to the
party. Even though the traders and priests provided stable leadership, Douglas and Joe Phelps
condemned this antiquated system. The CCF viewed the HBC as the worst villain, thinking it
controlled Aboriginals through a Canadian version of the third world’s debt peonage system. The
new government did not oppose personal religion, but wanted to separate the functions of church
and state, secularize northern systems, and remove the Anglican and Roman Catholic presence in
education, health care, and community leadership. Phelps saw a “pretty grim” situation and
described most parish priests as fighting the government.! The CCF judged northern society as
problematic, with little worth salvaging. It simultaneously wanted to wipe out the old and build
a new socialist society there, in which content Aboriginal inhabitants would follow a perceived
natural proclivity to share and work co-operatively, once free from the depradations of capitalists.
Demonstrating great confidence in its plans for the North, the CCF sought to apply its wisdom to
all nooks and crannies of the northern area. The party refused to tolerate the continuance of
unregulated industries and areas and used its rapidly expanded bureaucracy to impose regulation
and control.

The CCF set out to bring the North into the twentieth century and build there a socialist
society and economy to replace what it saw as a problematic capitalist system. The party believed
that intelligent and rational planning could solve northern problems. It thought that socialism and
social engineering offered solutions to society’s problems and that it could rationally design anew
and better northern society to replace the haphazard one which had grown up over the centuries.

Government would take Aboriginals from the land and move them to settlements; schools would
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educate them; hospitals, nurses, and air ambulances would lower child mortality and lengthen lives;
and roads, regular airline flights, and radio communications would bring the North into the
provincial system. CCF plans for trapping, commercial fishing, and forestry included creating
crown corporations and marketing boards and ejecting entrepreneurs whom it thought made huge
profits from the resources. Mineral riches, buried in the rocky Precambrian Shield, would help free
the provincial economy from its dependence on farming. The CCF would return profits to the
people and the province.

While the socialism applied by the CCF in the North had ideological impurities, it had
many socialist characteristics. The CCF primarily imposed an economic socialism which increased
government ownership and control over northern land and resources. The CCF did not need to
nationalize northern land to control it, since the province received nearly all of it as crown land
from Ottawa in 1930. The CCF added strict control over the use of various resources, imposing
a level of state control much greater than in the South. Prior to 1944, the Liberal government
allowed some transfer of resources, including land, trees, minerals, furs, and fish, to private hands.
The CCF withdrew the rights of private parties to extract, own, and sell most resources, reclaiming
them for the “people of Saskatchewan” in a heavy-handed, authoritarian manner. CCF socialist
economic policies had a powerful effect and transformed reality for most northerners. Joe Phelps
wrote about a coming gradual transition “to social ownership in the industrial development of our
Natural Resources.” He hoped for eventual “complete social ownership and management of key
industries in the development of our resources.”? Although he served in government for only four
years, Phelps introduced the most aggressive CCF socialist policies and set long-lasting directions
in the North.

The CCF took steps to see that the entire province would share northern resource revenue,
yet, contradictorily, it refused to equally share provincial wealth with northerners. This occurred
for several reasons. The CCF strongly feared that northern Aboriginals would take advantage of
generous social programs and become lazy; in a sense then, the CCF limited benefits to northerners
for their own good. Secondly, the CCF simply ignored northern needs, knowingly permitting the
continuance of third world-like conditions in the northern half of the province. The CCF
consequently applied a weaker non-economic socialism in the North than in the South, which
received many more benefits from social and health programs.

Crown corporations and co-operatives played instrumental roles in implementing the CCF
northern socialist projects. The party believed that northern resources, unlike many southern

resources, belonged to everyone and that private trappers, fishers, loggers, and miners had, as Joe

-20-



Phelps said, “taken millions of dollars out of our province as a result of planless ravaging.” The
CCF created crown corporations and marketing boards to handle fish and fur and took full
ownership of crown land forest products. It thought that revenues from government enterprises
would improve the lives of northerners and that taking economic opportunities from outsiders and
giving them to local groups would improve the lives of fishers, trapperé, and loggers. The CCF
blamed private capital for underdevelopment and expected its actions to increase development.?

While it continued northern crown corporations, the CCF shifted its emphasis to creating
co-operatives during the 1950s. These met CCF goals since they excluded private capital and
encouraged community ownership of assets. The CCF also saw co-operatives as a way of reducing
costs and increasing incomes for northerners. In a move which helped advance northern co-
operative development, the CCF removed co-operative affairs from the Department of Agriculture
and created the Department of Co-operation and Co-operative Development with Lauchlon
McIntosh as Minister. In 1949, Douglas gave up his cabinet post in Public Health and took
responsibility for Co-operation, which involved him more in northern matters. He strongly favored
co-operatives, viewing them as “the most important form of social ownership.”* Faced with weak
northern interest, both DNR and the Department of Co-operation found it a difficult challenge to
establish northern co-ops.

Under the CCF, and much more so than before, northern Saskatchewan was very much a
colony of the South. A southern planning apparatus and a substantially expanded administrative
system designed and carried out CCF plans for the North. The Department of Natural Resources
became the key agency to apply programs there. Other departments also helped, and bureaucrats
from many departments visited the North. The CCF’s top-down system in many respects
resembled colonial rule in various third world countries. This far-reaching northern colonial
system continued until the end of the CCF time in office, even though CCF policies evolved to later
include an emphasis on community development and co-operative programs. Colonial methods
served to apply the CCF program of directed change to northerners and extract wealth from the
North for the benefit of the South. While the primary CCF goals for northern Aboriginals were
modernization, assimilation, and socialization, colonialism served as the method to reach these
goals.

The CCF was not alone in Canada in creating a colonial system, although no other
Jurisdiction sought to impose socialism as did the CCF in Saskatchewan. In some respects a
colonial or neo-colonial situation existed throughout other provincial norths and in the NWT.

Colonialism grew at various rates, increasing greatly in some areas during and after World War
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IT when capital and workers moved north to extract resources. A dual economy and society
resulted, with the original inhabitants subordinate to the newcomers and with the older economy
and society hurt by the new. The fragmenting of the Canadian North by provincial and territorial
borders added to the colonial status in northern Saskatchewan and elsewhere, since it broke a
natural region into pieces and tied northern provincial areas to more populous and powerful
southern areas. Various efforts made over the years to unify the different jurisdictions included
those by Lew Parres, a Flin Flon mining engineer, and Richard Rohmer, who developed the idea
of a Mid-Canada Corridor. These attempts failed and the colonial situation continued.”

For the CCF era, the term “colonialism” fits northern Saskatchewan better than does “neo-
colonialism” because of the low level of private capital investment. The lack of class stratification
among the Aboriginal population, the dearth of development, and the CCF opposition to monopoly
capitalism also confirm the existence of colonialism rather than neo-colonialism.?® Developments
in the Creighton area and at Uranium City appear more neo-colonial, since outside capital
dominated there. For most areas though, “colonial” describes the situation more accurately than
does “neo-colonial.” The colonial situation existed at several levels in the North. Both whites and
Aboriginals suffered under the structure which gave the North little power and placed it under
southern control. Another level saw non-Aboriginals colonize the Aboriginal population.?’

Contradictorily, while the CCF wanted to assimilate Aboriginals, it designed and
perpetuated a colonial system of two economies and societies. This included a newly-created,
separate Aboriginal economy and society. Phelps and others in the CCF visualized happy, sober,
educated, healthy, hard-working, and co-operatively minded Aboriginals living in orderly
settlements, while participating in what the CCF viewed as “traditional” economic pursuits. The
CCF accepted the myth that Aboriginals had a natural aptitude for trapping and fishing, while
thinking they lacked the aptitude to participate in non-traditional industrial activities such as
mining and forestry.?®

Typical of a colonial situation, the CCF did not want or rely on local input. J. H.
Brockelbank, Phelps’ successor as DNR Minister, said “how would you get a change in the North
except suggestions coming from the top?” He viewed natives as quite undemanding and as making
only simple requests.” DNR’s Deputy Minister J. W. Churchman admitted that in the early CCF
era “in many instances things were done in a dictatorial manner.”*® Morris Shumiatcher, Douglas’
assistant, depicted the northern Indians’ “way of life” as “unacceptable” to CCF doctrines. “The
lack of organization and the dearth of planning ran counter to the socialist ideal of what was best

for the native,” he said. “The C.C.F. assembled a vast clutch of administrators who undertook to
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change the habits of the native in the North to accord more perfectly with their own theories of
social justice.””"!

Some see the CCF’s increasing promotion of community development in its later years as
a move away from colonialism. P. M. Worsley described the CCF as “a government which is
favourable disposed to assisting the process of decolonization.” In 1964 he claimed that the
provincial government “with a markedly co-operative ethos, and a strong belief in popular
participation in ‘devolved’ government, is engaged in decolonizing the province’s undeveloped
north.”* Worsley and the Center for Community Studies failed to identify the role played by the
CCF in perpetuating the northern colonial system. They also did not recognize the colonial nature
of the so-called tools of decolonization, including the forced promotion of co-operatives and
community development used by the CCF. o

During its twenty years in office, the CCF implemented various aggressive projects to
achieve its goals for the North. In 1944, the North stood at a crossroads, faced with inevitable
modernization and change. The CCF held the authority and power to decide the nature of much of
this change and did not hesitate to quickly establish a firm direction for the North. In a multi-
faceted initiative, it set out to build a northern socialist society and economy to replace the long-
standing capitalist system. In doing so, the CCF showed its true face much more than in the South.
The new North visualized by the dreamers in Regina would also provide a modern environment
for an assimilated, prosperous, healthy, and educated Aboriginal population. In addition, the North
would play a major role in bringing prosperity to the entire province. The CCF confidently thought
it could achieve these goals. While northerners did not share the vision, the CCF believed that it
knew best.

In order to successfully introduce its plans to the North, the CCF needed to create an
administrative structure and hire devoted people who agreed with its goals and methods. Failure
to skilfully do so would jeopardize CCF plans for the North and the economic future of the
province. Was Douglas and his colleagues’ faith in their ability to rationally plan a new

administrative system justified?
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Chapter Two

FROM THE TOP

In order to introduce its ambitious plans to the North, the CCF created a colonial
administrative structure. While its primary northern agency, the Department of Natural Resources,
also operated in the southern part of the province, the CCF gave DNR numerous special and greater
powers to carry out its northern work. The CCF created a Northern Administration District which
covered the northem half of the province. There, DNR and other government departments applied
various programs, many of which the CCF designed especially for the North. The geographical
isolation of the North and the application of special CCF programs there made CCF efforts
resemble a large laboratory experiment. This analogy applies in so far as the CCF efforts broke
new ground, since no government in Canada had ever tried to simultaneously introduce
modernization, assimilation, and socialism to a large Aboriginal population. The CCF also
invented and designed many of the methods it used in the North. Yet, unlike some who exercise
great caution and skepticism when exploring uncharted ground, the CCF approached this project
with immense confidence and did not admit the possibility of failure.

The CCF had no northerners in its caucus in 1944 from whom to obtain advice about
northern matters. J. L. Phelps, a Wilkie area farmer who represented the Saltcoats constituency
in east-central Saskatchewan, became the key person to bring change to the North during the early
CCF era. The mark of his efforts remained long after he left government, even after CCF fervour
for northern reform faded. Phelps, an ardent socialist, aggressively introduced socialism to the
North, while continuing his own entrepreneurial farming enterprise. Phelps was not a Marxist,
differentiating him from some who came to work for him. Yet he described the result of the CCF
coming to power as a “real revolution.” Phelps’ brand of socialism came from the southern
Saskatchewan farm tradition which viewed large private monopolies, including the CPR and
elevator companies, as the worst of capitalist villains. In the North, the HBC became Phelps’
primary capitalist target, although he extended his attack on northern capitalism to even some very
small enterprises. Phelps’ socialism justified his northern actions, actions which spoke of an

immense self-assurance even in things he knew little about.
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Phelps only reluctantly took the job of Minister of Natural Resources and Industrial
Development, the CCF’s most powerful northern position. He preferred the other job he received,
that of overseeing the Power Commission and the electrification of southern Saskatchewan. Phelps
had never visited northern Saskatchewan until after the 1944 election. He and his wife then flew
to various parts of the North in DNR’s only plane, piloted by Floyd Glass. Phelps saw the North
as a vast new frontier, similar to space. His visit to the North seemed to kindle a passion in Phelps
to bring change to the North. With his characteristic vigour, he created a northern colonial system
to introduce the CCF agenda there. Phelps did not waste time studying the North. Instead, he
rapidly decided that unregulated white fish and fur dealers, bootleggers, and the church had caused
many northern problems. Phelps quickly made three trips north by September 1944 to meet with
people about fur, fishing, and forestry. He often took the midnight train from Regina to Prince
Albert, which the CCF made its centre for much of the northern work."

Phelps and his cohorts hastily developed new policies and a structure largely separate from
that in the South to introduce the CCF’s plans for northerners. Douglas and cabinet generally
supported Phelps’ fur, fish, timber, and other northern initiatives. They also gave him a lot of free
rein. Several reasons explain Phelps’ unusual freedom to act in the North. Possibly most
importantly, the CCF accepted the view that the northern society was not worth preserving.
Wiping it out would leave a clean slate on which to build a better society.” Additionally, many
southern politicians knew or cared little about the North and let Phelps do as he pleased there as
long as his actions did not create problems for them. Phelps also liked to act independently,
without bothering with prior approval from cabinet. This left the CCF with little choice but to
support his actions.

Motivation for Phelps’ aggressive actions in the North had several sources. He easily
substituted the HBC and other northern villains for the CPR and other traditional enemies of prairie
farmers whom he fought in the South. This gave his northern campaign a mission-like zeal.
Additionally, Phelps typically tackled any project he deemed worthwhile with an all-out effort,
trampling all opposition. Phelps disliked even the loose controls imposed by cabinet, bureaucrats,
and budgets and often would not accept “no” as an answer. Phelps said cabinet thought “I did too
many damn things,” and did not see the same urgency that he did. His energetic, unconventional
style caused problems. His successor, J. H. Brockelbank, claimed that Phelps made people mad,
even when he did good things. In 1946 the Saskatoon Star-Phoenix possibly expressed the
concerns of many when it said “the blithe way in which the minister (Phelps) stacks one good

intention on top of another to build his pretty dream castles would be amusing if it were not for the
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fact that he is a responsible minister and not merely an idle dreamer.” The article described Phelps
as having “undisputed nuisance value” while in the opposition, but thought he lacked “hard,
shrewd common sense” once in power. Phelps became so animated at times, with his arms flying,
that one reporter expected him to ““take off like a whip-lashed aeroplane.’” Tommy Douglas had
his own analogy for Phelps, describing him as a “steam engine in pants.” Phelps’ style alienated
political colleagues including T. C. Davis, the former Liberal attorney general, who suggested that
Phelps’ head should be put over the speaker’s chair once he died. Davis also suggested slitting
Phelps’ throat. Many within the CCF may have wished they had taken Davis’ advice, particularly
when Phelps’ actions dragged the CCF into controversies.> This fiercely determined man set out
to remake the North and the lives of its residents. He practically dismantled the existing economy
and society over four years.

Phelps’ decisiveness extended to selecting staff to implement his ideas. He refused to
tolerate those who did not agree with him or work as he wanted, and he disposed of many staff.
His concern about the quality of the civil service extended beyond DNR. While he identified and
tended to dismiss “loafers,” others in the CCF safeguarded most jobs. Phelps did manage to fire
fifteen workers, including some senior employees.* He had trouble filling the critical position of
deputy minister of DNR. After several quick changes, Vern Hogg, who agreed with Phelps’
socialist ideas and in whom Phelps showed vast confidence, took over as deputy minister in 1946.°

Consistent with the establishment of a separate administration for the North, DNR took
over the hiring of northern staff from the public service. Phelps hired CCF supporters to fill both
high and low northern positions since only by having ideologically sympathetic persons administer
policies could the CCF hope to successfully introduce its plans to northerners. The CCF also
expected some whom it hired to work for the party when elections came along. Some CCF
supporters, including at La Ronge and Cumberland House, asked for employment, expecting
special consideration because of their political affiliation.5

Phelps apparently considered known Marxists as ideologically suited to apply his plans
to the North. He hired the Metis Albertans Jim Brady and Malcolm Norris who openly espoused
their more radical beliefs. Norris, one of the most influential Aboriginals to work for the CCF,
came to Saskatchewan in 1946 from Alberta, where he and Brady had worked to organize fish co-
operatives and the Metis Association of Alberta. Norris also held the position of president of the
Metis Association and helped organize the Indian Association of Alberta. Norris held various jobs
with the CCF, including DNR officer, researcher, advisor, promoter of mineral prospecting, and

liaison between government and Aboriginals. Norris supported Phelps’ interventions in the fur,
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fish, and timber industries and in developing marketing boards. Yet Norris also showed a loyalty
to and understanding of Aboriginals. When people spoke of the “Indian problem,” Norris told
them that the white man, who did not understand, had the problem. He also worked as an organizer
for the Saskatchewan Metis Society and the Union of Saskatchewan Indians. Although a CCF
member, Norris took a position to the left of the CCF, joining the communist Labor Progressive
Party (LPP) in 1957. He remained with the civil service until the end of the CCF time in office in
1964.7

Jim Brady, likely more radical than Norris, also had helped organize the Alberta Metis.
While he was a member of the CCF, Brady joined the LPP in 1947. He did not participate greatly
in the LPP after 1953, possibly because of the party’s lack of interest in helping with his northern
activism. Brady also moved away from the CCF, not renewing his membership. This possibly
occurred because the CCF overruled the nomination of A. Quandt, a friend of Brady’s, as the CCF
candidate in La Ronge in 1952. Brady held several positions under the CCF. He managed the
Saskatchewan Government Trading post at Deschambault Lake and worked as a DNR officer at
Cumberland House. His work went far beyond that of most DNR officers, since he helped
establish a fishermen’s co-operative, the first northern wood producers’ co-operative, and a credit
union. He also held classes for adults, began a village council, and put out a community
newsletter.® Murray Dobbin, Brady and Norris’ biographer, claims the CCF forced Brady to resign
after Phelps’ defeat, as part of the CCF move away from radicalism. This explanation does not
make sense, since DNR thought highly of Brady, even after Phelps left. In 1949 it rated him as
“clearly superior in his position, very dependable,” and the Public Service Commission approved
his permanent appointment. It seems that Brady quit rather than accept a transfer to the remote far
northern Goldfields District. DNR wanted to transfer him because of rumours that Brady had
fathered children by two women at Cumberland House. Brady moved to La Ronge, although his
ties with Cumberland House continued. Further difficulties resulted in 1952 when a Cumberland
House woman pursued him for child support for another recently-born child.® Brady spent most
of his remaining years in the La Ronge area, where his reputation as a womanizer grew. He also
organized area Metis, gained local renown for his large library, did some writing, and had people
turn to him for loans of money. He briefly returned to work for the CCF, joining his friend
Malcolm at Mineral Resources. His travels in 1960 to promote Aboriginal prospecting met with
little success. By 1963, Brady drank too much and appeared defeated.'® While working on mineral
exploration in the Foster Lakes area in 1967, he and another man disappeared. Local people

speculate that they met with foul play. While the police laid no charges, rumour blames his death
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on the son of a woman Brady allegedly had an affair with."

A. K. Quandt, another idealist, also went to work in the North for Phelps. By 1947 Quandt
became the field supervisor and assistant superintendent for DNR’s Northern District. A strong
believer in socialism, Quandt approved of CCF plans and expected to see a “a really progressive
programme” which would help humanity and produce great wealth. Quandt did not remain long
with DNR, leaving soon after Phelps left. He took up permanent residence in La Ronge, from
where he and others in the local CCF Club acted as a perennial radical thorn in the CCF body.'

Other CCF adherents and sympathizers held high offices within DNR and other
departments. These included F. Glass, Northern District Superintendent and head of Saskatchewan
Government Airways, and J. J. Wheaton and C. L. MacLean, Northern Administrators. Still late
in its mandate, the CCF hired ideologically sympathetic persons for top jobs. A. H. MacDonald,
a man with a strong commitment to socialism, became Director of Northern Affairs. Some
employees proved only luke-warm supporters of the CCF. Glass, for example, left and went into
direct competition with the CCF airline. Employees who filled the lower ranks showed varying
degrees of socialist fervour.

While Phelps wanted staff who agreed with his plans for the North, he interfered in petty
matters and lacked confidence in his staff’s judgement. This undermined morale and at times
created defiance. He required district superintendents to submit monthly reports including details
of daily activities. If reports did not arrive on time, Phelps chastised the superintendents. He
expected Adam Cook, head of the Fur Marketing Branch, to submit reports of the past week’s
activities and his plans for the coming week. Phelps told Northern Administrator J. J. Wheaton
to watch travel expenses, and questioned whether another employee needed to accompany
Wheaton on a northern flight. Phelps once criticized a DNR officer for charging fifty cents for
lodging and thirty-five cents for meals when away on government business. He also refused to
give female office employees, whom he referred to as “the girls,” much responsibility.”* Working
for Phelps was likely not easy.

The Saltcoats voters rejected Phelps in 1948. It seems they felt neglected, since he spent
little time in the constituency. His northern policies had also created controversy. Phelps said that
the Liberals hired a northern fisherman to spread exaggerated stories about how Phelps ruined the
North, although the man later felt remorse and admitted his actions. Patronage and suspected
corruption also likely added to Phelps’ defeat. He hired acquaintances, including his brother Don,
A. Quandt, and K. E. Dickson, the manager of the Beaver Lake Fish Plant. The opposition

discovered that Dickson came from Phelps’ home area. The legislature also heard that Phelps
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“stored” two nearly-new 1%; ton trucks at his farm, letting his neighbours rent them from the CCF.
While he claimed the government planned to dispose of the trucks anyway, the scandal hurt his
reputation.’* The CCF could have given Phelps another seat to run in but did not do so. And, when
seven DNR bureaucrats asked Douglas to give Phelps a position in DNR, Douglas did not reply.'

With Phelps’ defeat, much of the energy went out of the northern program. His successors
showed less interest in implementing innovative and radical policies in the North. Still, the CCF
continued with a separate administrative structure and policies for the North and did little to undo
Phelps’ work. J. H. Brockelbank, the Minister of Municipal Affairs from 1944 to 1948, became
the new Minister of Natural Resources. Brockelbank lacked Phelps’ impatience and desire for
quick change. Yet he also supported the CCF agenda of imposing socialism and modernization
in the North. His commitment to socialist solutions appeared strongly when he fought for the
survival of the controversial compulsory Fur Marketing System in the 1950s. Brockelbank used
a more orthodox “hands-off” style of running DNR, relying more on his staff. He liked to keep in
touch with the North though, and travelled around the area most autumns in a CCF plane. In 1956,
Brockelbank took over the new Department of Mineral Resources, also an important position to
the North. Alec Kuziak then became the Minister of Natural Resources. Kuziak distanced himself
more from involvement with the North than had his two predecessors. During his time as minister,
cabinet and other ministers increasingly shared responsibility for decisions affecting the North.'®
E. Kramer succeeded Kuziak as minister, holding the position until the CCF defeat in 1964.

Dobbin says that the CCF removed “radicals and native sympathizers” from positions of
influence in the North after Phelps left, leaving those who opposed Phelps’ reforms in control."
This claim appears an exaggeration, as Norris remained, Quandt left voluntarily in 1949, and Brady
also left willingly in 1951. The CCF did not undo its socialist economic reforms, and ideologically
sympathetic persons continued to oversee programs.

For its first years in power, the CCF handicapped its northern program by not passing
legislation which would have facilitated its effort to establish a separate government structure and
programs for the North. In an effort to overcome this deficit, the legislature passed the Northern
Administration Act, copied from the Local Improvement Districts Act of 1940. This took effect
on January 1, 1949. The CCF hoped that the new legislation would help co-ordinate northern
activities and guide northern development. Yet the act proved poorly designed. It did not define
northern problems or outline clear goals, and it failed to provide an adequate northern taxation
system. The act and the administrative structure proved unable to carry out CCF plans for the

North, adding to the CCF’s growing frustration over the intransigence of northern problems.
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Although Budget Bureau in 1951 questioned the suitability of the act, the CCF never did replace
it. Instead, severe administrative structural design problems continued, contributing to program
failures.'®

The CCF chose Prince Albert, located on the banks of the North Saskatchewan, as its main
administrative centre for the North, even though the small city fell outside the North by all
definitions. Prince Albert grew in stature, receiving the headquarters of various branches. DNR
placed its assistant deputy minister there by 1949 to direct and co-ordinate northern programs. It
alsoreceived DNR’s Northern Administrator, Northern District, Forest Fire Control, Construction,
and Communications offices, and the northern headquarters of Saskatchewan Government
Airways. A grand, new provincial office building opened there in 1948, in celebration of which
the Prince Albert Daily Herald ran a “Northland Progress Edition.” While describing La Ronge
as “becoming the base for remote development,” it said Prince Albert had “a new, greatly changed
and infinitely more important position . . . and plays a leading part in virtually everything
happening in the entire North.” It retained its position as a secondary centre to Regina for northern
activity throughout the CCF era, with high level DNR, Agriculture, Co-operative, Education, and
Social Welfare staff stationed there. Prince Albert also had most of DNR’s Planning and Research
Group, while Regina retained the top level program and policy design role. Conflict existed
between the two groups.'’

The CCF demonstrated its commitment to northern change by establishing a new
administrative structure within DNR to implement northern municipal, natural resource, and other
policies. For municipal administration purposes, the government had formerly designated the
North as Local Improvement District (LID) “A.” Government used LIDs in place of municipalities
in areas it thought not ready for full municipal government. The CCF did away with the LID
designation and created the Northern District of DNR by 1946 to handle municipal and other
matters there. Three pre-existing DNR districts, Meadow Lake, Prince Albert, and Hudson Bay,
continued, each also covering part of the northern area.”’ F. Glass held the position of Northern
District Superintendent.

The confusing administrative system created by the CCF in the North contradicts the CCF
self-image as skilled planners. Administrative structural flaws hurt the application of CCF
programs in the North for the entire CCF era. Even those working under the system could not
understand its logic or why the CCF did not design a workable system. Although it had already
created and staffed the new Northern District, the CCF added the Northern Administration Branch
(NAB) to DNR in 1947. The NAB had a separate staff from Northern District and operated within
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what became known as the Northern Administration District (NAD). The NAD covered all of the
Northern District area, plus an additional area to the south.

The CCF gave the NAB’s Northern Administrator most day-to-day power within the
northern DNR organization. J.J. Wheaton and his successors had broad municipal responsibilities,
including those normally held by a reeve and municipal council. The CCF also expected its
northern administrators to co-ordinate the activities of all departments and administer crown lands
and the Northern Administration Act. The men who held this position helped determine details
of CCF policy and how DNR staff introduced CCF projects to northerners. Wheaton left by about
1950, after which C. L. MaclLean held the position for a number of years, followed by C. S.
Brown.?!

For efficient administration, DNR needed only one structure in the North, operating within
the larger NAD boundaries. Instead, confusionreigned. After creating the NAD, the CCF seemed
unsure what to do with Northern District but refused to do away with it. It did not fill the Northern
District Superintendent position after Glass left, instead hiring Quandt to work as Assistant
Northern District Superintendent. He had little authority, and his work overlapped with that of the
NAB in many areas. DNR recognized the problems, and as a temporary fix, Wheaton supervised
Quandt by 1949. Appearing frustrated, Quandt resigned from DNR in 1949. Further
admunistrative confusion resulted from the CCF giving the Northern Executive Assistant the power
to supervise many of the DNR operations. Even employees found the system confusing. The fact
that the NAB and Northern District southern boundaries did not coincide added to the mayhem,
as Prince Albert, Meadow Lake, and Hudson Bay Districts handled some matters within the
NAD.? The Prince Albert District extended nearly as far north as La Ronge, and Meadow Lake
District reached even farther north in the western area. Northern District had eighteen sub-
districts, Prince Albert had sixteen, and Meadow Lake had eight, each supervised by conservation
officers.?

DNR’s Northern District continued, as did administrative discord. Boundary and
jurisdiction problems never disappeared under the CCF, since only minor alterations of the
southern boundaries took place. Other program boundaries also did not match with either the NAD
or the Northern District boundary, adding to the problems. The Northern Fur Region boundary
jogged crookedly across the North, Public Health used its own boundaries, and provincial electoral
boundaries frequently changed. Indian Affairs divided the North according to its whims, and
Census District 18 included all of the North along with some southern areas. The multiple and

overlapping divisions caused confusion and inefficient program delivery, a problem the CCF never

-32-



dealt with.

A major reorganization occurred in 1958, when the CCF appointed A. H. MacDonald as
Director of Northern Affairs, a new position which replaced that of Northern Administrator. This
move accompanied new CCF northern initiatives, including expanded community development and
social aid programs. The creation of the new organization continued the CCF policy of devoting
aseparate DNR structure to administer the North. MacDonald had charge of arevitalized Northern
Affairs Branch, and sensibly the CCF did away with the Northern District. Yet, confusion
continued as the new NAB boundaries appeared the same as the former Northern District, not
extending as far south as the southern boundary of the ongoing Northern Administration District.
The NAB had a west and east district, with a field supervisor in each. Cabinet also approved the
creation of the Advisory Committee on Northern Affairs, which included high officials from
various departments.* In a final reorganization just before leaving office, effective April 1, 1964
the CCF created separate resources and recreation branches, except in the North. There Northern
Affairs continued to hold responsibility for resources, recreation, municipal, welfare, housing, and
community development.?

In spite of the shortcomings of the Northern Administration Actand DNR’s organizational
structure, the act and DNR’s role as a co-ordinating agency created a single departmental presence
to a much greater extent in the North than in the South. This had potential advantages for
introducing the aggressive CCF program of change to the North, since DNR held most of the
responsibility for planning and implementation of plans. A major weakness resulted, though,
because the CCF expected DNR officers to administer a wide range of programs, even though they
lacked expertise in many of these areas. The Departments of Health and Education had stronger
separate northern programs than did most departments. Some increased their presence during the
CCF years. By 1959, the Department of Co-operation had five co-operative management advisors,
Public Health had about twelve professional positions, Education had an administrator and
assistant, Agriculture had an agricultural representative, and Social Welfare had a supervisor and

maybe one social worker.?®

The need for co-ordination of services increased as departments
expanded their staff.

Throughout its era, the CCF stressed co-ordinating northern programs to a far greater
extent than in southern Saskatchewan, both for administrative efficiency and because the CCF
agenda of directed change for the North requiréd a co-ordinated effort. The term “co-ordination,”
while sounding praiseworthy, carried a hidden meaning, since it meant a co-ordinated

implementation of the CCF program for the North. A lack of co-ordination within the colonial
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structure would compromise the CCF goals of imposing modernization, assimilation, and
socialism. Some thought that the CCF could best co-ordinate services by creating a single northern
agency, which would have powers yet greater than those the CCF gave to DNR. The radicals of
the La Ronge CCF Club and various CCF employees frequently discussed and promoted the idea
of a single agency.”’ ‘

The CCF perennially spoke of the need to improve co-ordination to have its program of
directed change succeed in the North. It established the Advisory Committee on Northern Co-
operative Education in 1952, which brought together people from various government
organizations. A larger step took place when cabinet created the Northern Advisory Committee
(NAC)in 1953 to examine northern problems, recommend actions, and co-ordinate programs. Yet,
the NAC lacked authority, and as the need for co-ordination increased it proved unfit for the task.?
The CCF depended heavily on DNR’s anthropologist Vic Valentine to improve co-ordination, and
he developed plans for unified action at the field level. However, Valentine left in 1957, and most
of his plans did not proceed.”” A strong call for co-ordination of services came in 1957 from J. A.
Collier, the CCF’s director of public relations, who denounced the conflicting northern empires
of various departments. Collier concluded that a single, new department should handle all northern
matters, with at least twice annual reviews to keep the “gentle sleep” from resuming.* In 1958 five
cabinet members, including Brockelbank and Kuziak, also wanted action to improve co-ordination.
This accompanied the revival of the Northern Affairs Branch and the appointment of MacDonald
as its director.’’ MacDonald soon pointed out that the new organization did not work. He lacked
the authority to co-ordinate activities.”> Cabinet finally approved the idea of a single agency in
1959, and Budget Bureau worked to find a suitable structure. Opposition soon arose in some
departments, and politicians turned against the idea, stopping its implementation. As the Center
for Community Studies pointed out in 1963, departments continuéd to work at cross-purposes,
hurting the application of CCF plans for the North. CCF inaction on improving co-ordination of
services continued. Its heir, the NDP, used the single agency idea to attract votes in the 1971
election and subsequently created the Department of Northern Saskatchewan.”> While the CCF
quite effectively attacked the northern status-quo, a lack of co-ordination compounded the
administrative inadequacies which handicapped its efforts to build a workable new system.
Legislative and administrative shortcomings demonstrate that the CCF overestimated its ability to
design and implement intelligent programs.

A large increase in staff was required for the CCF to apply its aggressive new plans and

extend control throughout the North. It found large areas where natural resources officers had
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never visited. Some companies who should have paid royalties apparently had not done so for
more than a decade. DNR rapidly expanded northern field staff to about six by late 1945. It
claimed to have most areas adequately staffed by 1948, with a total of eleven field officers, two
junior field officers, and three Fish Board post managers helping fill gaps. Yet hiring continued,
and by 1952 DNR had multiple staff at La Ronge, Cumberland House, and Flin Flon, while other
locations had one employee. DNR changed the designation “Field Officer” to “Conservation
Officer” (CO) by 1953.** Staff numbers grew until the NAB had thirty-five employees in 1962,
including seventeen COs. Prince Albert headquarters included a director, a supervisor of
community development, two field supervisors, and specialists in municipal services, housing, and
forestry.® Men held all top northern administrative posts during the CCF era, with the hi ghest jobs
occupied by women likely those of nursing supervisor and welfare supervisor.

At the field level, COs ran the system. They provided law and order, interpreted
conservation and other rules, administered municipal and social aid matters, acted as counsellors
and patrons, carried news, made medical decisions, promoted government policies, controlled tools
and equipment, regulated access to many jobs, and carried out many other tasks. They operated
with an appearance of great authority, an image reinforced by the use of police-like uniforms,
airplanes, and powerful cars. A Center for Community Studies report compared the COs to British
Colonial Service officers. According to the Center’s Peter Worsley, the CO, with southem
perspectives and an income much higher than that of most Aboriginals, appeared as a “local deity”
with a “trinitarian nature.” DNR dictated to the Metis much as Indian Affairs controlled Indians.
While people could appeal over the head of the CO to his superiors or to a politician, these actions
often proved futile, since the complaint often came back to the CO for his opinion. In addition,
local people lacked skill in making complaints.

Cumberland House, the site of many CCF pet projects, received an unusual number of
DNR employees. Prior to Officer J. Johnson moving there in 1945, the community had only one
permanent provincial employee, a nurse. By the end of 1945, DNR posted three staff there. It
added four more by 1948.>" On the other hand, DNR delayed in assigning officers to some areas.
Wollaston Lake still did not have an officer in 1953, though senior DNR officials “agreed that
practices in game, fur and fish in the Wollaston region are exceedingly bad.” Local hostility to
DNR attempts at imposing regulations made DNR reluctant to visit there. Wollaston’s low
population also did not justify placing a permanent officer there.*® DNR briefly had a headquarters
at Cree Lake, largely to inspect Waite Fisheries operations there. It ended this posting by 1953.%

Concerned about a continuing lack of supervision of northerners, DNR created the Game
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Management Officer position in the early 1950s. This increased CCF control and supervision over
trappers. DNR did away with most of these positions in 1956, when this work reverted to
conservation officers.** DNR also held responsibility for mineral resources work until the creation
of the Department of Mineral Resources in the mid 1950s relieved DNR of most of this work.*!

A large part of DNR’s work in the North involved enforcing law and order in the colonial
state. Officers often acted reasonably when enforcing fur, fish, and game laws. At other times,
they officiously applied the letter of the law to Aboriginal people who did not understand English
or the new laws. Morris Schumiatcher, T. C. Douglas’ assistant, later wrote “I never ceased to be
shocked by the unyielding attitude of that department in its enforcement of laws that ostensibly had
been passed as ameliorative measures to assist rather than to oppress those engaged in the fur
industry.”** The RCMP and voluntary Deputy Game Guardians also aided with enforcement of
the laws.

DNR engaged inrelatively few prosecutions. This suggests a high level of compliance by
northerners with conservation laws. Fourteen northern DNR employees only carried out thirty-
three game and fur prosecutions from 1951 to 1955, compared to 1,806 for the entire province. For
its part, the RCMP prosecuted only six game and fur cases in the Northern Region during the same
years. The pattern remained much the same for the next few years. Senior DNR officials
repeatedly urged officers to increase prosecutions. In 1955 E. L. Paynter, Game Commissioner,
denounced the attitude of DNR Officer R.Lockhart, who intended to overlook bush workers taking
deer without licences. Paynter pointed out that even DNR Surveys Branch could not take caribou
on the isolated boundary survey. The same year, A. T. Davidson, assistant deputy minister, made
an issue of the scant prosecutions. In defense of his staff, Northern Administrator C. S. Brown
pointed out that about one prosecution for every 1,430 persons occurred there per year, a level
higher than that of one for 6,300 for the rest of the province. Yetin é memo to his officers, Brown
then wrote “an occasional prosecution, however mild the punishment, has an educational and
beneficial influence.”*

While prosecutions were few, they often involved trivial offences. In 1952 DNR found
that a young Beauval area girl illegally sold moose meat for one dollar. Since her father had not
properly tagged the moose hide, also a minor offence, DNR preferred to prosecute him for that
instead.** In another case, DNR charged Ben Bradfield of Molanosa with unlawfully hunting and
killing big game without a permit. DNR confiscated four pounds of moose meat, which it
destroyed. The infraction cost Bradfield forty-nine dollars.* A now elderly Aboriginal woman

related how DNR officers prevented her parents from trapping in their customary fashion. On an
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autumn day, the couple travelled by canoe through their trapping area, hanging traps in trees near
where they planned to later place them once the season opened. Although the pair broke no laws,
DNR officers flying overhead landed. Likely not understanding the Cree-speaking couple’s
intentions, they confiscated the load of traps and laid charges.*

While DNR officers applied and enforced CCF policies at the field level, DNR also
employed other staff. Consistent with the CCF emphasis on expert planning, DNR relied heavily
on geographers to design and implement northern change. Over the years, many served in the
planning office and as administrators. DNR had five geographers on staff by 1954, with three
doing administration, one mapping, and one geographic research.’” DNR’s Construction Branch
also played a key role in CCF plans for the North. The CCF relied on this branch to provide much
of the infrastructure in its colonial world. As head of the branch, R. N. Gooding exercised great
power, overseeing the building of roads and airstrips, heavy trucking, providing heavy equipment
for fire fighting, and constructing buildings.*

The CCF considered it important to educate the northern public about its programs. For
this purpose, it created the Conservation Education Branch within DNR by 1953. This later
became the Conservation Information Service. It distributed information, handled press releases,
created the Northern News radio program, and worked with the public on conservation.*

In order to successfully apply its plans for the North, DNR needed to train its staff. It took
a major step towards improving northern staffing when it opened its Conservation Officers’
Training School in Prince Albert in 1953. Eleven graduated from the first class after about nine
months. DNR soon required trainees to spend time in the field before entering the training program
to allow advance assessment of their suitability. The training program continued in the 1960s. In
1960-1961 DNR chose twenty-five candidates from 220 applicants before reducing the number
further to fourteen after a two-month field proving period. All graduated from the six and one-half
month course, and DNR appointed four as conservation officers and ten as patrolman graduates.
DNR also trained new candidates as well as existing officers in anthropological matters and
community development techniques. DNR anthropologist Vic Valentine began this specialized
training in the mid 1950s. Later, the Center for Community Studies provided much of this
instruction.®

DNR wanted to keep its experienced staff for its northern program. Problems with staff
morale worked against this. Complaints from staff in 1956 included problems with housing,
transfers, and promotions. Assistant Deputy Minister Davidson blamed the grumbling partly on

supervisors, who had asked the men if they had complaints. He considered this “a dangerous
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technique” and wanted a “firmer approach.”' Morale seemed to worsen by the early 1960s, as
uncertainty increased, caused by repeated unsuccessful reorganizations and fruitless talk about a
single northern agency. Staff lost faith in the CCF planning expertise. In 1960 for example,
Malcoim Norris, after obtaining a copy of a proposed NAB reorganization, called those who would
fill higher positions “reactionary personnel” and field workers “dedicated fools.” He compared
it to “A Mexican Army arrayed with numerous Generals at the top with a meagre field force.”*
In 1962, Norris confided to Brady “Dept filled with personnel jealousies and rivalries. A most
unhappy state. . . . Hardly anybody can be trusted anymore.”**. Others also saw the problems. One
observer compared a northern posting to “banishment to Siberia” in terms of career effects. Some
employees also felt alienated because they did not have the skills DNR came to value. Higher
education and community development expertise increasingly mattered for career advancement.*

CCF northern staffing problems included a high rate of staff turnover and unsuitable
attitudes towards Aboriginal people. In 1955, Brockelbank wanted civil servants to remain in the
North for at least five years, considering one or two years insufficient to develop a “proper
perspective.””® Yet, in a typical situation, Public Health hired eighteen nurses to work at the one-
nurse Sandy Bay hospital from 1950 to 1970. One stayed for over five years, while nine stayed
for only two to ten months.’® Most teachers hired by the Department of Education also stayed only
a short time. A majority of whites viewed their northern time as temporary. Not all liked the
rugged outdoor activities the North offered, and many missed southern culture, including radio,
television, movies, libraries, shopping, and countless other items. Alice Jenner of the Department
of Public Health wrote: “It requires a missionary zeal, a strong conviction that something ought to
be done about this, and an affection for the people to stay at this job.”’

Although many of those who worked only briefly in the North were young and single,
many wives and families of married employees also did not appreciate northern life. Mr. Stene
resigned from DNR in 1951 because his wife did not want to move to Pelican Narrows.*®
Similarly, after DNR built an expensive new house at Buffalo Narrows for Mr. Halvorsen, his
family stayed in the South where his children attended high school.”® In 1954, Mrs. Laurier
Poisson, the wife of the Ile a la Crosse conservation officer, wrote an irate letter to J. W.
Churchman, DNR'’s deputy minister. Her outburst followed three years of living with isolation and
inconvenience brought to a head by DNR building a new staff house there, not for them, but for
another officer. Churchman reassured her that they did not intend the construction as a personal
affront to her, and DNR transferred her husband out of the North later that year.*

The CCF offered some extra compensation to its northern employees, paying small
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isolation allowances and providing subsidized housing to make up for higher prices and travel
costs. “Being bushed” also added to travel costs as workers fled isolation, and “social boredom”
contributed to northern employees eating and drinking more. With complaints increasingand DNR
fearing increased resignations and transfer requests, it gathered information on the northern cost
of living in 1957. The study found food costs at Uranium City thirty-two percent higher than at
Regina and about twenty percent higher for the North overall than at Regina. DNR rent rates
however stood at a lower level than in the South. Calculating various factors, the study found an
increased cost of living for Uranium City of $1,250.17, compared to the allowance of $900. Some
communities had larger discrepancies, while in others the allowance exceeded the difference in
cost of living, although calculations did not allow for additional travel costs. By 1962, employees
of numerous departments could charge some travel expenses when going on annual leave and to
obtain medical treatment.*

Most northern communities had dismal housing stocks and little or no rental housing. As
aresult, the CCF tried to provide adequate housing for its employees, although it could have done
much more. At first the CCF bought some existing housing. By 1949 it owned a three-room shack
at Stony Rapids, where Field Officer Oliver Shaw lived and worked. He conducted business in
front of the two bachelors who lived there with him and various travellers who stopped in. DNR
planned to build a three-bedroom house for Shaw, who planned to marry. DNR adopted a policy
in 1949 of charging rent to all staff using its housing. By 1952 a point system determined the
rental rate, up to 12 /2 % of the employee’s salary. DNR had about twenty-five residences by
1953, a number which continued to grow. The CCF struggled to keep up with housing needs as
staff expanded. La Ronge still had poor and overcrowded staff housing in 1956: two employees
each occupied a “cottage,” a radio operator lived in a renovated bunkhouse, one employee lived
in the former government store, and several lived in an old house. All these staff had wives and
most had children.®

Where the CCF devoted resources to building new staff housing, government residences
often stood out as the most lavish in the community. This helped create two distinct societies: the
white middle class and the poverty-stricken Aboriginal. DNR built what it called Type 1, 2, and
3 houses, but developed the superior Type 5 design by 1952. Ithad six of the latter in 1953, each
with water and sewer--luxury almost never seen in the North at that time. By 1957, DNR houses
atIle ala Crosse, Buffalo Narrows, and La Loche had basements, two to four bedrooms, bathrooms
with tub, sink, and toilet, refrigerators in place or on order, propane or wood/coal stoves, furnaces,

and other amenities. The CCF also frequently provided its houses with furnishings and electrical
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generators. Its dwellings often cost from $12,000 to $18,000, many times the cost of most northern
homes.*

The CCF hired few Aboriginals for better government jobs, adding to the presence of two
northern societies. White people held nearly all full-time jobs, while the CCF employed
Aboriginals primarily for temporary, low-paying work. Shortly after the election of the CCF,
RCMP Corporal M. Chappuis at Cumberland House thought of Aboriginals as “hopeless” for the
position of DNR officer, without “direct supervision.”* In contrast to Chappuis’ reservations,
Oblate Father F. X. Gagnon lobbied the government to employ area men as wardens and fire
guardians on the west side.®® In 1950, DNR’s Earl Dodds indicated they would use some
Aboriginal labour for road work, but needed experienced and reliable workers to run the
equipment, which likely meant non-Aboriginals.*® About one-half of fire detection and prevention
staff consisted of Aboriginals, with fire suppression crews usually all Aboriginal. Fires provided
only short-term, low-paying work.®’

DNR hired Aboriginals for more than short-term work in isolated cases. It hired J. Favel
as a native patrolman at Patuanak, but considered firing him in 1954, after CO L. Poisson set more
rigid work expectations than Favel was accustomed to. C. S. Brown, Northern Administrator,
wrote that Favel “has a number of the usual traits of the northern native and in some respects lacks
a proper sense of responsibility.” Mr. Dodds of DNR spoke to Favel and “left him in some doubt
of the permanency of his employment with us.”® Nap Johnson of Ile a la Crosse also worked as
a DNR native patrolman and special constable for the RCMP.* Northern Crown Corporations
employed some Aboriginals. A Metis, Norman MacAuley, held various governmental positions,
including managing stores at Pine House and Deschambault Lake.”” Public Health hired several
Aboriginals to work in outpost hospitals, but let one go for lack of ability and the other for theft.”!

The CCF often viewed its experiences with Aboriginal employees negatively. Northern
Crown Corporations seemed disillusioned in 1956 after Aboriginals quit their jobs, likely because
of local pressure and jealousy.” C. S. Brown, Northern Administrator, considered Aboriginals as
poor potential employees because they lacked education and suitable work skills.” In a positive
case, DNR began a “pilot project of community development” in 1963-1964, where Pelican
Narrows area trappers elected a fur patrolman. DNR called the results “outstanding.”” Yet the
fact that only a handful of Aboriginals held permanent positions demonstrates the nature of CCF
hiring policies as well as the lack of preparation of Aboriginals for wage labour. The CCF record
on employing Aboriginals does not necessarily indicate the presence of racism. To have hired

large numbers of Aboriginals for permanent positions would have required the committal of
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substantial resources to educating and training potential employees and the introduction of
affirmative action programs. The CCF was not willing to take these steps. Instead, the CCF’s
dismal record in employing Aboriginals added to northern unemployment and underdevelopment.

In addition to the contrasts in housing and employment, differences also existed between
government employees and Aboriginals in virtually all other aspects of life. Placing a large
number of white government employees in the North widened a pre-existing rift within northern
society and also worked against the CCF policy of assimilation. DNR officers, nurses, teachers,
and other CCF employees formed a separate class within the small, primarily Aboriginal villages.
Civil servants also became part of the white upper class in the larger communities. White
government workers frequently considered themselves superior by virtue of their race. The
mandate given them by the CCF to bring forced change to northern Aboriginals gave them
additional prestige and authority.

Some Aboriginals established special relationships with DNR officers similar to the earlier
“Patron-Clientrelationship” with the HBC, and officials had a special clientele who supported their
programs, as part of a system of reciprocal obligations. Yet many northerners felt “contempt and
hostility” to the CCF and its employees, largely because of conservation policies.”” Administrators
also often did not relate well to Aboriginals, since they did not know the Aboriginal languages or
grasp local ways.

Instances of white government employees lacking respect for Aboriginals abound. In
1954, H. P. Michaud, a DNR employee at La Loche, feared turning Indian if he stayed in La Loche
longer than several years.”® A teacher told how his opinion of Indian males changed over twenty
years, from thinking them “very nice and well-mannered” to seeing them as improvident, boastful,
easily insulted, arrogant, and dishonest. He added “The more they come in contact with the whites,
drunkenness becomes their favorite pastime, as then they think they are real men.””’

While most government employees sent north to implement CCF programs maintained a
social distance from Aboriginals, they usually felt safe living in Aboriginal communities.
Exceptions occurred, as when a critical situation arose at Buffalo Narrows in 1957. Although
Aboriginal males there had threatened the lives of Aboriginal females with knives while
demanding “sexual submission,” government employees and their families felt safe. C. S. Brown,
Northern Administrator, claimed that previously “decent white women have been inviolable almost
everywhere in the North.” This changed when Victor Ratt, a repeat violent sexual offender, raped
the outpost hospital nurse, also causing brain damage and physical disability. Soon after, another

repeat sexual offender, Leon Sylvestre, broke into the house of J. B. McLellan, the CO, presumably
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to rape Mrs. McLellan, not realizing that her husband had returned from an extended trip.
Although outraged, McLellan persuaded local white people, including government workers, not
to take vigilante action. Yet he described the Aboriginals as eighteenth century people, to whom
laws designed for twentieth century people should not apply. He also advocated the use of public
whipping and stocks. The light sentence of three years received by Ratt further outraged whites.
The nurse resigned from her job after the judge passed sentence. CCF employees approved of the
two-year sentence meted out to Sylvestre for his less serious offence. His sentencing “had a most
worthy effect on the people in the region.””® Many officials saw increased and more punitive law
enforcement as the answer to these problems.

Sandy Bay government personnel charged with implementing CCF programs also
experienced violence at the hands of local Aboriginals. In one case, the outpost hospital nurse,
Miss Houston, and the hospital caretaker, J. H. Nichols, investigated a complaint of “neglected and
starving” children. The children’s drunken father lunged at the nurse with a knife, who ducked,
while the knife stuck deep into the wall. One person commented “It could have been a little worse
the nurse could have been killed. Perhaps a human sacrifice is necessary. . . . for the last two years
... this loyal and devoted caretaker has protected the nurse . . . If liquor is forced upon this little
community I think we should employ male nurses only or shut-up shop.”” Female government
employees, especially provincial nurses who went into unknown situations in remote communities,
found themselves vulnerable to mistreatment and violence. This danger added to the unusually
high turnover rate among nursing staff. Although incidents of Aboriginal violence directed against
government employees did not occur frequently, those that took place caused whites to fear
Aboriginals and their communities.

The CCF created a colonial structure in the North to implement its agenda of
modernization, assimilation, and socialism. As in other colonial situations, control remained
outside the region, where politicians and bureaucrats chose goals, designed programs, and hired
staff. While it used the pre-existing Department of Northern Resources as its primary colonial
agency, the CCF created a separate administrative organization within DNR for the North. In
effect, the North had a separate governmental structure from the South. The CCF gave this
organization great power, including the power normally held by municipal governments. Yet,
unlike in the South, those living in northern Aboriginal communities could not elect their municipal
governments. Northerners also had little say in electing the provincial government. About one-
half of northern Aboriginals, Treaty Indians, could not vote in provincial elections until 1960.

Even those who could vote had little influence in determining CCF policies for the North, as the
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region had only two elected representatives in Regina. Outsiders made most decisions for
northerners without consulting with the local people.

Imperfections plagued the northern colonial structure, belying the much-touted CCF
planning expertise. Many saw the need for changes to the administrative structure, but the CCF
failed to provide an efficient organization and appropriate legislation. This added to program
failures and compromised the achievement of CCF goals for the North. From the point of view of
northern Aboriginals, many of whom did not want the intrusive CCF presence, governmental
inefficiency permitted their former society and ways to continue to a some extent.

The top-down colonial approach of the CCF brought many negative consequences to the
North. It played an instrumental role in creating a deep rift in the northemn society, with alienated
Aboriginals on one side and a self-confident government and its employees on the other. With few
exceptions, those who brought the CCF presence north did not come from the North. Many
bureaucrats never even moved to the region, applying programs from southern offices. Most who
did move north only did so temporarily, without making a long-term commitment to the region.
The colonial presence also helped institutionalize and perpetuate unemployment, poverty, and
social dysfunction within the Aboriginal community by ensuring that Aboriginals would not share
equally in employment and economic opportunities. CCF colonialism effectively altered and
remade practically every aspect of the northern economy and society, creating a reality very
different from that which existed in 1944. Yet the result did not please northerners or the CCF.
Most northerners never had approved of the CCF goals or the colonial presence, while the CCF
failed to predict and control the many unforseen and devastating side-effects of its interventions.

With its newly-created colonial apparatus in place, the CCF sought to introduce
modernization, assimilation, and socialism to northerners. The new government actively worked
to bring fundamental changes to how Aboriginals lived their everyday lives. An examination of

CCF words and actions will demonstrate the party’s intentions for Aboriginal people.
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Chapter Three

THE ULTIMATE SOLUTION

Convinced of the superiority of Euro-Canadian culture, the CCF saw little of value in the
traditional Aboriginal cultures of northern Saskatchewan. It used the strong arm of government
to impose white ways on Aboriginal people, aiming for their complete assimilation into the white
world. An essential part of this effort included a large-scale forced movement to settlements where
the CCF could teach Aboriginals to live as white men and women and better deliver its various
programs to northerners. The CCF also thought this change would help Aboriginals by providing
them with the opportunity to benefit from modermn ways. Contradictorily, the establishment of
separate Aboriginal settlements and pervasive racism worked against the goal of assimilation. For
most Aboriginals, the move from the bush brought life in semi-urban squalor, and the better world
visualized by the CCF remained far away. The expansion of mining and government also brought
urbanization, as thousands of white people relocated to the North. Two societies grew there: the
prosperous white and the destitute Aboriginal. The northern population increased dramatically,
which particularly caused problems within Aboriginal communities. While the CCF could see the
growing problems, it did not admit responsibility for these. Nor did it develop effective solutions.

Traditionally, the area of northern Saskatchewan supported only a small population,
pbssibly about 5,000 at the beginning of the fur trade era. At that time, Cree and Dene
(Chipewyan) people formed the population. The Dene lived a life centered on the barren land
caribou, following seasonal caribou migrations between the tundra of the present-day Northwest
Territories and the wooded area of northern Saskatchewan. The Cree inhabited the large woodland
area to the south of the Dene territory. The fur trade brought various changes to where Aboriginals
lived. One change occurred when Cree from farther east moved into northern Saskatchewan,
joining with and sometimes displacing Cree already there. Dene people also moved farther south
into former Cree territory. This occurred particularly on the west side of the province in the La
Loche and Patuanak area. The Cree and Dene remained separate, with cultural differences and
animosity reinforcing their distinctness. Prior to the election of the CCF, northern Aboriginals

continued to enjoy a great amount of freedom to follow their traditional life style. They had little
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need for cash, as the northern environment provided them with most necessities of life. What they
could not obtain from nature came from trading posts, where they traded furs and labour for the
white man’s goods.

Prior to CCF intervention, the two major outside influences on northern Aboriginals came
from traders and missionaries. Both the fur trade and Christianity had left their mark. Aboriginals
trapped furs to supply the fur trade, and much about their lives revolved around the trade. The
churches concerned themselves with spiritual matters, medical care, and basic education, and
introduced Aboriginals to some aspects of white society. The Aboriginal population included
many devout Christians in 1944. Nearly all claimed to belong to a Christian denomination. The
1951 census counted fifty-seven percent of Division 18 as Roman Catholic, nineteen percent as
Anglican, and ten percent as United Church. Many Aboriginals combined aspects of their
traditional beliefs with Christianity, finding the two compatible in many respects.! Northerners
generally accepted the churches and the traders and the limited change and assimilation they
brought.

Contact with other white people also increased before 1944. Many southerners moved
north prior to 1940 to trap, fish, mine, or farm in the forest fringe. Most left the North by the end
of the Second World War. The southern economy strengthened, again providing jobs for the
unemployed, and large numbers enlisted in the armed forces during World War II. Unlike the
majority of white people, northern Aboriginals showed a strong attachment to their northern
homeland and did not want to leave the area permanently. Most who left to fight in the war or
work in war-time industry soon returned.

Government also influenced northern Aboriginals by 1944. Treaties made between Indians
and the federal government covered all of northern Saskatchewan, giving Ottawa legal title to
ancestral lands. Treaty 5 covered the Saskatchewan River delta and the surrounding area.
Aboriginals in a large part of the southern area of the North adhered to Treaty 6, originally
designed primarily as an agricultural treaty for the prairie. Treaties 8 and 10 covered the rest of
northern Saskatchewan and much of the larger Canadian North. In comparison to the earlier
treaties signed for agricultural areas, government tailored these two treaties for the northern
situation. Their signing took place largely to open the way for resource extraction.

Contact with white society split northern Aboriginals into three groups: registered or status
Indians, most of whom held Treaty Indian status; non-status Indians, who appeared Indian in all
respects except by legal criteria; and Metis. The federal government had primary responsibility

for Treaty Indians and jurisdiction on reserves. Many Indians had not located on reserves by 1944
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and still enjoyed freedom to roam the bush. Their continuing presence outside of reserves and the
dearth of federal programs meant that the CCF included Treaty Indians in many of its efforts.?

At the time of the 1930 Natural Resources Transfer Agreement, which transferred crown
lands to Saskatchewan, various Dominion orders-in-council provided reserves for northern Indian
bands. Yet the establishment of reserves remained incomplete. Clause 10 of the agreement
allowed for the later transfer of land to Ottawa to meet treaty obligations. By the late 1950s, La
Loche, Fond du Lac, Black Lake, Stony Rapids, and Lac La Hache Bands still had not settled on
reserves, apparently never having asked for land.’ In the case of the La Loche Band (Clearwater
River Dene Nation), when negotiations for a reserve began in about 1939, the band had seventy
members, but by 1964 it had 183 members, and it eventually received over 23,000 acres in 1970.*
Similar processes took place in other areas, with many land issues remaining unresolved when the
CCEF left office. Some claim that the treaties only gave up “aski puko,” or “the land alone,” leaving
Indians with ownership of water, mineral, and other resources. Oral history provides the basis for
these claims, since the written treaties do not clearly outline many things.” The CCF generally
proceeded as if it had full ownership of northern land and resources, other than on established
reserves.

CCF policies discouraged expansion of the northern reserve system. In one instance in
1954, the CCF opposed a request by Indian Affairs for additional reserve land in the La Ronge area
to accommodate the growing Indian population. DNR’s Deputy Minister Churchman and Director
of Conservation R. G. Young viewed the reserve system as outdated and working against Indians’
best interests. Minister Brockelbank thought the Natural Resources Transfer Agreement allowed
the Minister of Natural Resources to choose land for reserve expansion. The CCF particularly
wanted to stop extension of the reserve system in areas with recreational and mining potential,
including in the area between La Ronge and the Churchill River.® The province even tried to take
back some land in 1950, wanting Kitsakie Indian Reserve, which adjoined La Ronge, for townsite
expansion. DNR claimed the Indians made little use of the largely rock and muskeg covered 139
acres, but the federal government found about sixty people and twenty homes there. The Indians
also opposed surrendering the land, and the federal government turned down the request.’

Some northern Metis, particularly those on the west side and in the Cumberland House
area, appeared distinct from the Treaty and non-status Indians. Metis there had long-standing
connections with the Metis of the prairie, with some having moved north after the Red River
Resistance and the Batoche Rebellion. Yet, in many communities, non-status Indian and Metis

meant much the same thing, with the term “Metis” used to describe all Aboriginals who did not
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have Treaty status. Government also referred to all non-Treaty Aboriginals as Metis. While
cultural and racial differences between the groups often seemed non-existent, the legal definition
between status Indians and the non-status Indians/Metis increasingly split communities, causing
tension and conflict. Treaty Indians accepted the government definitions and considered the non-
Treaty group as not real Indians, while Metis seemed critical of the Indians’ dependence on
Ottawa. Some Metis lived partially in both white and Indian cultures. The CCF’s anthropologist
Vic Valentine agreed with a Metis fur trader’s definition of a Metis as “‘a man who, when he had
money, lives like a white man, and when he has no money lives like an Indian.””® The west side
Roman Catholic Metis carried French surnames, while mainly Scottish names identified the largely
Anglican central and east side Metis. In the Athabasca Region, cultural differences divided the
Metis and the Treaty Indians. Many of the Metis from Fort Chipewyan and Camsell Portage had
Cree origins, while practically all Treaty Indians there were Dene. Disparities between federal and
provincial services caused problems, since Metisreceived fewer benefits and faced more restrictive
hunting and trapping rules. On the other hand, Metis could legally drink liquor and vote, while
Indians could not do so until 1960.°

Whether it considered them Metis or Indian, the CCF actively tried to assimilate all
Aboriginals into white society. Douglas, other politicians, and bureaucrats confidently believed
in the superiority of Euro-Canadian ways. They accepted a linear view of progress and thought
the Aboriginals’ hunter-gatherer, nomadic lifestyle represented a low form of economic, political,
and social organization. Western society often held little respect for other cultures, as seen in
countless colonial situations throughout the world. Possibly socialists placed even less value on
preserving racial and cultural distinctness, since their analysis of society emphasized distinctions
based on class. Class analysis minimized the importance ofracial differences. Within the northern
CCF organization, the Metis Marxists Norris and Brady viewed the class struggle as holding
primary importance. The CCF appeared very sure about forcing assimilation on Aboriginals and
did not give Indians or Metis a choice in the matter.

Disagreement exists about whether the CCF aimed for integration or assimilation, partly
because the CCF itself often did not differentiate between the two terms to describe their goals for
northern Aboriginals. Assimilation and integration meant much the same thing to the CCF. As
practised by it, neither allowed for much survival of Aboriginal culture. Today, many view
integration as acceptable, since it respects the other culture and allows aspects of it to survive.
Integration describes HBC and church policies prior to 1944, when Aboriginals enjoyed more

choice about what they wanted to accept from outsiders. The HBC preserved hunting and
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gathering, which fit with its own goals, and missions maintained local cultures, as much as
religious changes it considered necessary would allow. With successful assimilation, in contrast,
outside forces overwhelm the former culture, altering it until racial conflict and discrimination
disappear. Strong links connect assimilation with colonialism.'

Using today’s terminology, the CCF generally followed a policy of assimilation. It tried
to assimilate all categories of Aboriginals, although, lacking full jurisdiction over Treaty Indians,
the CCF attacked this group’s culture less aggressively. Yet the CCF worked with Ottawa to
remove special treatment and status for Indians and move Indians from their traditional society into
the Canadian mainstream. The CCF used DNR officers, teachers, health workers, and others to
force assimilation.

The agenda of assimilating Aboriginals permeated top levels of the CCF administration.
T. C. Douglas said “social and intellectual assimilation is absolutely vital.” He fostered the
creation of Aboriginal organizations, including the Union of Saskatchewan Indians in 1946. Yet
the Union did not operate independently and had a reputation as a captive organization which
served CCF purposes. Douglas favoured ending reserves and wardship and wanted Saskatchewan
to handle health, education, and welfare for Indians. Under him, “progress for Indians was
measured in terms of integration,” which meant assimilation.'" Joe Phelps also wanted Indian
status ended and the province to administer Indian affairs. He did not favour “aborigine rights,”
which he interpreted as Natives wanting land and control. Phelps thought Indians should let
“bygones be bygones.”"

Commitment to assimilating Aboriginals continued throughout the CCF’s time in office.
Phelps’ successor as DNR minister, J. H. Brockelbank, wrote “We are convinced that the long-term
solution to these social problems, is cultural assimilation.””® In 1952, CCF politician Bill
Berezowsky wanted to quickly put Aboriginals into the “melting pot.” He blamed the lack of CCF
support among trappers and fishermen on the HBC and the church helping Aboriginals remain
distinct.* In 1956 Northern Administrator C. S. Brown described assimilation as their attainable
goal, which they should “guide and speed” as much as possible.’* Cabinet instructed minister J.
H. Sturdy to head up a study into Indian problems and how to integrate them “as ordinary citizens
in Saskatchewan.” Historian Dr. Lewis H. Thomas was to chair a sub-committee to help determine
how to reach this goal.'® In 1962 DNR’s C. L. MacLean, also a CCF candidate, described
“economic and cultural assimilation” as “the only lasting answer to the so-called Metis problem.”"’

While some increasingly used the term integration by the 1960s, only the terminology

changed. The new integration would only tolerate “vestigial ethnic traditions.”'® Official
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documents, including the 1960 Saskatchewan brief to the Joint Committee of the Senate and the
House of Commons on Indian Affairs, increasingly referred to integration. Yet the CCF still
wanted to see reserves disappear and viewed treaties and treaty rights as relatively minor rights
which Indians would voluntarily give up."”

The CCF increasingly adopted community development as a method for assimilation
within the North. Vic Valentine, the CCF’s anthropologist, helped develop this program beginning
in 1953. By the late 1950s the CCF relied heavily on the Center for Community Studies for policy
direction in community development. The Center reflected the beginnings of a shift in societal
attitudes from demanding assimilation to favouring integration. W. B. Baker, the Center’s director,
thought community development balanced assimilation with a respect for the integrity of
Aboriginal culture. The Center took a neutral position in 1963, saying “Complete integration, i.e.,
the disappearance of the socially identifiable Indian, may not be accepted as a goal by everyone,
but its achievement lies so far away in the future that there is no need for a consensus of opinion
on this issue.”

Initiatives to give Indians the right to vote and drink liquor in the North and the South
formed part of the CCF drive for assimilation. Douglas, possibly ahead of his time, already
favoured full citizenship rights for Indians in 1943. The 1945 CCF convention also called for
extending the vote to Indians. While other Indians showed ambivalence, northern Chief Simon
Linklater of Pelican Narrows supported the proposed changes. The matter gained urgency by 1958
when the province invited Treaty Indians to a conference, addressed by Douglas, at Fort
Qu’Appelle. Chiefs and councillors did not support receiving the franchise then or in the following
year. The CCF gave Indians the provincial franchise anyway in 1960 and asked Ottawa to grant
them liquor rights, which occurred in July of 1960. Douglas reassured chiefs that the right to vote
was a “new right” and would not affect Indians’ “special rights.”® These changes proved
important for northern Indians. Their new right to vote could greatly affect northern election
outcomes since the previously disenfranchised Indians formed a large percentage of the population.
In the view of many whites, moreover, giving northern Indians the right to drink might worsen
social problems. Both rights would also serve to increase assimilation since they broke down
barriers between Indians and non-Indians.

In an additional step towards assimilation, the CCF strove to take over the care of Treaty
Indians from the federal government. During the early part of the CCF era, Indian Affairs provided
only minimal services in the North, which caused the province to repeatedly intervene with Indian

Affairs on behalf of northern Treaty Indians in matters of housing, health, and welfare. The dearth
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of federal northern services provided a logical reason for having Saskatchewan take responsibility.
Various officials, including Phelps, wanted more co-operation with Indian Affairs on northern
development, but in spite of seeming agreement for joint development and a partial transfer of
services in 1947, nothing further came of this. Instead, Indian Affairs actually expanded its
services and staff. The CCF did not give up though. In 1956 it appdinted a committee under
Sturdy to investigate Saskatchewan taking over services to Treaty Indians. Surprisingly, Sturdy
recommended against a transfer of responsibility.”” Yet the CCF continued to work for this.

In a move which affected many northern Indians who did not live on reserves, cabinet
decided in 1957 to provide full social aid services to off-reserve Treaty Indians. Deputy Minister
J. S. White of Social Welfare viewed extending provincial social aid on and off reserves as the
“keystone” to solving “welfare problems.”” In about 1960, Douglas asked for “joint provincial-
federal conferences on Indian Affairs” to equalize services, including in the areas of infrastructure,
education, medical care, and the extension of co-operatives.?* This issue had greatrelevance to the
North, as it was there that the CCF applied its most aggressive programs. The presence of a
separate federal organization, which often followed different policies, threatened CCF plans to
promote assimilation as well as its agenda of modemization and socialism. The legislature
unanimously passed a resolution in 1961 asking Ottawa to give complete Indian Affairs
administration to any province which wanted this, if a majority of the Treaty Indians agreed.
Concerned with the cost, Douglas suggested a twenty-five year transition period to phase out
federal financial support for Treaty Indians. Had Ottawa agreed, this change would have aided the
CCF in applying its assimilation and other plans in the North. It would have brought a nearly
complete removal of the Indian Affairs presence from the North.

In 1963 Saskatchewan politicians and bureaucrats again strove to take over services to
Treaty Indians. Director of Northern Affairs A. H. MacDonald expected resistance from Indians
to making them “masters of their own destiny.” J. S. White renewed his efforts to have the
province take over the full range of social services on reserves, and the Department of Education
proposed a complete transfer of Indian education to the province. A Community Development
Branch submission wanted to see movement from reserves to urban areas. Premier Woodrow
Lloyd led Saskatchewan’s delegation to a Dominion-Provincial Conference on Indian Affairs
called by Prime Minister Lester Pearson. Saskatchewan’s brief spoke of reserves as an obstacle
to Indian off-reserve participation and portrayed assimilation and acculturation as desirable for

t.25

Indian economic advancement.” This fit completely with the CCF’s northern agenda.

For a time it seemed that the federal government would help CCF plans for northemn
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assimilation by giving up its responsibility for Indians. Ottawa also wanted to see assimilation and
an end to separate services, special status, wardship, and Indian reserves. Already in the 1940s,
the Joint Committee of the Senate and House of Commons wanted to see the shift of some services
to the provinces. The transfer of responsibility for Indian health to National Health and Welfare
in 1945 and the move of Indian Affairs from the Department of Mines and Resources to the
Department of Citizenship and Immigration in 1949 both fit with the plan of bringing full
assimilation. In 1953, W. E. Harris, the Minister of Citizenship and Immigration, opposed
“treating Indians as a special class of citizens” and used this as a reason for not subsidizing
northern Indian fishing with federal funds. The Joint Committee of the Senate and the House of
Commons on Indian Affairs’ final report of 1961 encouraged shifting administration of Indian
education and welfare to provinces and called for a Dominion-Provincial Conference to discuss
the transfer of various matters. Yet, the shift of responsibility did not happen. Indian Affairs
instead again expanded services. By 1963 it directed services from Prince Albert for Carlton
Agency, which covered La Ronge and the north-east side, and from Meadow Lake for Meadow
Lake Agency, which looked after the north-west side. Indian Affairs also had northern staff at Ile
a la Crosse, Stony Rapids, La Ronge, and Pelican Narrows.?

Still in 1964, the CCF hoped northern and other Indians would voluntarily give up the
treaties and move into white society. This wish conflicted with the emphasis Indians increasingly
placed on group rights and on a permanent relationship between themselves and the Canadian
government based on the treaties. Great similarity existed between the CCF position and that of
the 1969 federal white paper in their emphasis on treating all Canadians the same. The CCF still
opposed Aboriginal distinctness and the establishment of Indian self-government at the end of its
time in office.”” Any increase in Aboriginal independence jeopardized CCF assimilation and other
plans for the North.

The CCF also used Aboriginal organizations to help with its agenda of assimilation and
integration in the North and the South. CCF involvement in Indian organizations co-opted their
effectiveness at representing the issues of northern and other Indians. Douglas’ assistant Morris
Shumiatcher met with the northern chiefs in 1946 as one step in the formation of the Union of
Saskatchewan Indians. The Federation of Saskatchewan Indians (FSI), which officially began in
1958-1959, also felt strong CCF influence. CCF funding, which began in 1961-1962, brought
further provincial control over the organizatioh. Malcolm Norris viewed the FSI as ineffective,
describing it as existing in name only.*®

Metis from the North made some attempts to organize. The CCF seemed less concerned
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with controlling Metis organizations than those of the Indians, possibly because it considered the
Metis as already more assimilated. Northern Metis formed the Saskatchewan Metis Association
in 1943, as arival to the Saskatchewan Metis Society (SMS). Douglas made some efforts in 1946
to organize the Metis, but failed due to rifts between northern and southern leaders. The CCF did
little more to promote Metis organization. Malcolm Norris and Jim Brady struggled to organize
the Metis over a lc;ng period of time but did not meet with much success. A La Ronge local of the
SMS operated for a while, but the Metis appeared quite uninterested. Norris’ and Brady’s position
as CCF supporters may have added to the failure.”

Even though Saskatchewan never secured control over Treaty Indians, the CCF believed
that northern Aboriginals should be assimilated rapidly and aggressively. In fact, the government’s
attempt to move all Aboriginals who still lived in the bush into settlements became one of the
boldest of the CCF assimilative policies. Unlike some other CCF northern initiatives, success met
most CCF efforts to nucleate Aboriginals in villages. Yet, while the shift to semi-urban life
brought profound change to Aboriginal society, complete assimilation remained elusive.

C. H. Piercy, commissioned by the CCF to study the educational situation in the North in
1944, found nomadic Aboriginals, who moved to trap and hunt for the winter and fish for the
summer. Unable to carry many goods, they “squandered” their wealth and did not save for the
future. Some already lived in or near settlements for six months of the year or permanently.*® The
CCF had various reasons for not wanting Aboriginals’ nomadic life to continue. Nucleation into
settlements would facilitate assimilating Aboriginals into white society. Village life would also
permit the CCF to efficiently apply education, health, housing, social, and other services to the
formerly mobile population. Further, nucleation formed part of the CCF effort to bring all aspects
of the North under state control--to identify, count, and monitor the population. The CCF refused
to allow human life to continue in wild spaces beyond its control, and it hoped that nucleation
would expedite the creation of a modern, well-planned society in the North.

Some movement to communities predated the CCF era, since the presence of fur trading
posts, missions, or boarding schools led to some Aboriginals living nearby. This occurred at
numerous northern spots, including Ile a la Crosse, Cumberland House, and La Ronge. Treaties
and the creation of reserves, although delayed in much of the North, also moved people into
settlements. Montreal Lake offers an example. There the Cree adhered to Treaty 6 in 1889,
wanting the protection of a treaty and a reserve. Fur trading posts and the Anglican church also
drew them to the settlement at the south end of the lake.*!

The CCF prodding of Aboriginals into settlements included those Treaty Indians who had
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not chosen or moved to reserves. This process resembled that followed by the federal government
in the southern prairies beginning in the 1870s, where it signed treaties and drove Indians onto
reserves to prepare the way for agricultural settlement. That served the dual purpose of pushing
Indians out of the way of white settlers and placing them in small areas where Ottawa could apply
assimilative policies to make them into white men. Contrary to the hopes of some, reserves often
served as a barrier to assimilation. The sites chosen by the CCF for northern Aboriginals lacked
reserve status, but since few white people lived in them, most villages also became enclaves of the
surviving Aboriginal culture. Yet these communities allowed the CCF to efficiently direct its
interventions at Aboriginals.

Nucleation to the “micro-urban village” happened in northern Saskatchewan sooner than
in most other areas of the Canadian North, largely due to CCF actions. Hospitals, schools, and
federal family allowance cheques which required school attendance pulled people into settlements.
The CCF’s Conservation Area trapping system greatly limited mobility, and orderly fur marketing
led trappers to spend more time in settlements, waiting for cheques from Regina. Settlement life
increased the need for cash, reduced access to subsistence items, and increased welfare and other
dependency on government. It also made the nomadic people instantly poverty-stricken, as they
moved from the bush into urban shacks. While living on the land had sometimes proven harsh, the
natural northern environment had often abundantly provided Aboriginals with the necessities of
life. Under the new reality, loss of traditional subsistence patterns, welfare dependency, decreased
trapping, and increased contact between Aboriginals and whites all occurred. A complete shift to
settlement life took time. Many continued to move between the village and their traditional
hunting, trapping, and fishing areas, as dictated by the seasons. But over time, government
programs solidified year-round residence in the communities.*

Government nucleation policies brought changes in family dynamics. Women received
federal family allowance payments and often also the family’s welfare payments. They frequently
had a larger cash income than did their husbands, which increased women’s status from that of
“domestic slaves.” This change took status from men. Male prestige declined further when CCF
changes to the economic system resulted in trappers losing credit with traders. Women also often
received higher levels of education and dealt with the bureaucracy, further changing roles. Men
and women worked together less, while many men trapped and fished alone or with other men.
Women helped less with trapping, lost traditional skills, underwent acculturation, and found
themselves trapped in the village, caring for children. Yet, in some respects, women experienced

less cultural disruption than did men, as women’s role as mothers continued and their traditional
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roles also had more flexibility than did those of men. Men also found themselves under pressure
to move away for job opportunities, while women could remain at home. The reduction of
Aboriginal men’s status and self-esteem, and their resulting dysfunctional actions, affected entire
families. Domestic problems grew with changes in people’s roles. Fewer married, many
matrifocal families came about, and government payments helped support families. Children
assumed adult roles later in life and the family held less social control than it once had. Parents’
role as teachers of children also diminished. Schools often took over much of the education of
children, teaching them white ways.*

The CCF vigorously worked to prevent Metis from living outside communities it
designated or approved of. In 1948, Rev. S. Cuthand, a Cree Anglican missionary and the secretary
of the Saskatchewan Metis Society at La Ronge, sent a petition with about fifteen signatures asking
for the survey of an area separate from the La Ronge townsite for the Metis. Numerous Metis
lived, or in CCF terms “squatted,” on land near the mouth of the river flowing into Lac la Ronge.
Some had gardens and plots much larger than town lots. Bereskin, the provincial surveyor,
responded by offering the Metis leases in two blocks in the townsite. He wanted to split the
already small lots into two, making them thirty-three feet in width. Bereskin wanted to see the
Metis move to the townsite to increase work opportunities, to allow easier supervision of the liquor
traffic, to remove the risk of having a shantytown, and to head off the demand for school and
hospital services in the outlying area. The Metis had thirty days to accept the lots. While two
applied for lots, others resisted, fearing friction with whites, a lack of peace, and the loss of space
to garden and keep their dogs. The Metis Society intervened on behalf of the Metis. Its provincial
secretary, J. Z. LaRocque of Lebret, wrote “Surely there is enough room in the Northern part of
the Prov. to allow for permanent homes for our people.” J. H. Sturdy, the Minister of Social
Welfare, opposed a separate Metis area there, since the “ultimate solution” for the “Metis problem”
required “assimilation.” Bereskin, J. J. Wheaton, the Northern Administrator, and J. W.
Churchman, DNR’s assistant deputy minister, all seemed to agree that the Metis should move to
La Ronge for purposes of assimilation. Malcolm Norris, while not opposing nucleation, pointed
out that whites had taken many available lots and that the Metis lacked “foresight and ability” to
compete. He viewed the Metis as not yet ready to deal with whites and wanted government to
protect them. Norris favoured the use of “miscellaneous use permits” to raise the status of Metis
from squatter to permit holder.>*

With ongoing CCF coercion and the attraction of expanding services, Aboriginals moved

to dozens of communities across the North. On the west side, people moved to La Loche, Buffalo
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Narrows, Ile a la Crosse, Beauval, and various smaller settlements. La Loche-area Dene formerly
lived dispersed over a large area. Some had chosen to live at Garson Lake, Descharme, and West
La Loche, but after the HBC store at West La Loche burnt in 1937, the store manager and the priest
wanted the people to move across the lake to the new site of La Loche. The construction of a
school and store in 1940 and of the hospital and convent in 1943, the advent of family allowance
with its required school attendance, and the addition of DNR headquarters and an RCMP
detachment attracted residents. Many would have preferred to stay at West La Loche, feeling
tricked into moving by the white man. Unfortunately, at La Loche and elsewhere, the package did
not include jobs, and people found unemployment and poverty.*

Near La Loche, Treaty 10 reserved four tracts of land on the Churchill River for Patuanak-
area Dene. The HBC built a store at Patuanak in 1921, and RC Father Moraud served the area for
almost fifty years until his death in 1965. After WW II, CCF fur programs and schools drastically
reduced seasonal nomadism. People built log houses at Knee Lake, Primeau Lake, Dipper Lake,
Cree Lake, and Patuanak. Later, the first four communities declined, as Patuanak increased in
size.*

Farther south, the mainly Cree community of Buffalo Narrows became the primary supply
centre for the west side. It offered a church and school by 1931. Major growth came when L.
Waite built a fish plant in 1943, which dominated the village physically and economically. Under
the CCF, a new school opened and construction of an outpost hospital proceeded. By 1953,
Buffalo Narrows, with about 800 people, also boasted a DNR headquarters, an RCMP detachment,
two hotels with cafes, four food stores, a pool room, a sawmill, mink ranches, and an air base.*’

Still farther south on the west side grew Ile a la Crosse, Saskatchewan’s second oldest
community. The HBC established a trading post there in 1779, and Louis-Francois Lafléche and
Alexandre-Antonin Taché founded the first Roman Catholic mission in Saskatchewan there in
1846. Grey Nuns provided medical care and education from 1860 to 1996. The area’s large Metis
population included descendants of Red River French Canadians and Scots. Under the CCF, lle
alaCrosse expanded greatly. Services included a DNR headquarters, RCMP detachment, hospital,
residential school, church, stores, hotel, café, and pool room. In the mid 1950s, the CCF planned
to relocate the community to the new highway, where a more compact settlement would ease
provision of services. These plans fell through in 1957, since the mission built a new hospital and
the RCMP a regional headquarters at the old site. It also seemed that Ottawa would build a public
dock and that a new filleting plant would locate nearby. DNR then organized the old townsite.®

South of Ile a la Crosse, Beauval offered a school, an Indian residential school, a fish and
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fruit plant, two stores, a café, and a pool room by 1953.* Commercial development took place at
nearby Beauval Forks at the junction of the highway to Buffalo Narrows where DNR wanted to
lease, not sell, lots for service station and restaurant development.*’
Not far away, the CCF helped relocate Metis to a new community at Cole (Cold) Bay on
Canoe Lake. The post office there received the name of Canoe Narrows. The relocation, with
remuneration to the Metis from Ottawa, took place to make way for the Primrose Lake bombing
range. The province expected the Metis to use some of the compensation money to help pay for
the twenty-two new houses built there, but a drinking spree took the money instead. A one-room
school opened in October of 1962. About twenty-eight pupils attended in the spring of 1963.*
West of La Ronge, at Snake Lake, the HBC established a post in 1786, and the first
missionary visited the Dene population in 1899. After a small pox epidemic in 1900-1901 killed
about one-half of the area people, survivors left for Patuanak or Stanley Mission. Cree Metis later
moved into the area from the west side, forming a scattered village by 1939. Roman Catholics
completed a church in 1944, and the CCF soon established a store. School began in 1948, further
increasing the draw to the settlement. While DNR laid out a townsite, most Metis chose to squat
outside the surveyed area. By 1950 only the government store manager, one other family, the store,
and the church had located in the townsite. Eventually, more complied with the CCF plan for them
to move to the new site. In 1954, local initiative led to renaming the community, Pinehouse Lake.*
Nucleation into settlements occurred later for some far northern Dene bands, including the
Hatchet Lake Band, the Black Lake Band, and the Fond du Lac Band. A disorganized community
grew at Wollaston Lake by 1954, with thirteen single whites, about twenty-five Treaty Indian
families, and four Metis families in the area. Aboriginals still followed the caribou and whites
lived in their winter fishing camps. While the CCF delayed introducing trapping areas and other
regulation to the area, DNR officer Chas. Salt wanted to see the CCF intervene by establishing a
village, airport, and compulsory school. Only three children had some education, about two years
each. He noted “We bring a little bit of the law to these people who have been doing pretty much
as they plcaase.""‘3 Over time, dependence on the caribou lessened and most moved to a settlement
lifestyle. The CCF’s extension of the registered trapline program to the far North in 1958 and the
establishment of a CCF fish plant, co-op store, and a new mission helped Wollaston Lake grow.*
On the Fond du Lac River near the east end of Lake Athabasca, Stony Rapids began when
the HBC established a store in 1927. The Romén Catholics also built a church. Many Chipewyan,
formerly from the Selwyn Lake area of the NWT, then spent more time at Stony Rapids. Others

moved there from west-side Churchill River communities and the Brochet and Wollaston Lake area
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in the 1920s and 1930s. By the late 1940s, many Indians lived at nearby Stony Lake, where they
quickly depleted fish stocks and firewood. In 1951, the RC priest established a church at Black
Lake, and the HBC and Indians followed. Chief Louis Ditheda wanted to see the Indian school
placed at Stony Rapids, but the priest won out and it went to Black Lake. A road, built by DNR
for uranium development, linked the two communities. Black Lake’s population soon surpassed
that of Stony Rapids, and it grew far beyond the ability of the area to support it, with ecological
damage to the land, water, and trees. Although settlement life provided few jobs, the caribou-
centred way of life largely disappeared. Those who still hunted and trapped did so largely for
emotional reasons.*

On Reindeer Lake’s east shore, the CCF established Kinoosao (Co-op Point) as a site for
a filleting plant. Its proximity to the railhead at Lynn Lake, Manitoba, about fifty miles away,
dictated the location of the new settlement, and Saskatchewan built a road to Lynn Lake. DNR
surveyed the townsite in 1952, then leasing lots to fishermen and fish plant employees. The plant
operated only in the summer, employing up to fifteen persons. By 1954, Kinoosao’s population
included two DNR officers, a school teacher, a storekeeper, six trapper-fishermen, and thirteen
students. Attractions included the DNR headquarters, a school, a store, and a post office.*® Yet
most residents of the big lake lived far from the CCF’s new settlement. About a dozen fishermen
lived on islands in the central area of Reindeer Lake, while most area Aboriginals lived far away
from Kinoosao in the Southend area. There, Pelican Narrows band Treaty Indians resided on an
island reserve, and Metis occupied a village on the mainland. The CCF tried to move these
Aboriginals from Southend to Kinoosao. The Roman Catholic Church and some Southend people
opposed the CCF nucleation plans. The Indians wanted to move from the island, since its location
made transportation and firewood access difficult. But instead of complying with the CCF plan
for them to move to Kinoosao, they and some Metis wanted to exchange land wifh the province
and move to Sucker Point, northwest of Southend. They opposed moving to Kinoosao, citing its
distance from their trap lines, a shortage of fish there to feed their dogs, and a desire not to live so
close to white people. Some had helped build the Kinoosao filleting plant, where they drank liquor
and lost much money to white people in poker games. Roman Catholic Bishop Lajeunesse,
wanting to protect the Aboriginals, raised concerns about the move to Kinoosao with T. C.
Douglas. Yet the CCF wanted nucleation at Kinoosao to proceed, since it wanted to see the
Aboriginals live orderly lives there. It had alreédy spent about $100,000 on Kinoosao’s new DNR
headquarters and fish plant and planned to build a school. Northern Administrator Brown thought

the Church and the HBC wanted to keep “the natives in isolation and comparative ignorance . . .
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contrary to our policies and beliefs. We consider education and assimilation the only ultimate
solution to the native problem.” Minister Brockelbank dismissed the Bishop’s concerns about
gambling, depicting gambling as part of Aboriginal culture. He wrote “the only way the native will
learn not to gamble is to experience losing his wealth permanently.” He thought a “protectionist
policy” prevented Aboriginal development. Although the CCF could not force Aboriginals to
move to Kinoosao, its use of coercion and incentives resulted in many moving there.*’

In the Saskatchewan River deita, Cumberland House, the oldest settlement in
Saskatchewan, played an important role in the fur trade and river transport, also attracting Indian
families to trade and work. Treaty 5 of 1875 created a reserve near the post. After Father
Charlebois asked the federal government in 1892 to allow Metis to remain, Ottawa traded 640
acres of land for land elsewhere. By 1900 some Aboriginals lived there almost permanently.*® As
elsewhere under the CCF, DNR acted as the local government. In 1946 DNR began a four-point
development plan, which included muskrat development, a sawmill, a farm, and improved
education. About 500 persons lived in the area in 1947, including about twenty-five whites. The
presence of schools, a hospital, and government cheques accelerated nucleation. The number of
encampments and villages in the area reduced from ten to four by 1960. Cumberland House, with
453 persons, had three satellite communities: Pemmican Portage with 247 persons, Pinebluff with
seventy-five persons, and Sturgeon Landing with 102 persons. Metis comprised 76.4%, Treaty
Indians 16.3%, and whites 7.3% of the area population. At Pemmican Portage, about three miles
from Cumberland House, over one-half of the population lived on the reserve. Itincluded a school,
a Northern Evangelical Mission, and Roman Catholic and Anglican churches. Pinebluff, areserve
about twenty-five miles west of Cumberland House, offered a one-room Indian Affairs school and
a winter HBC store. Most Pinebluff people moved to Cumberland House in summer and back to
Pinebluff in September when school resumed. Attractions at Sturgeon Landing, thirty-four miles
north, included a one-room school, a store, and a post office. Residents traded with The Pas and
Flin Flon, with some provincial administration coming from Cumberland House, and treaty matters
handled from Pelican Narrows.*

The CCF preferred larger settlements to smaller ones primarily because it wanted to
maximize the efficiency of its provision of services to northerners. Kinoosao, Patuanak, La Ronge,
and Cumberland House all provide examples of this preference. In another case, Father A. Darche
wanted to build a residential 'school at Dillon, about thirty water miles from Buffalo Narrows.
Dillon already had a church, rectory, HBC post, school, about twenty houses, and a population of
about 157 Treaty Indians and 122 Metis. Darche wanted government to build a medical facility,
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but both the CCF and Ottawa opposed establishing an outpost hospital for the small population.*
CCF refusal to provide services in small villages pushed Aboriginals to the larger communities.
The foregoing description of nucleation in predominantly Aboriginal cormmmunities does not
mention all northern settlements. Similar congregation occurred elsewhere, largely brought about
by the CCF.

Nucleation Brought many problems, including those caused by applying culturally
inappropriate southern settlement designs. While northerners preferred to build homes in clusters,
determined partly by kinship ties, urban planners wanted to place houses in neat rows along
uniformly spaced streets, thereby reducing costs for surveys, services, and policing. Aboriginals
resisted, while the CCF lamented the problems of squatters, stray dogs, weak local organization,
juvenile delinquency, and sanitation. With nucleation, officials displaced traditional leadership.
This contributed to increased social problems, including violence and alcohol abuse. Nucleation
also occurred in other areas of the Canadian sub-arctic, encouraged by government services and
programs. Interest in trapping and the bush diminished, and many came to prefer settlement life.”!

Most northern villages housed only a few white residents. The opposite situation existed
at Uranium City, Creighton, and Island Falls, where non-Aboriginals formed the majority. The
fairly even mix of Aboriginals and non-Aboriginals at La Ronge represented an unusual situation
in northern Saskatchewan. The CCF refused to spend much money on La Ronge, leaving it with
inadequate services, while it helped build the mining community of Uranium City almost
overnight, providing it with an extensive infrastructure, hospital, and high school. Creighton,
another mining community, also far surpassed most northern communities in development under
the CCF. Private industry developed Island Falls. The disparity in development existed largely
because the Uranium City and Creighton areas generated substantial tax and royalty revenues for
the province, while La Ronge and Aboriginal communities drained provincial coffers. CCF
spending on northern communities was often directly related to the amount the government
collected there.

La Ronge had long served as a trading, mission, and educational centre. A survey of 316
acres in 1920 divided about two miles of lakeshore east of the Indian reserve. The HBC and Indian
Affairs received much of the approximately 150 acres considered suitable for development. In
turn, Indian Affairs allowed the Anglican residential school to locate on its land. By 1944, about
twenty-four families lived in the community, while many Indians and Metis lived nearby. The
Anglican mission and school, two stores, a DNR officer, and an RCMP officer provided services.”

Seeing excellent potential for tourism and various forms of resource development, the CCF
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wanted to expand La Ronge. DNR consequently bought land from the HBC and Indian Affairs and
laid out a townsite. A survey of part of the settlement created residential lots measuring sixty-five
by 130 feet, allowing room for a garden or chickens. By 1946, the CCF provided a filleting plant,
sawmill, air service, and two-way radio service. It aggressively assumed many of the former roles
of the Anglican Church and the HBC and imposed its plans. The CCF consulted only minimally
with local people, who disapproved of much of what the new government did. Its efforts to have
the Anglican school removed proved controversial, but after the school burned, the issue seemed
to disappear. The Anglicans’ Rev. Fisher thought the fish plant brought negative changes,
including increased drinking, and fear existed that a pool room and dance hall would follow,
adding further harmful influences. People also questioned DNR’s town and road layout plans. For
a time, only a miserable road extended through the settlement, not following the survey plan.
Community people as early as 1946 showed interest in local government, but DNR kept control.
A race-based class structure grew, with many of the dominant white people viewing Aboriginals
as problematic. Whites expressed fear that Aboriginals would not properly care for a hypothetical
community hall, and one person even wanted to see treatment of books at a future library to prevent
transmission of disease.”

Even though the CCF used La Ronge as its base within the North and DNR held
responsibility for local government there, the province spent little on developing the community,
except for administration purposes. It provided a new administration building to house the
Northern District office, Saskatchewan Government Airways, and the radio monitoring station, and
two field officer residences. A new four-room school operated by 1948.5

La Ronge had great potential as a tourism, business, and governmental centre, and many
private persons showed interest in investing there. Yet the CCF put up obstacles to development,
repeatedly turning away interested parties. This occurred partly because the CCF protected some
existing businesses but primarily because of the CCF’s failure to provide badly needed
development land.*® The federal government and the HBC still owned much of the land in the
townsite, and the CCF’s fish plant polluted an area of the lake shore, preventing development there.
Further limits on development existed since the Indian Reserve lay to the west, muskeg to the
north, and the lake to the south. While some in government occasionally spoke about establishing
anew townsite in a more suitable location, this never occurred. Instead, DNR’s surveyor Bereskin
and others in government made various effor’ts‘ to squeeze development into the existing limited
space. Several transfers of land from Ottawa to the province took place by the early 1950s,

helping ease the congestion somewhat. Land obtained included the former Anglican school site.
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Bereskin suggested the creative solution of laying out about 200 lots on Kitsakie Island, about
1,200 feet from the townsite. He visualized a bridge, causeway, or ferry link to the mainland, but
the development never happened.”

DNR community planning at La Ronge also proved inadequate and haphazard, further
hurting development. While it offered the Metis only half-sized leased lots, the CCF allowed a few
business people to dominate much of the lakeshore. Outfitters leased prime lake front land for low-
density, poor-quality development, largely shutting out cottagers. Red Boardman, a tourism
operator, leased prime lakefront land, formerly set aside by DNR as public reserve for a public park
and camping site. A less fortunate entrepreneur, Vic Peterson, leased sodden swamp land, where
he located four modest cabins and an outhouse. Others waited for development land. By 1951,
A. K. Quandt, who had left DNR, had waited about three years for approval of a business lease.”®

M. A. Welsh, district sanitary officer, kindly depicted La Ronge as having “a bad case of

”

growing pains.” A more candid description would have called it governmental neglect. The
townsite lacked a safe water supply and an adequate sewage and garbage disposal system; a risk
of typhoid or dysentery existed. As elsewhere in the North, Aboriginal sled dogs were a “scourge,”
fending for themselves in the summer when their masters did not use them. Welsh saw DNR as
an obstacle to improvements, since he understood that DNR planned not to spend more on
settlements than it collected in taxes. DNR already spent much more on La Ronge than it raised
there. La Ronge still lacked local government and had a low potential to generate tax revenue.”

DNR'’s tight control and inadequate administration of La Ronge continued for many years.
By the mid 1950s, the CCF tired of its responsibilities there and decided that La Ronge should
incorporate as a village. It then wanted this change to happen quickly. DNR’s minister even
supported a plan to threaten the local ratepayers association with an increase in the education mill
rate to force its hand. A plebiscite approved incorporation, and the village began effective August
1, 1955. The change meant that villagers elected councillors, and the village took over garbage
collection, taxation, assets, and liabilities. The province kept control of public reserves until
1958.%

While La Ronge grew and offered a relatively large range of services, becoming the
regional centre, the CCF failed to provide substantial aid. Yet the new local government lacked
the tax base to adequately develop the community. As aresult, La Ronge continued without water,
sewer, and other facilities. Possibly most surprisingly, this centre did not even have a hospital until
1960. At that time, La Ronge had a population of about 568, while 884 lived nearby in a Metis

area and on reserves. The residents of many outlying settlements also relied on La Ronge as a

-61-



service centre.®

The situation seemed to brighten for La Ronge in the 1960s. Following a multi-year
project to drain a muskeg area, DNR approved village plans to expand to the north in 1964. The
land provided space for a school and housing. By 1963, DNR also offered lots for lease at a new
development just south of La Ronge, known as Air Ronge. The CCF undoubtedly made many
contributions to the La Ronge area by 1964. Yet it could have done much more.® Inadequate
development planning and a low level of spending handicapped the village. As aresult, La Ronge
remained badly underdeveloped with glaring shortcomings, particularly for its Aboriginal
population.

Sharply contrasting with its miserly spending at L.a Ronge, the CCF created a new modern
town on the north shore of Lake Athabasca. Goldfields, bustling in the 1930s, had unincorporated
and become a ghost town after the Box Mine closed in 1942. The federal crown corporation
Eldorado began exploratory work for radioactive minerals in the area in 1946, and with the
discovery of uranium, the area quickly developed. Goldfields briefly revived, butin 1952 the CCF
began to build Uranium City at a central location. The CCF controlled development, aiming “to
control or eliminate the establishment of company towns in the north.” The Beaverlodge Local
Development Area encompassed the mining area, although DNR also had a resident administrator
there. The CCF rapidly provided infrastructure, including electricity, a new four-room school, and
a hospital.”®

The Uranium City area boomed, employing about 1,500 persons in exploration and mining
construction by early 1953. Pacific Western Airlines (PWA) flew in daily from Edmonton and
three Saskatchewan Government Airways (SGA) flights per week from Prince Albert brought
workers. The newcomers included many Europeans, making Uranium City an ethnic “melting
pot.” It soon had many businesses, located on lots leased from the province. A 1955 report
requested by the CCF cabinet projected a potential population of 8,000 and recommended the
immediate construction of a twenty-five bed hospital and a water and sewer system. Both projects
quickly proceeded. Area mines, including Gunnar and Eldorado, also provided housing and other
facilities. With the province’s blessing, the Municipal Corporation of Uranium City and District
began in 1956, looking after municipal, hospital, and education matters, operating quite
independently.* Only four years after its founding, the infrastructure and facilities at Uranium
City far surpassed those of La Ronge.

The CCF tried to reserve Uranium City for tax-paying residents. Aboriginal squatters had

presented a problem, but by 1953 government relocated them outside the hamlet limits. Concern
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resurfaced in 1956 about Aboriginals, who lived in nearby tent camps and other bush dwellings.
A provincial report called for a program to control Aboriginal settlement. Its authors thought
Aboriginals lacked the preparation to integrate into the community and viewed them as an
economic and social threat. The province feared Indians and Metis would raise the area’s low
welfare costs and that “unemployables and undesirables” would become a burden.”® The CCF
quite successfully helped exclude Aboriginals from the area, creating a white, prosperous
microcosm of the South.

Another major area of white settlement grew on the Saskatchewan side of the border near
Flin Flon, Manitoba and its Hudson Bay Mining and Smelting Company operation. The CCF spent
little on this area, instead relying on Manitoba and the mining company to provide much of the care
for Saskatchewan residents there. Several settlements sprang up since many workers preferred to
live on the Saskatchewan side. About 350 persons lived in the unorganized “tin and shanty town”
of Tobacco Road. The CCF leased the area to the Community Development Company of Flin
Flon, which provided fire, police, health, road upkeep, and other services.® In 1953-1954, the
Boundary Area amalgamated with FlinFlon.*” Another settlement grew nearby at Creighton. DNR
surveyed lots there following “scientific community planning.” It leased, rather than sold, the lots
to prevent speculation and land price inflation. Over the years, the mining company paid many of
the costs, including for education and a water and sewer system. Creighton incorporated as the
first northern village in 1952, relieving DNR of local government responsibilities. It became a
town by 1958. The population of Creighton and the Boundary Area rose to 2,287 in 1961 B A
resort community at nearby Denare Beach provided recreation for workers from Flin Flon and
Creighton and a home for some Aboriginals. DNR kept strict control there, resisting efforts to
develop local authority.”

Throughout the North, the CCF applied its socialist ideology in choosing the details of how
it forced northerners into settlements. The CCF vision saw Aboriginals living in state-owned
communities, working at state-owned and co-operative industries. In socialist fashion the CCF
retained state ownership of most of the land on which it placed northerners. The CCF often
refused to sell land, insisting on leases instead. It also worked to take over some already titled
land, transferred to private parties and the federal government before the province received control
of crown lands in 1930. This policy differed greatly from that used by the CCF in the South, where
private persons commonly owned land. No clear rationale existed for the northern policy, other
than the CCF desire to impose state control and socialism on northerners. The policy had negative

consequences since it limited northern development. Owners of homes and businesses generally
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preferred to own building sites because improvements on leased lots usually had a lower value than
those on titled lots. Additionally, lessees needed government consent to obtain mortgages.”

Although the CCF seemed to relax its controls by 1949, in theory allowing the sale of lots
in surveyed subdivisions, in reality, restrictive lease policies continued. DNR persisted in signing
leases in community after community. By 1961 the CCF adopted a policy not to sell land in new
subdivisions in recreational areas. The policies led to an irate confrontation at the Denare Beach
Ratepayer’s Association meeting.”' Inconsistent and excessively restrictive policies also deterred
business investment, preventing northerners from improving communities and building an
economic base. Business had to lobby for dévelopment approval, not knowing what arbitrary rules
the CCF might dream up. Not surprisingly in view of the obstacles created by the CCF, DNR’s
Municipal Supervisor Bague described the North in 1961 as economically sick.” In some cases,
DNR proved willing to make minor variations in its lease policies, while maintaining general strict
control.”

As part of the nucleation process, the CCF tried to make Aboriginals pay lease fees and
taxes. Even though government received tax and royalty revenues from ores, timber, fish, and fur,
it did not include this income in judging whether northerners paid their “fair share.” DNR’s R. G.
Young, seemingly in response to a CCF cabinet inquiry, studied this issue in 1953. He found that,
with the inclusion of mining royalties, government income from the North stood much above
expenditures, but he argued against counting mining income in the analysis. According to his
estimate, the province would spend about $600,000 on various programs in one year. Not counting
mining revenue, it would collect up to $200,000, including property taxes, sales tax, non-mining
royalties, and license fees. This left a shortfall of about $400,000. Young thought the main
demand on funds came from Aboriginals, not from industrious and self-sufficient whites. He wrote
that maybe cabinet should have asked whether “individual cultural groups were paying their way.”
In his view, Metis blew their money on liquor, lacked technical knowledge, and would experience
“retrogression” resulting in a further financial drain. A lack of social stigma for not paying taxes
also worked against CCF plans to have Aboriginals accept the responsibility of making payments
to government. Even imprisonment for ignoring tax liabilities did not carry a stigma within the
Aboriginal community.” Young’s fear of increased expenditures came true when northern
spending for six departments rose from $705,113in 1951-52 t0 $1,270,105 in 1954-55. DNR spent
over one-half of this amount, while Education, Health, and Welfare together expended less than
did DNR.”

In order to minimize resistance to nucleation, the CCF used various tactics. Wanting
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Aboriginals to move from the status of squatter to that of paying lease or permit holder, the CCF
only gradually increased controls, trying not to create enough of an obstacle to prevent movement
to settlements. It kept lease rates low and varied these by ability to pay. DNR began a system of
basing lease charges on the classification of communities as developed, semi-developed, or
undeveloped. This method designated communities which depended on fish and fur as
undeveloped, keeping their lease rates low and encouraging Aboriginal movement to the
settlements. Protest arose within DNR though. A. T. Davidson wrote “It is a poor policy to
continue to force the white residents to pay high taxes and lease rentals just to make up for the non-
payment by Metis in the same community.” Progress towards having Aboriginals pay fees
remained slow. By 1956 only about one-quarter of residents in some settlements paid lease or
permit fees. Those living the “white man’s standards” paid fees and taxes while those living the
“native way” paid little.”

To facilitate property taxation, the Saskatchewan Assessment Commission assessed
northern communities, starting by 1948. As with leases, the CCF tried to gradually ease
Aboriginals into accepting this new responsibility, using an “introductory educational form of
taxation.” It raised taxes for “relatively advanced communities” to “more realistic levels” by
1954.” Further increasing the obligations of Aboriginals, the CCF introduced school taxes, and
by 1955 most northern communities had educational levies based on property assessments and
ability to pay. To the CCF, the principle of having Aboriginals pay seemed to matter more than
the amount collected. The education tax paid only about three percent of the cost of northern
education in 1956.” Aboriginals continued to resist paying property taxes late in the CCF era,
limiting the success of CCF efforts to exert control and order in the new settlements. Because of
the pervasive poverty, the CCF found it could do little to enforce the collection of taxes. Ile a la
Crosse paid only $637.77 of the levy of $1,765.55 in 1960, Cumberland House only $580.29 of
$1,127.30 in 1962, and Sandy Bay only $139.40 of $545.40 in 1962.” As part of its effort to
regulate northerners, the CCF also applied and collected various fees from northerners, including
marginal businesses.

The CCF did not collect enough in local levies to fund northern needs. Yet only by
omitting from their calculations the millions paid into provincial coffers through royalties and taxes
on mining, forestry, fish, and fur could the CCF view the North as a welfare case. Since the CCF
gave little back to the North, most communities could not meet even the most basic needs.
Nucleation moved Aboriginals to villages, where they encountered severe governmental neglect.

In another effort to order and control the formerly migrant population, the CCF surveyed
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northern settlements. Controller of Surveys A. I. Bereskin took over most survey work from
DNR'’s Construction Branch. He held great independent power, deciding priorities and schedules
for surveys and designing and planning communities. Development needs in the larger
predominantly white communities often took priority over the surveys of Aboriginal settlements,
although the CCF also made sure to survey the rapidly growing Aboriginal villages. In one case
in 1947, Northern Administrator Wheaton pressed for a survey at Snake Lake for families moving
there to avoid having “just that many more squatters on our hands.”*

Aboriginals sometimes resisted CCF survey plans. Resistance rose in 1950 when Bereskin
set out to survey a townsite at the scattered Metis and Indian settlement of Sandy Bay. He aimed
to begin “a more orderly program of development.” The settlement extended for more than one-
half mile along the Churchill River’s shore, with houses following no apparent system of
placement. Most local people did not want the survey, preferring to live on unsurveyed land to
paying leases and taxes. It seemed many would move to the bush before paying fees. Bereskin
gave up in frustration, surveying only a small townsite, including the DNR, school, hospital, and
Roman Catholic church areas and a ten-lot residential “test block.”! Resistance also arose at Stony
Rapids, where people resented landscape changes designed by “city planners from the south.”®

Some northern communities, including Ile a 1a Crosse, Buffalo Narrows, and Cumberland
House, had old surveys dating back to before the CCF era. In these cases, government had issued
titles, but residents had not bothered with the legal paperwork when owners died or sold property.
Most property owners also had fallen many years into arrears in the payment of property taxes.
The destruction of survey markers and random placement of buildings further eroded the system.
In these communities, the CCF aggressively worked to institute control, carrying out resurveys and
restoring tax collection. Cumberland House provides one of the more dramatic examples of the
CCF exerting authority in pre-existing communities. Residents there had received titles to
surveyed lots from the federal government in 1911, and the HBC also sold land. By the time the
CCF came to power, the survey, land registration, and taxation systems had broken down. DNR
took control, filing tax liens, taking over all properties, resurveying the area, and then giving lots
to the residents. By 1956, the CCF restored order there, aiding in its plans to modernize and
assimilate residents.®

The CCF also extended its governance to those who did not move to communities or who
still spent some time away from villages. By 1949, trappers and others could no longer build
remote cabins wherever they wanted, without first securing occupation permits. DNR also sought

to regulate existing buildings in the northern bush. It turned its attention to about eighteen
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scattered sites, including cabins, a store, and the Evangelical Mission, along the road south of La
Ronge and the east side of Montreal Lake in 1953. Control increased as the CCF era progressed.®

The CCF movement of Aboriginals to settlements and subsequent attempts to regulate
them there formed part of a CCF effort to assimilate northern Aboriginals into white society.
Although efforts to nucleate Aboriginals proved quite successful, CCF plans for assimilation
largely failed. CCF politicians and administrators became frustrated with Aboriginals and their
seeming refusal to give up their distinct ways, even once within the settlements. Doris Shackleton,
Tommy Douglas’ biographer, wrote “The darkest problem facing Douglas, and the one he was least
able to solve, was the degradation of the Indian people of Saskatchewan.”® Although other factors
contributed to the degradation, in the view of the CCF, Aboriginal culture played a major role in
this. Aboriginals resisted accepting the Euro-Canadian culture and giving up their own culture.
The growth of two societies and a northern population explosion also blocked assimilation.

Aboriginals remained distinct and separate from their social superiors, the white
government employees who operated the CCF northern colonial system. Additionally, many white
persons who did not work for the government went north, where they joined a large and distinct
white society. If anything, the presence of a larger number of non-Aboriginals made the line
between Aboriginal and white society more pronounced. The situation with women was little
different from men. Most white women in the North lived a middle class life style, in contrast to
the poverty of Aboriginal women. White women commonly accompanied their husbands, who
went north to work for mining companies or government. Many southern women, single and
married, also worked at professions, most commonly nursing or teaching, in the North.

Two societies grew up in the North. Even while US civil rights issues headlined
Saskatchewan’s newscasts, discrimination openly persisted in the North. The CCF knew of this
situation. Outspoken CCF MLA W. J. Berezowsky recognized the two societies in 1952. He saw
“class or racial distinction and prejudice” where whites deemed themselves a “superior people.”
Aboriginals wanted acceptance by whites, who ignored them. Berezowsky wrote “Only a few
whites who have resided in a community for a lengthy period or who are idealists, treat these
people as equals on occasion.” The CCF largely ignored the blatant racism in its own back yard
and did not effectively deal with the situation.

Barriers between Aboriginals and whites increased in the 1950s when mining attracted
thousands of white people to the area. Whites, who often knew little about Aboriginals, considered
themselves morally superior and disapproved of much Aboriginal behavior. In a blatant effort to

keep Aboriginals away, Uranium City had a “one-mile exclusion zone” where Aboriginals could
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not put up tents or build houses.”’ V.F. Valentine, DNR’s anthropologist, likened the relationship
between Indians and whites to a caste system, with the white man in the ruling caste. He described
Metis as “outcasts,” with little mobility possible out of their group. Some whites thought of
Aboriginals as lazy and as having lower intelligence. Fearing lowered academic standards and
contagious disease, they also did not want their children to attend school with Aboriginals.® A
1958 government report said that many people, including numerous government employees,
perpetuated the myth of Metis as a “shiftless lot” unable to care for themselves.*

Most who spent time in the North can describe the two societies in the communities they
knew. J. E. M. Kew, a DNR anthropologist who lived at Cumberland House in 1960, reported that
the people were separated by ethnic prejudice, power, and economic position. DNR officers and
store managers stood at the top of the social ladder, with teachers, missionaries, RCMP, nurses,
and other whites having lesser status and authority. While they formed a small minority, white
people had all ten phones in the community. Using censure, whites pressured other whites to
follow the rules of social segregation. A teacher who crossed the line was transferred.
Intermarriage between whites and Aboriginals often brought increased status to the Aboriginal
partner, while the white spouse risked losing status. Even though the churches and some in the
CCF protested against the caste-like system, the upper class resisted and delayed change.*

Possibly the most startling tale of two societies came from the communities of Island Falls
and Sandy Bay on the Churchill River. There, a hydro-electric dam generated power for the
Hudson Bay Mining and Smelting mine and mill at Flin Flon. About forty white employees and
their families, a total of about 200 people, lived in the company town of Island Falls. They lived
in luxurious company houses, including some about 1,800 square feet in size, with hardwood
floors, french doors, and electric heat. Community facilities included a recreation centre,
swimming pool, golf course, skating rink, and curling rink. Metis and Treaty Indians settled at
nearby Sandy Bay, largely to obtain employment at the dam. About eighty Aboriginal men
laboured for the company at menial and unskilled jobs. They could not use the Island Falls
facilities, and the company store did not allow Aboriginal customers past the counter, allegedly
because white women did not want to shop with Aboriginals. After Cree customers protested, the
company set up a separate store for them. Many Sandy Bay residents lived in unmodern shacks,
and, even though the power plant stood about one mile away, they lived without electricity until
1958.°1

The discrimination and racism at Island Falls and Sandy Bay continued with the knowledge

of the CCF. It failed to intervene. In 1957, CCF Member of Parliament A. M. Nicholson saw little
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government interest in improving housing, providing electricity, or dealing with social problems.”
The situation remained much the same when DNR anthropologist Walter Hlady studied Sandy Bay
in the late 1950s. He thought the company set the tone of segregation except where necessary for
work and to give the “impression that apartheid does not exist.” In his view, alcohol helped the
Aboriginals relieve the feeling of being second-class citizens. Men, women, and teenagers spent
weekends partying, spending much of their income on alcohol. Families also drank about one-half
gallon of homebrewed “molly” per day. Hlady described drinking and sex as the primary
recreational activities.”” Robin F. Badgley of the U of S found northern discrimination “most
clearly crystallized” there, with residential, recreational, educational, medical, and even religious
discrimination. The power company educated white children and owned its own clinic. Island
Falls also received religious services from Father Thibodeau separate from those at Sandy Bay.*
Although many people pointed out northern racism, the CCF simply ignored it.

Rapid growth in the Aboriginal population also stood in the way of achieving CCF goals.
This expansion made already tenuous CCF plans even less likely to succeed. The number of
persons in the North more than doubled under the CCF, from roughly 8,500 in 1944 to about
18,000 in 1964. During the same period, in contrast, the southern population changed little in size.
The northern population increase came from two primary sources: a high rate of natural increase
among Aboriginals and the influx of white people to the area. By 1958 the northern population
of about 16,500 included about 4,400 Treaty Indians, 4,600 Metis, and 7,500 whites, located in
seven areas. Athabasca Region had the largest population, with about 4,500 residents, while only
about fifty persons lived in the Cree Lake area. The other areas fell somewhere in between.”
Population growth within the Aboriginal community occurred at least partly due to CCF
interventions, including the CCF nucleation projects. The unpredicted expansion of the Aboriginal
population added a new and overwhelming dimension to northern problems.

The dramaticrise in population occurred both among whites and Aboriginals. Yetthe CCF
approved of growth in white numbers, while expansion of the Aboriginal community caused great
alarm. Most white people who came north worked in the mining industry or for government, and,
since they paid taxes and did not depend on welfare, did not worry the CCF. The largest number
of non-Aboriginals concentrated in the Uranium City area, where the population rose from 250 in
1946 to about 4,500 by 1959. Similarly, the Creighton mining area grew from 129in 192110 2,576
in 1961. Power generation at Island Falls added several hundred more white people to the North.
In contrast, the population increase in the Aboriginal community distressed the CCF. Yet the CCF

contributed to the population expansion with its nucleation and other interventionist policies.
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Population growth resulted from the decreased infant mortality and increased life expectancy made
possible by the improved health services Aboriginals received in villages. Various government
payments also acted as incentives to have children, helping ensure that the pre-existing high birth
rate would not fall even when more infants survived childhood. Infant mortality fell from an
average of 109 per 1,000 in the 1952-1956 period to sixty-two per 1,000 in the 1957-1961 period.
Since the Indian infant death rate still stood at about four times that for non-Indians, population
growth could accelerate more as infant mortality fell further.*®

The rate of natural increase in the North rose from 24.6 per 1,000 population in 1952 to
38.3 per 1,000 in 1961, more than double the rate in the South. Northern Saskatchewan’s birth rate
of forty-six per 1,000 population in 1961 stood only a little behind that of Guatemala, which at
forty-nine per 1,000 had the highest rate shown in a United Nations survey. West side
communities showed a 52.5% increase in the Indian and Metis population from 1951 to 1961, or
an average annual increase of 5.3%. This raised the Aboriginal population there from 2,433 to
3,694. Growth accelerated further, with the highest rates of natural increase occurring from 1959
to 1965.”

While improvements in health care played a large role in the growth of the Aboriginal
population, stimulus to have large families came from family allowance and welfare programs.
Cheques increased with family size, and even small payments became important as the CCF shifted
the society to a cash basis.”® The Catholic church, the principal northern church, also likely added
to the population increase by prohibiting birth control. Government and medical practitioners,
although alarmed about the high birth rate, did not aggressively push birth control until the late
1960s. Additionally, a relative lack of stigma among Aboriginals about illegitimacy added to
population growth. Many unmarried women gave birth. The CCF saw a crisis in illegitimacy, and
its Northern Advisory Committee spoke of “twisted domestic relationships,” “drinking, loose-
living and gambling,” and of men fathering children by several women. In one year, eleven
unmarried “girls,” aged fourteen to twenty-five, expected children in one settlement. Indian births
in 1958 included 27.4% classed as illegitimate, compared to 3.1% for the rest of the population.”

Population growth greatly contributed to the worsening economic situation in Aboriginal
communities. Pete Tompkins, a DNR employee, wrote “The Neetows are breeding like mink and
the population is mounting by leaps and bounds and as a result the fishing trapping etc are over
crowded. . . . no one seems to know the remedy.”'® Along with the CCF failure to help
Aboriginals move into new occupations, the population increase pushed northerners into welfare

dependency. Some came to fear the growing population. G. Kinneard of Public Health, saw the

-70-



growing Aboriginal population as a “serious threat to peace.”'!

Two decades of CCF control accelerated the change from life in the bush to village
residence for northern Aboriginals. The CCF worked aggressively to make this happen. Only in
the confined space of settlements could it effectively modernize and assimilate Aboriginals and
teach them the principles of socialism. Its pursuit of these goals did not allow the CCF to tolerate
Aboriginals continuing to live unregulated lives on the land. The CCF added new settlements and
expanded existing ones to house the formerly mobile population. The CCF then gradually
introduced the responsibilities of the Euro-Canadian lifestyle to Aboriginals.

The CCF aimed for complete assimilation of northern Aboriginals, wanting to eliminate
distinctions within the Aboriginal group and between Aboriginals and whites. Yet, even though
Aboriginals moved to settlements, discrimination and racism grew, adding to the existence of a
society deeply split by race and class. This rift worked against assimilation. An explosion of the
northern Aboriginal population also contributed to the failure of CCF plans for assimilating
Aboriginals. Instead of becoming fewer and less distinct, Aboriginals grew in number and
increasingly became a separate force. Contrary to CCF hopes, northern Aboriginals would not
become modern, assimilated socialists in one generation.

While vital to CCF plans, nucleation formed only one part of the new government’s
strategy to bring modernization, assimilation, and socialism to the North. In order to reach these
goals, the North also needed a new and adequate infrastructure. Since it served as both the local
and provincial government, the CCF held responsibility for providing much of this. Exploring the
CCF record in the provision of infrastructure can help understand the CCF and its plans for the

North.
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Chapter Four

ENTIRELY OUT OF THE QUESTION

CCF plans for the North made providing a modern infrastructure system urgent and
imperative. Without an updated infrastructure, the CCF could not adequately apply its policies,
modernization, assimilation, and socialization would not take place, and northern wealth would
remain beyond the reach of government and industry. The Aboriginal movement to settlements
and the growing northern population added further demand for numerous services. The provision
of anorthern infrastructure fell to the CCF. It held responsibility for local, regional, and provincial
governance in the North. It also discouraged private investment and preferred government
enterprise, limiting private infrastructure development. Yet while wanting to remake the North,
the CCF ironically refused to devote the necessary resources for this to succeed. The northern
infrastructure remained severely limited when the CCF left office after twenty years. A CCF lack
of spending in this area inevitably contributed to underdevelopment and poverty and the failure to
realize the potential of the North and its people. With the exception of several white communities,
the lack of an adequate infrastructure affected practically all aspects of northern life, making life
unnecessarily difficult for Aboriginals and whites.

The CCF socialist orientation influenced its approach to building northern infrastructure.
Because of ideological opposition to private development, the CCF often refused to provide private
industry with the support facilities needed for large-scale, high quality development in tourism,
forestry, and mining. The CCF frequently opposed the entry of private capital. Industry also did
not trust the CCF, preferring to operate in more favourable political climates. Exceptions included
the federally-promoted uranium development in the Lake Athabasca area where a number of
private companies thrived along with the federal crown corporation, Eldorado. In most areas of
the North though, private enterprise could not afford to operate because of the lack of
infrastructure.

The CCF colonial mentality also affected northern infrastructure development, both within
the communities to which Aboriginals moved and elsewhere. While the CCF claimed to have the

interests of northerners at heart, it refused to spend the money necessary to allow them to live in
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decent conditions. The CCF decision to entrust DNR with most infrastructure development helped
create a colonial situation and limited development. The CCF gave DNR only meagre resources
to work with, while saddling it with the task of providing roads, docks, safe water, community and
recreational facilities, electricity, and communications.

Northern communications routes traditionally ran largely east and west, following the
water routes. This situation continued in 1944, when four main water trade routes existed. One,
from Black Lake to Fort McMurray, Alberta, traversed Lake Athabasca and the rivers at each end.
Another ran from Lac la Loche to Green Lake, via Buffalo Narrows, Beauval, and the Beaver
River. A third route allowed travel from Stanley Mission to Lac la Ronge and then to Montreal
Lake. Finally, a fourth led from Reindeer Lake to the Churchill, then down the Sturgeon Weir to
the Saskatchewan and on to The Pas, Manitoba. All four routes connected to road or rail systems,
although two did so outside the province. People also used the water as winter highways, when
the frozen surface carried dog teams and sleds and much heavier caterpillar trains laden with
goods.

Northern Saskatchewan presented a picture of underdevelopment in 1944. No all-season
roads penetrated the region, giving the water routes ongoing importance. As a result, many
northerners dealt more with centres in Manitoba and Alberta than with those in southern
Saskatchewan. Unlike its neighboring provinces, northern Saskatchewan also had no railroads in
1944. Without rail transportation, economical extraction of ores and forest resources could not
take place. Airplanes had revolutionized northern transportation by 1944. Yet air transportation
suffered from serious limitations, since residents and industry could not afford to use airplanes as
a substitute for roads and railways. Air travel did help government administer the North and
proved invaluable in cases of medical emergency. The North had a limited telegraph system on
the west side prior to 1944, but most areas had no access to telegraph, radio, or telephone
communication. Many northerners had never seen an electric light. While southerners expected
and received access to the provincial electrical grid, power lines did not reach the North. For
drinking water, northerners relied on water scooped from lakes and rivers. This system worked
well prior to nucleation in settlements and accompanying pollution of the water supply. In the pre-
settlement days, northerners did not need sewage or garbage disposal facilities and these did not
exist in most areas, even after villages developed. Northern communities had no form of
representative or responsible local government. The justice system also remained rudimentary in
1944. Representatives of southern justice usually flew in from outside when situations became

urgent. The CCF saw much room for improvement of the northern infrastructure when it took
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power. In order to modernize the North and create a viable economy there, the CCF planned to
devote large resources to building a new infrastructure.

In its first years in office, it appeared that the CCF would open up the North to extract
minerals and timber. J. T. Douglas, the first CCF Minister of Highways, wanted to build roads to
La Ronge, Ile a la Crosse, and Flin Flon. In 1947 the CCF claimed to have under development a
“long-range plan” to provide access to all northern areas with development potential.! Yet, faced
with high costs, CCF interest in northern resource development soon waned. The CCF then
contented itself with easy royalty pickings from several profitable mining areas which relied on
Manitoba and Alberta infrastructure. Soon building northern roads held little priority for the CCF.
When J. T. Douglas retired in 1960, road construction remained largely stalled. Not a single road
crossed the Churchill River, while many resource-rich northern areas had no road within hundreds
of miles. Ironically, while the CCF refused to build the necessary northern road system,
Saskatchewan constructed more miles of roads in the South than did any other province.

Northern Saskatchewan missed out on much development by not having a more extensive
road system. Some, including DNR Deputy Minister J. W. Churchman, failed to recognize the
importance of road access for mining exploration. Unambitiously, he seemed content to rely on
water, rail, and air connections to Manitoba and Alberta.” In 1956, Northern Administrator C. S.
Brown realistically described inaccessibility as “a major and obvious deterrent to resource
utilization and industrial development in northern Saskatchewan.”® Economic development of ore
bodies and of forestry resources required access, and most areas did not have the option of dealing
with the road and rail systems found in adjoining provinces. Mining exploration and logging made
little sense hundreds of miles from roads, since most companies could not afford to build the
needed access.

Under the CCF, benefits from the two main northern mining developments flowed out of
the province. The lack of a road to the Lake Athabasca area meant that supplies for Uranium City
came primarily from Alberta, carried by barge from Waterways, Alberta. While Saskatchewan
Government Airways provided scheduled air service from Prince Albert to Stony Rapids and
Uranium City, Uranium City’s main air link joined it to Edmonton. Pacific Western flights carried
uranium, supplies, workers, and money. Stony Rapids, a regional government centre, and other
communities in the Athabasca area also obtained most of their supplies from Alberta. Farther
south on the west side, La Loche’s Aboriginals walked to the railhead at Waterways, Alberta.

In a similar situation on the east side, the Creighton and Beaver Lake area relied on close

ties to Manitoba, with Creighton just across the border from Flin Flon and its mine. Manitoba
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benefitted greatly from the mine, even though, for a time, nearly ninety percent of the ore
processed came from Saskatchewan. Electricity to drive the mill also came from Saskatchewan,
from Island Falls on the Churchill River.* Only Manitoba provided road and rail access to the area,
ensuring that most supplies came from Manitoba. Manitoba’s roads and railways carried Reindeer
Lake, Beaver Lake, and Cumberland House fish to market. Residents from numerous communities
travelled to Flin Flon or The Pas, Manitoba for secondary education, shopping, medical care, and
entertainment.

One of the CCF’s main road building achievements was the completion of the road to La
Ronge, already begun before WW II. La Ronge, which formerly had access only by winter road,
became the first major northern community to receive an all-weather road. The army built the first
bridge over the Montreal River at La Ronge in 1944-1945 as a training exercise. Even after the
road saw completion in 1947, it still could take about eleven hours to cover the 185 rough miles
to Prince Albert. Washouts frequently stopped travel in the spring.’ A winter road along the east
side of Bittern Lake to Montreal Lake opened in 1947-1948, shortening the distance from Prince
Albert to La Ronge, but the CCF never developed this route into an all-weather road. The indirect
route through Waskesiu remained the only reliable route to La Ronge during the CCF era.®

The CCF tried repeatedly to secure federal funding for roads--if not have Ottawa assume
complete responsibility for road-building projects. In 1952, for example, J. H. Brockelbank
approached Ottawa for help with two roads. A proposed highway from Beauval to L.a Loche would
serve over 2,600 people and open up fishing, lumber production, tourism, and mining exploration.
If built, a road north of La Ronge would initially reach Nemeiben Lake and eventually access the
mineral and pulp potential of the Churchill Valley. Brockelbank also thought roads would help
the government assimilate Aboriginals. After Ottawa denied the request, because it considered the
resources unproven, the CCF gave the projects little priority, working only slowly on the roads.’

The CCF also refused to devote much money for local mine access roads, generally only
offering to pay up to one-third of the cost.® Saskatchewan, Ottawa, and Nisto Mines shared the
cost of building the first mining road in 1950.° The Uranium City area, isolated from the outside,
also needed local roads. Ottawa, Saskatchewan, and the mines shared the approximate $150,000
cost of building a fifteen-mile access from Black Bay to Eldorado and other mines. Yet Gunnar
Mine remained isolated in 1960 for lack of a nine-mile road. Ottawa insisted the mine pay one-
third of the cost. The mine refused, and Saskatchewan would not pay the entire cost.'

While the CCF spoke of modernizing and developing the North, its actions contradicted

its words. Frustration and failure usually resulted when northerners petitioned the CCF to build
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roads. Buffalo Narrows residents approached the CCF in 1951 for the extension of Highway #4
from Ile a la Crosse to Buffalo Narrows. Winter travel over unsafe ice, which resulted in lost lives,
gave urgency to the request. J. H. Brockelbank wrote in response “we must remember that there
are limits to the amount of money that can be spent for roads.” Overlooking the large royalties
government collected, he claimed they did not collect much tax revenue in the North and held out
little hope for quick construction." Work finally began on the road in 1954-1955, and with
impatient ratepayers pushing, completion of the 167-mile-long road from Meadow Lake took place
in 1956. Yet construction did not include bridges over the Beaver River or across Keizies channel
near Buffalo Narrows. A new bridge across the Beaver River ended ferry service there in 1962,
but the CCF refused to spend the money to build a bridge at Keizies channel.'?

The CCF also proved unresponsive to the needs of the rapidly growing Dene population
at La Loche. While La Loche residents petitioned for a road as early as 1950, Churchman, DNR’s
assistant deputy minister, considered this “entirely out of the question.” He also questioned the
validity of the petition, since all signatures appeared in the same handwriting. Someone likely
signed for those who did not know how to sign their name, a common practice at the time. Faced
with CCF inaction, local people took the initiative and began building a road to Buffalo Narrows.
They quit after clearing several miles, overwhelmed by the enormity of the task of building a road
by hand. C. S. Brown, DNR’s Northern Administrator, repeatedly tried to obtain money to “grub
stake” the local crew, but his superiors refused to help. Eventually, the CCF built a winter road
by 1960, which helped reduce the cost of goods. The road remained unfinished when the CCF left
office in 1964."

Faced with a lack of CCF interest in opening up the North, local people tried to build a
road to Lake Athabasca. That region dealt mainly with Alberta, and the lack of a road handicapped
development in a large area south of Lake Athabasca. J. F. Midgett, a fish trucker, built a trail to
the Clearwater River by 1954."* A private company then used Chipewyan Indians to help blaze
aroute. Their winter road to Uranium City first saw use in 1955, but it proved disappointing since
it could operate only for a short time in the winter. In 1957, the Buffalo Narrows Ratepayers
Association asked the CCF to study building an all-weather road to Uranium City, for community,
tourism, and resource access.!* The CCF refused to build a west side road to the far North.

Appeals from industry to open up the North also had little effect on the CCF. In 1957, at
a conference on northern development sponsored by the Saskatchewan Chamber of Commerce,
speaker after speaker lamented the lack of access to northern Saskatchewan. Alvin Hamilton, the

new federal Conservative Minister of Northern Affairs and Natural Resources, told the conference
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that he thought development of resources should come first. He disagreed with the emphasis of
the CCF, which he thought preferred to spend money on welfare programs and other services. '

Refusing to support the local efforts to build a west side road to Lake Athabasca, the CCF
proposed a more expensive new route to Uranium City. The road would pass near Foster Lake,
Cree Lake, and Stony Rapids, where it would cross the Fond du Lac River and then follow the
north shore of Lake Athabasca to Uranium City. Although this route encountered more difficult
and costly road building conditions, the CCF preferred this route over the west side route because
it would not dead-end at the south shore of Lake Atahabasca. It could also access minerals, pulp,
fur, fish, and game in a large area.'” Yet, the CCF refused to pay for this road. It built only about
twenty-five of the 505 miles from La Ronge to Uranium City by 1959. Completion of the road
looked doubtful by 1960, due to its high estimated cost of $21,850,000. The 140-mile section from
Stony Rapids to Uranium City alone would cost an estimated $6,720,000.

Demonstrating its lack of commitment to northern development, the CCF then refused to
complete the road unless Ottawa increased its contribution over that agreed to in the recently
signed Roads to Resources agreement. The Roads to Resources program, which also applied to
other provinces, formed part of Ottawa’s renewed interest in northern development under the
Diefenbaker government. DNR Minister Kuziak took credit for the program, claiming he
suggested it to Ottawa. Saskatchewan’s agreement with Ottawa had a maximum value of $15
million, with each party providing one-half of this. Bickering ensued between the two

‘governments when Ottawa counted the value of the Diefenbaker Bridge over the North

Saskatchewan River at Prince Albert as part of the agreement. This removed up to $2.5 million,
and other road projects also used money from the agreement. It seemed that about 400 miles of
the Uranium City road would remain unbuilt. The CCF blamed Ottawa. Kuziak fumed: “The
Federal Government talked much about their Vision in 1957 and 1958, but now this has faded
out.”'® Yet the CCF also refused to commit more money.

With neither government willing to spend the required cash, the CCF wanted to move the
route farther east to access Reindeer Lake. The agreement seemed to have enough money left to
reach Southend, Reindeer Lake. The CCF thought a road to Southend preferable to having the road
end somewhere short of Cree Lake, going nowhere. While Ottawa at first agreed to the change of
route, it then reversed its stand, fearing delay of the road to Uranium City."” Saskatchewan
distrusted Ottawa’s vague suggestion that the needed money would appear, and the Saskatchewan
cabinet authorized changing the route. Construction began. By March of 1962, the road to
Uranium City cost $2,133,000, including the $313,000 bridge over the Churchill. It would cost
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about another three million dollars just to reach Southend, about eighty miles away.? In all the
confusion, the CCF lost sight of its initial goal: to build a road to Lake Athabasca. The rocky and
wet route followed north of La Ronge had much higher road building costs than did the much
gentler terrain north of La Loche. In the end, the CCF refused to build either road to the far North.

The decision to build the road to Southend also made the CCF’s recent development of a
community and filleting plant at Kinoosao on the other side of Reindeer Lake look shortsighted.
The CCF located Kinoosao there because of its proximity to the railhead at Lynn Lake, Manitoba.
Instead of spending money building roads at home, the CCF paid much of the cost of building and
maintaining the sixty-mile road to Lynn Lake, fifty-eight miles of which fell within Manitoba.!

The Roads to Resources agreement originally included the Hanson Lake (Smeaton to Flin
Flon), La Ronge to Uranium City, and Otosquean (Hudson Bay to The Pas) roads. Additions,
without adding any new money, included the Diefenbaker bridge, the road from Squaw Rapids to
Cumberland House, and the access from the Hanson Lake Road to Island Falls. To the end of
1963, expenditures under the program reached about $10,672,700.2 The program never did
include enough money to build all these roads, and neither the CCF nor Ottawa provided the
needed money. Delays in building the vital Hanson Lake Road to the Creighton area also
demonstrated the CCF lack of commitment to northern development. Soon after coming to office,
the CCF began to build this road, while it looked to the federal government for help. Ottawa
refused aid, and work stalled by 1948, even though only 100 of the road’s 230 miles remained
unbuilt. Little happened until 1958, when Ottawa included the road in the Road to Resources
Agreement. The road crossed many streams. The Sturgeon Weir River bridge, with fourteen
spans, became the largest bridge built by DNR. Bob Gooding Jr., the son of DNR’s construction
boss, taught himself to scuba dive to work under water on the bridge supports. The Hanson Lake
road opened in 1962, providing access to Creighton, Flin Flon, Deschambault, Pelican Narrows,
and facilitating tourism, forestry, and mining. But the long construction delay by the CCF limited
development in a large area for most of the CCF era.”

Residents of other east side communities desperately wanted road access to the outside.
The CCF seemed not to care. Lacking aroad to Saskatchewan, Cumberland House residents dealt
with The Pas, Manitoba, ninety miles away by water or forty-five miles by winter road. Various
initiatives over the years teased residents with promises of a road. In 1952-1953, H. R. Knutson
wanted $600 to build a caterpillar road which would connect with a Manitoba road twenty-five
miles away. DNR Minister Brockelbank seemed to like the idea, but thought Knutson might cut
his price. Nothing happened. The federal Prairie Farm Rehabilitation Administration (PFRA),
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which explored agricuitural potential in the area, bulldozed a winter road east towards The Pas in
1953-1954 and also worked on a road to the west to the Sipanok Channel. A winter road resulted.
Pressure for a proper road increased in the winter of 1954 when the Carrot River - The Pas
Agricultural Development Route Association organized a cavalcade and traveled the winter road.
The winter road already helped shift trade patterns from The Pas to Nipawin and Prince Albert.
Faced with rising pressure from local residents, the CCF finally selected a tentative route for an
all-weather road by 1962, estimated to cost from $675,000 to $1,120,000. Yet this did not include
a bridge over the Saskatchewan River at Cumberland House. Crossing the river in winter became
increasingly dangerous after the CCF built the Squaw Rapids dam, since water releases created
unsafe ice conditions. One woman drowned when a vehicle broke through the ice, an RCMP
bombardier and a DNR bulldozer fell through, and large trucks could not cross the river. At the
time of the CCF defeat in 1964, the CCF had not even finished building the dirt road. A bridge
remained an impossible dream given the lack of CCF spending in the North.**

The Cree, Metis, and white residents of Sandy Bay and Island Falls also yearned for aroad
link to the outside. The most practical route led south to Pelican Narrows and then on to the
Hanson Lake Road. Although work began on a location survey by 1961, the road held a low
priority for the CCF. In 1964, the Island Falls-Sandy Bay Road Association, whose letterhead read
“Open the North with Roads,” pushed the CCF and Ottawa to build the road. They feared the Road
to Resources fund would not have enough for their road. On the other hand, the Saskatchewan
Chamber of Mines exerted pressure not to divert attention or money from completing the road to
Reindeer Lake. These communities did not receive a road under the CCF.%

The CCF proved miserly in building access roads from main roads as well, looking to
others for help. In 1961 it appeared Ausland’s Mink Ranch would pay one-half the cost of a road
to Deep River from the Buffalo Narrows Road.” The same year, Indian Affairs agreed to share
the cost of a road and bridge across the Beaver River to improve access to the Beauval residential

school.”’

DNR built only about 2,500 miles of access and fire roads in a ten-year period to 1957.%

The CCF insisted that DNR build most northern roads. Motivation for using government
crews came from a desire to save money and also from a CCF preference for public over private
enterprise. An ongoing dispute with Ottawa resulted, with the federal government pushing
Saskatchewan to tender northern road construction to private companies.”” Saskatchewan
sometimes relented. Cabinet also decided in February of 1964 that the Department of Highways

should take over responsibility for all northern roads, which meant a diminished responsibility for

DNR.*
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Although northerners often asked for roads, their construction also met opposition since
roads proved a mixed blessing. Some traders thought roads would bring competition and loss of
business, and churches feared roads would carry in more whites, drinking, and trouble.’’ However,
the CCF did not share this desire to protect traders and Aboriginals from outside forces. Instead,
the CCF wanted to put private traders out of business and assimilate Aboriginals. The lack of
roads resulted from the CCF refusal to spend the required money.

At the end of the CCF era in 1964, no road extended to the far North. Most communities
lacked ground access, and resource development often faltered for want of roads. The low level
of CCF spending explains the paucity of roads and other infrastructure. The CCF’s road policy
contradicted its stated commitment to developing and diversifying the northern economy. Instead,
CCF penny-pinching ensured that northern underdevelopment would continue.

Most Aboriginal northerners, even those who lived in communities with road access, did
not own a motor vehicle. They relied heavily on public transportation. The CCF partially met this
need by providing bus transportation and freight service through its crown corporation
Saskatchewan Transportation Company (STC). It carried freight to and from La Ronge by 1947
and began passenger service by1948. Service increased from once a week to four times weekly
by 1953. STC services remained limited in the North, partly due to the lack of roads.

Many northerners relied heavily on taxis for trips within communities and to travel longer
distances. Some even took taxis to their trap lines. Seeing unregulated business, the CCF
introduced regulations to govern taxis at Uranium City in 1952. DNR soon extended licensing
of cabs to other settlements. Northern taxis became known as liquor haulers, and stories circulated
about liquor-laden taxis arriving in Aboriginal communities at the same time as welfare and fur
cheques. In 1957 the Village of La Ronge and DNR both worked to put one notorious taxi operator
out of business. Northern Administrator C. S. Brown described him as “a thorn in everyone’s side”
who “contributed more to the general demoralization of the younger native people in La Ronge
than any other person.”** In spite of crackdowns, taxis continued to carry liquor to Aboriginal
communities.

Along with its failure to build badly needed roads, the CCF built no railroads in the North.
This deficiency greatly limited mining and forestry development since these industries often
needed railways for economical operation. Industry repeatedly asked for railways. The CPR and
CNR showed some interest in building rail lines, but the CCF did not offer help. T. C. Douglas,
unlike John A. Macdonald, did not give railways money to open new frontiers. A proposed pulp

mill in 1957 called for extension of the CNR line north from Paddockwood. The project did not
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proceed. In 1958, the CCF cabinet, not willing to spend the money itself, considered asking the
federal government to build a railway to Uranium City and on to Great Slave Lake.” Railway
construction never went beyond the talking stage. Lines in northern Manitoba and Alberta still
took business from Saskatchewan, as transportation patterns continued to run east and west out of
the province.

With few alternatives present, the traditional water routes continued to carry people and
goods in vessels of various types, from canoes to barges. Water transportation cost the CCF
virtually nothing, other than for some docks and a few barges. Not wanting to spend money itself,
the CCF pressed Ottawa to assume many of the costs of water transportation. This made some
sense since the federal government had a limited responsibility for inland waterways. Yet both
governments refused to spend much to improve the safety and functionality of northern water
transportation.

DNR bought a used barge from the War Assets Corporation and began to move supplies
and equipment between Cumberland House and The Pas in 1947. The service did not last long.
The barge again saw use in 1951, but by 1954 it sat unused, stuck in a mud bank.*® Booth Fisheries
of The Pas helped provide service to Cumberland House, hauling freight, mail, and passengers to
and from The Pas, by water in summer and by bombardier in winter.” On the west side, DNR
provided scheduled barge service between Beauval, Fort Black, Ile a la Crosse and Buffalo
Narrows, and non-scheduled service to Dillon, Patuanak, and Clear Lake by 1949.%®

On a much larger scale, Northern Transportation Services, a federal crown corporation,
used barges to carry goods from the railhead at Waterways, Alberta along the Athabaska River and
across Lake Athabaska to Uranium City, Camsell Portage, Fond du Lac, and Stony Rapids. Freight
volume grew as mining increased. In 1955 for example, it transported 470,000 gallons of gasoline
to Imperial Oil in Uranium City. The federal Department of Transport placed markers, buoys, and
lights as navigation aids, and the federal Department of Public Works dredged the river channel
td maintain sufficient water depth for the barges. The large lake often proved hazardous, as when
eight men died in a tugboat sinking in 1956. But barges could not make up for the lack of road or
rail access, since the long winter severely limited the shipping season. One boat with eight barges,
loaded with material for Gunnar and Eldorado, froze into the ice in 1956.% Lac la Ronge also used
water transportation. Although the lake hid many dangerous reefs, about 150 commercial boats
and two barges operated there in 1957. Because of a lack of roads, vessels carried materials and
supplies to mineral exploration sites on the Churchill.*

In many cases, it appeared unclear whether the federal government or the province had
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responsibility for northern docks and wharfs. Not wanting to spend money on the North, the CCF
tried to have Ottawa build these. Bickering and delays resulted. Only after Ottawa refused to help
did the CCF resign itself to building a new dock at the Snake Lake filleting plant.*’ The CCF also
delayed building wharves at Ile a la Crosse and La Ronge, hoping that the federal government
would provide the facilities. In the meantime, safety seemed compromised and local impatience
grew.*? Experience taught Saskatchewan that Ottawa would more likely refuse to build a wharf
if Saskatchewan chose the site. In order to avoid refusal at Kinoosao, the CCF let Ottawa pick the
exact spot for the filleting plant. The strategy worked, and the federal Department of Public Works
builta wharf.* Ottawa also built wharves at Buffalo Narrows, Stony Rapids, and Dore Lake, while
Saskatchewan built these at La Ronge, Snake Lake, Wollaston Lake, and Beaver Lake by 1955.*
The two governments continued to pass responsibility back and forth, with neither wanting to
spend money. The paltry spending on water transportation provided a cheap alternative to building
roads and railways for the CCF. Yet, water transport could not fully modernize or develop the
North.

Aircraft also provided a cheaper alternative for the CCF to building roads and railways.
Establishing and operating an air service cost far less than constructing and maintaining an
adequate road network. The CCF’s total investment in planes and airstrips would not have built
one major northern road. Unfortunately, air travel had many limitations. Airplanes could not meet
many of the everyday transportation needs of northern residents, who could not afford to hire a
plane every time they needed or wanted to go somewhere. For its part, industry could not feasibly
pay high air transport rates to move most mineral and forest products. Consequently, the growing
use of aircraft did not end northern underdevelopment.

Ironically though, the CCF used air travel to exert control and administer the colonial
North. At first, the CCF relied on DNR to meet its air transportation needs. DNR had ten planes
by 1947, mainly World War II craft bought from the Dominion War Assets Corporation. Floyd
Glass, the Northern Superintendent, also piloted planes and headed the Aircraft Division, which
had its offices, hangar, and repair facilities at Prince Albert. DNR planes carried civil servants
from various departments, provided medical transportation, flew Fish Board fish, and helped with
fire protection. Pilots also worked as DNR field officers. = A new crown corporation,
Saskatchewan Government Airways (SGA), took over responsibility for air service from DNR in
1947. This company provided an expanding commercial air service in the northern air space. The
CCF eliminated much competition by buying M. & C. Aviation Co. of Prince Albert and its
subsidiary, Aircraft Skiis Ltd.*
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By 1954, SGA had eleven pilots and about twenty aircraft, which flew charters and
provided scheduled service on five routes. SGA operated from bases at Prince Albert, La Ronge,
Uranium City, Beaver Lake, and Stony Rapids. A modest expansion and up-dating of the SGA
fleet and services continued, and by the end of 1958 the investment in SGA totalled $675,000. It
had earned a surplus of $175,000. SGA changed its name to Saskair in 1962. By 1964, it flew on
four routes, which terminated at Uranium City, Buffalo Narrows, Beaver Lake, and Wollaston
Lake.*

In order to create a monopoly, the CCF opposed private aircraft companies operating in
northern Saskatchewan. Initially, the federal Air Transport Board and Ottawa seemed to support
the monopoly. However, over SGA’s objections, the board approved an application by Waite
Fisheries to operate a commercial air service on the west side in 1949. SGA also opposed a charter
license for Athabaska Airways, applied for by Floyd Glass and Russell Karels. The pair claimed
SGA did not provide adequate service. Glass, SGA’s former head, considered it “time that people
realized that the monopolistic government enterprises were not healthy for the development of the
province.” Athabasca Airways began operating in 1955, and La Ronge Aviation Services started
in 1960. SGA also lost its battle to eliminate competition when PWA received the route from
Prince Albert to Saskatoon and Regina. With Ottawa’s refusal to support the SGA monopoly,
options for northern flying expanded. By the late 1950s, PWA operated scheduled flights to
Uranium City, five or six companies provided charter services, and some mining companies
operated their own airplanes.” Ottawa had frustrated CCF plans for a state-owned air monopoly
in the North.

Most northern planes landed on water or ice, using floats or skis, but lérger planes and
some small planes landed on wheels using airstrips. DNR built many northern strips. A cheap
gravel surface runway opened at La Ronge in 1947. The province also provided landing facilities
at Stony Rapids, Snake Lake, L.a Ronge, Cumberland House, Ile a la Crosse, Buffalo Narrows, La
Loche, and Cree Lake. Private interests built other airstrips and Ottawa built one at Beaverlodge.*
Not all communities received landing strips under the CCF. Some who did not found themselves
cut off from the outside during freeze-up and break-up when planes could not land on water bodies.

The CCF recognized the need for rapid voice communication in the North. It took some
responsibility for meeting this need by giving DNR responsibility for creating a two-way radio
monopoly. While the service performed many useful tasks, the CCF devoted only small resources
to it and did not keep up with technological advances. Neglect by the CCF left the North without

a modern communication system in 1964, adding to the syndrome of underdevelopment.
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The two-way radio system provided the primary method of northern communication and
helped the CCF administer its colonial system. It set up its first base station at Emma Lake, which
it later moved to Prince Albert. DNR repeatedly expanded the pre-existing system of about sixty
radios, and airplanes, bombardiers, and government vehicles received radios. The public could
send radiograms, for a fee, and DNR rented radios to private interests. In 1955, DNR experimented
with new light-weight walkie-talkies, which weighed only a little more than twelve pounds. By
1958, DNR used permanent operators at eight key stations: La Ronge, Foster Lake, Stony Rapids,
Uranium City, Buffalo Narrows, Meadow Lake, Prince Albert, and Hudson Bay. DNR officers’
wives often operated the radios in remote settlements. These women normally received five dollars
per month for this in 1955, seen by many as a ridiculously small amount. The radio service’s
inadequacies included frequent breakdowns, a lack of privacy for personal and medical matters,
and a lack of full-time emergency service. In addition, white people controlled communications,
since a shortage of radios and high rental rates prevented most Aboriginals from having a radio.*

Most Saskatchewan residents took telephones for granted during the CCF era.
Saskatchewan Government Telephones (SGT), a crown corporation, received a monopoly over
telephone service in the South beginning in 1947 and quickly upgraded the telephone system there.
In contrast, the continuing absence of telephones in most northern communities added to the
region’s underdevelopment. The CCF ignored La Ronge residents who began to demand telephone
service by 1953. Even Manitoba showed more interest in providing telephone service in northern
Saskatchewan than did the CCF. Manitoba Telephone Company offered to link Flin Flon and
Denare Beach in 1955. La Ronge, Uranium City, and Buffalo Narrows eventually received local
telephone service by the early 1960s. DNR also set up limited local service in some other
communities using obsolete telephones from southern rural systems.>® Most northern communities,
including fairly large communities like Cumberland House and La Loche, still did not have
telephone service in 1964. Although it held a provincial monopoly on telephone service, the CCF
failed to spend the money needed to build a northern telephone system.

The CCF also failed to provide electrical service to most northerners, even though it
created a monopoly over power distribution in Saskatchewan. The lack of an adequate northern
electrical generation and distribution system greatly hampered development within communities
and for industry. Saskatchewan Power Corporation (SPC) began operating in about 1929, but
remained small until the election of the CCF. Joe Phelps oversaw the early modemization of the
power system in the South and the building of a power grid there. Southern Saskatchewan enjoyed

a modern power system by the mid 1950s.’" Yet the CCF plan excluded the North. Phelps, with
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responsibility for both SPC and the North, did not bring the two together. Power lines still did not
reach most northern communities in 1964 and most Aboriginals did not have access to electricity.

Few northerners used electricity in 1944, but government, mining, business, and non-
Aboriginals soon considered it essential. The hum of gas or diesel powered generators producing
electricity for government operations and white residents formed part of the colonial scene in
northern communities. Bright light shone from the windows of government houses, while
Aboriginal homes gave off the flicker of candles, gas lanterns, or wood burning stoves. The CCF
considered it essential that its employees have electricity. DNR sent a generating plant to Buffalo
Narrows in 1954, hoping to calm the wife of the DNR officer, who had become “extremely nervous
and neurotic” after a neighbour who had supplied electricity moved away.”> Each government
department, including DNR, Education, and Health, often had its own plant. The four outpost
hospitals received “full-time electric power” by 1958.%

Several communities received more advanced electrical supplies, although only after long
delays. Denare Beach residents petitioned government for electricity in 1953, but did not obtain
this until about 1958, when they received a link to the Island Falls dam.>* SPC procrastinated in
providing power to La Ronge, even though cabinet in 1951 recommended SPC investigate
providing electricity to the rapidly growing centre. SPC and DNR eventually helped provide a
diesel generating system at the fish plant for limited community use. Yet government refused to
operate the generators. Instead, a local man, Carl Louis, leased and operated the system. In 1956,
when La Ronge became a village, DNR turned over the distribution system to the village. SPC
finally took increased responsibility in 1958, when it bought the assets.”® In 1955, the Buffalo
Narrows annual ratepayers association meeting passed a resolution asking for a generation unit.
In an uncharacteristically quick response, SPC installed power lines and street lights in 1956,
Waite Fisheries generated and sold the electricity for the system.’® Buffalo Narrows finally
received a power line from the outside in the early 1960s.

Co-operatives played a role in providing electricity in some areas. At Stony Rapids, a
twelve-member co-operative operated the distribution and diesel generating system built by SPC.
Buying diesel fuel endangered the co-op’s survival in 1957. It could not pay for about 8,000
gallons of fuel which it needed to order and have delivered by barge before freeze-up. Still
struggling, the co-operative had a deficit of $2,455.93 for 1960, which almost doubled by the end
of September of 1961.”” Cumberland House also experienced problems with its co-operative
generation system in 1964. The DNR officer described its three generators as “a pile of junk.”

Only one would operate, while the co-op lacked the funds to rent a new generator from SPC.*® In
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1961, the power co-operative at Sandy Bay obtained its power from the Island Falls generating
dam, but the agreement gave it only up to 50 KVA of power. Most residents used little power.”
Power co-ops also supplied energy to some homes at Ile a la Crosse, Denare Beach, and Pelican
Narrows in the late 1950s. Many of the poorer people still lacked access to electricity, even where
the co-ops operated.

Exceptions to the lack of electrical power in northern settlements existed in the
predominantly white communities. Industry and residents there found ways to obtain electricity,
which they considered an essential service. Uranium City’s electricity came from hydro dams at
nearby Wellington Lake and Waterloo Power Stations and from diesel generation.” Creighton
received modern power lines from the Northern Power Company in 1948.*' Island Falls obtained
abundant power from its dam. Although the CCF often failed to provide electricity for industry,
it knew that industry needed this service. In 1957, David Cass Beggs, SPC’s general manager,
viewed SPC’s main problem in the North as providing power for mining and other industry.®

Ironically, while a lack of electrical service formed part of the syndrome of northern
underdevelopment, hydro-electric dams generated electricity for export from the region. These
caused serious damage to the northern environment, local economy, and lifestyles. Outsiders
imposed the dams for the benefit of distant companies and people, adding another facet to northern
colonialism. Aboriginal people affected by the projects claim that government and industry did
not consult with them prior to constructing the dams, and some question whether government had
the right to proceed without the consent of northerners.”> While some claim that the treaties did
not surrender water rights, but the land alone, the federal and provincial government acted as if
they had the right to do as they wished with the water as well as with the land.

Churchill River Power Company, a subsidiary of Hudson Bay Mining and Smelting
Company, built the first major northern dam at Island Falls on the Churchill River to supply power
to the mine and mill at Flin Flon. While the CCF had nothing to do with the original construction
of the dam, the structure profoundly influenced the economy and society in that part of the North
throughout the CCF era. The official version of events says hearings took place in 1928. The
company then built the dam, which began operating in 1930. Saskatchewan issued a fifty-year
license. Virtually no Treaty Indians had settled in the Island Falls area prior to construction of the
dam. Chief Cornelius Ballentyne unsuccessfully tried to establish a reserve there, and interest in
this faded after he died. With construction of the dam, Indians came seeking jobs, moving from
the Pelican Narrows area to the new village of Sandy Bay near the dam site.* Another version of

the story, based on Aboriginal oral history, claims establishment of the reserve went ahead before
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the mining firm wanted to build the dam. Once the company spotted the prime Island Falls hydro
site, Ottawa, which controlled crown lands until 1930, took the reserve from the Indians.
Government then claimed that the reserve never existed there but that it instead was located at
Sturgeon Weir Indian Reserve, over 100 miles to the south-east. While hearings took place, they
did not adequately include Aboriginal input.%’

In either case, the dam disrupted life on the no longer free-flowing Churchill. It flooded
Aboriginal houses upstream, lowered the downstream water level, reduced water quality, hurt
animal and bird populations, and eliminated the prized black sturgeon, leaving only the regular lake
sturgeon. Flooded trees caught fishing nets and lines, and many persons died when winter water
releases from the dam made the ice unsafe for travel. The dam also brought liquor and social
problems from outside. A pimp and two female prostitutes operated on a nearby island for a time,
until an RCMP investigation caused them to flee.®

In 1942-1943, the Churchill River Power Company built a storage dam at Whitesands
Rapids on the Reindeer River to help stabilize the water supply for Island Falls. This second dam
raised the level of Reindeer Lake by up to ten feet, and resulted in the near disappearance of
muskrat, beaver, and mink, destruction of spawning grounds, reduced fish harvests, and other
difficulties. Local people received no compensation.”’

These two dams continued operating throughout the CCF era. They still disrupted the lives
of Aboriginals and removed wealth from the area. While nearby communities lacked electrical
power, the operation produced over $270 million in electricity by 1971. Saskatchewan received
more than three million dollars in water and land rental. From 1930 to 1971, revenues to the
province gradually increased, roughly equal to the rate of inflation.®

The CCF built a dam of its own at Squaw Rapids, upstream from Cumberland House,
damming the mighty Saskatchewan. SPC completed the project in 1962. The CCF had not
involved Cumberland House people in planning for the dam and seemed quite unconcerned about
negative downstream effects. While the CCF forecast benefits for the Cumberland area, including
flood control and agricultural development, local people soon viewed the dam as a major disaster.
Varying water levels hurt fish, waterfowl, fur-bearers, and big game animals. The dam also made
the river ice, the main winter highway, unsafe for travel.”

Dams comprised another aspect of northern colonial underdevelopment during the time
of the CCF. Outside governments imposed the large, permanent structures with virtually no local
consultation. While they provided some employment to residents, their development and operation

largely ignored northern needs. The most substantial benefits from dams went outside the region,
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leaving northerners a legacy of social problems and underdevelopment. Governments also gave
minimal consideration to environmental effects, destroying priceless river environments.

Northern settlements also needed safe drinking water and sanitation services. Predictably,
the pattern of underdevelopment and CCF neglect also applied to these areas of infrastructure.
While the CCF encouraged Aboriginals to move into settlements, it added to the dismal conditions
there by spending virtually nothing to provide water or sewage and garbage disposal services. In
contrast, the CCF in 1955 wanted Uranium City to have a proper water and sewer system,
estimated to cost possibly one-half million dollars.” By 1964, only the white settlements of Island
Falls, Creighton, and Uranium City had community sewer and water services. The CCF also
ensured that many of its employees in remote settlements had these benefits. Following a double
standard, it considered water and sewer systems essential for non-Aboriginals, while lamenting that
Aboriginals did not know the sanitary ways of the white man. The CCF refused responsibility for
providing these services to Aboriginals. Since this poverty-stricken group could not afford to build
these systems, health risks grew.

The CCF frequently blamed Aboriginals and their lifestyle for sanitation problems. The
former nomads transferred sanitation standards from the bush to the village, not appreciating the
hazards involved. Methods which worked on the land did not work in permanent settlements, and
excrement from people and hundreds of sled dogs lay around communities. White people often
had the only outhouses. Rain rinsed the villages, and runoff washed into the nearby lakes or rivers
on which communities invariably sat. Fish plants contributed to the pollution by dumping offal
into the water. Residents then took their drinking water from the polluted water bodies. In a
typical situation, a “horrible mess,” existed at Wollaston Lake in 1950. Tourist fishing parties left
“thoroughly disgusted.” In 1953, the Wollaston SGT post manager described the Aboriginal camp
as a “disease ridden, filthy place.” The situation there continued much as before in 1960, when
areport said the Indian people “merely wander back into the bush.””* Surface runoff and the fish
plant continued to pollute the water supply. Similar stories came from other communities.

CCEF officials placed hope for improved sanitation on educating the Aboriginal people in
constructing toilets and obtaining safe water. One sanitary officer viewed educating Aboriginals

as a “difficult and long term project.””

Yet the CCF spent little on education programs. Education
also had its limitations. Cumberland House, where war veterans exerted a positive influence and
many residents had outhouses, still had unsafe water. A. K. Quandt described the water supply
there as “very bad” in 1946. It seemed responsible for health problems.” The CCF ignored the

warning and did not provide safe water. The village continued to lack a good water supply in 1951,
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when RCMP Constable Crawford organized the boy scouts to help dig a public well. When heavy
rain caved in the unfinished well, the project ended.”® While education helped, only money could
provide proper wells and sewage disposal systems. Blaming Aboriginals and their lack of
knowledge relieved the CCF of the need spend this money. Government gave neither DNR nor
Public Health the authority or resources to provide the needed facilities.

Even the larger settlement of La Ronge lacked a sewage system. Human waste
concentrated in dirt pits under outhouses and people dumped household water on the ground.
Much litter and garbage lay around since L.a Ronge had no lanes to hide garbage and garbage cans,
and it had no garbage collection system. In 1951 Public Health judged only two of the seven wells
there as safe. Many used lake water, polluted by the fish plant and runoff. Fear of typhoid and
other water-borne diseases caused concern. Typhoid, caused by polluted lake water, apparently
killed some persons at Goldfields earlier. As a positive note, Public Health found few flies at the
dilapidated fish plant “sprayed inside and out with DDT.” In 1952 G. Kinneard of Public Health
thought it unlikely much would change until La Ronge incorporated.”” Even though it held
responsibility as the municipal government, the CCF refused to spend the money required to
improve sanitation. Obviously, northern underdevelopment caused little concern for the CCF.

Incorporation of La Ronge in 1956 did not end sanitation problems in that area. In 1960
R. F. Badgley of the U of S concluded “it is impossible to change the ways of the Indians.”
Aboriginals had reacted with animosity when Dr. Cook of La Ronge tried to clean up the local
reserve. After Cook threatened to withdraw medical care, garbage burned for four days and *“38
trucks of garbage were removed from the reserve.” Some claimed the doctor discriminated against
the Indians, as he had not dealt with open sewers at the hotel and pool room. Badgley also said
children wore the same clothing, unwashed, “from fall to spring.”’® Sanitation problems also
continued elsewhere. At Wollaston and Snake Lake, white residents had privies, while Indians did
not. Fish plants still endangered water quality at Wollaston, Deschambault, and Snake Lake.”

The CCF, aware of the atrocious sanitation situation, did not even want to spend the
relatively small amount of money required to monitor the situation. Instead, it made a few efforts
to have Ottawa contribute money for inspections. A National Health Grant, which paid for a
sanitary officer’s salary and travel costs, finally provided hope for modest improvement by 1962.
The officer’s duties included extending sanitary inspections to as many settlements as possible.”
While health inspections of northern communities increased, the CCF failed to provide the needed
infrastructure systems in any Aboriginal communities. It demonstrated little commitment to

improving water, sewer, and sanitation there throughout its mandate.
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In addition to needing physical infrastructure, northern communities required other
systems, including those for local government and law and order. With few exceptions, the CCF
kept control over local government, and local people had little say over what happened to their
communities. DNR, the CCF’s colonial arm, handled municipal matters, including property
taxation and public works. Most local government remained rudimentary and very limited in
power under the CCF. Exceptions developed at Uranium City, where a municipal corporation
cared for the local needs of its largely white population. La Ronge and Creighton, with many white
residents, also incorporated.

The CCF possessed little interest in establishing truly responsible local government outside
white areas for several reasons. The CCF viewed the northern resource base as inadequate to
support local government. This reason only made sense by ignoring the large tax and royalty
revenues paid by the mining and other industries, but the CCF looked at the Aboriginal
communities separately and saw that they produced little revenue. Local government did not
receive a direct cut of the resource revenue. Secondly, the CCF did not consider Aboriginals ready
to handle even limited self-government and did not trust them to make decisions.

The CCF used DNR to control northern local government. Assistant Deputy Minister J.
W. Churchman in 1949 wanted DNR to present ideas to the rudimentary local councils and
ratepayers associations “in such a way as to let the people think it came from them.” Similarly,
DNR’s Jim Brady, while wanting to maintain a non-dictatorial appearance, did not want DNR to
recognize local councils elected without DNR supervision.” The CCF worked to maintain strict
colonial control.

DNR helped develop some local councils and ratepayers associations, although it kept all
real authority. Cumberland House had no elected local government until residents in 1948 chose
a council of three members. The council could not act alone but needed to wait for DNR to
approve its recommendations. Yet, DNR refused to act on resolutions because it disapproved of
the political leanings of members. DNR’s Quandt reported to Churchman, the assistant deputy
minister: “we deemed it a necessary lesson to show these people that if they want to follow
reactionary leadership and not help the small progressive nucleus of their own kind in the
Cumberland community, that we follow a very niggardly policy as far as special works is
concerned for some time. Already it is giving results.” The reference to “reactionary leadership”
likely referred to the Liberal affiliation of council members, and the “lesson” DNR wanted to teach
was that the local people should not elect representatives who did not support CCF “development

plans” for the area. Teaching the lesson proved ineffective though, as at least one of the initial
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council members, Pierre Carriere, remained a thorn in the side of the CCF for the rest of its era.®

DNR appointed a supervisor of Northern Municipal Services in 1951, a position held by
W. J. Bague. He worked to develop ratepayers associations, authorized by the Northern
Administration Act. Contradicting its desire to keep control, DNR spoke of “autonomous
municipal administration” as the goal for all northern communities. Even though it had difficulty
generating local interest, DNR established a ratepayers group at La Ronge in 1951. DNR also
helped create ratepayers associations at Denare Beach, Ile a la Crosse, and in a few other
communities. The associations generally had three-man councils, with no authority, and could only
make recommendations to DNR.*' Their level of activity depended largely on how much
stimulation DNR applied.

Ratepayers associations had so little function that it sometimes made little difference when
they became inactive. The DNR-sponsored association became quite dormant at Cumberland
House by 1961, seemingly due to the lack of interest of the former conservation officer. Yet, the
community found other avenues for limited self government, which included the Legion, the ladies
organization, the recreational club, and the school committee. A community council, unfunded by
the CCF, also formed, although the CCF did not allow it to advise DNR on spending, since only
a ratepayers association could do that. The Center for Community Studies seemed to have
stimulated community support for the creation of the new council, and unlike many of the white-
dominated ratepayers associations, the nine-member elected council included only four whites.
Even though the CCF would not give the council equal status to its own ratepayers association, the
council took over various local government functions, including a community clean-up, dog
control, and recreation projects. The white members later left the council. Yet the Aboriginal
members continued until the establishment of a local community association form of government
after the CCF left office.®

Under the CCF, only a few northemn communities moved to a system of municipal
government. Three settlements, Uranium City, La Ronge, and Creighton, did so by 1964. DNR’s
half-hearted efforts to organize local governments elsewhere brought poor results, and by 1962
only six ratepayers associations existed: at Denare Beach, Ile a la Crosse, Buffalo Narrows,
Beauval, Cumberland House, and Sandy Bay. Most communities lacked even an advisory body.
The concentration on ratepayers associations also disenfranchised those who did not pay property
taxes since they represented those who paid property taxes. The associations excluded large
numbers of non-tax paying Aboriginals, leaving white people often holding the most influence.

In the twilight years of the CCF government, the Center for Community Studies called for
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a more responsible system of local government than the ineffective, powerless ratepayers
associations. It recommended the creation of councils with greater responsibility, elected by ali
residents and not just by ratepayers. Government should also advise the councils, not the other
way around. Shortly before it lost office, but too late to act, the CCF appeared willing to amend
the Northern Administration Act, end ratepayers associations, and allow the establishment of
Northern Community Areas administered by Local Community Authorities.®

Northerners also had little control over the northern justice system, since the CCF
maintained control from the South. Courts and treatment facilities too remained based in the
South. The CCF did little to deal with northern justice issues and seemed not to take northern
concerns seriously. White northerners frequently wanted increased policing and a harsher justice
system. They blamed “soft” justice for many Aboriginal social problems. Even outrage from the
white community, when Aboriginal crime affected non-Aboriginals, had little effect on spurring
the CCF to action.

The North received only spotty policing in 1944, with RCMP occasionally patrolling by
dog sled and canoe. Joe Phelps saw little need for change, blaming northern crime on southerners,
the “bootlegger and white man chiseler.” DNR and the RCMP co-operated to keep law and order,
and although DNR initially had only one airplane, Phelps claimed it quieted down the North, since
people never knew when the government would arrive.*

The CCF relied on appointed justices of the peace (JP) to handle most northern cases,
which commonly involved summary convictions. Usually a white person, possibly the school
teacher, minister, or a local businessman, acted as JP. Positions often stood vacant, due to
resignations and delays in appointing replacements by the attorney general. In 1957 lle ala Crosse,
Buffalo Narrows, Beauval, and Stony Rapids all awaited the appointment of new JPs. In the
meantime, the vacancies made work difficult for DNR and the RCMP.* Visiting magistrates from
the South handled the next level of cases. Cumberland House residents suspected the RCMP
constable influenced the magistrate in advance, but they seemed to accept this, with a “general
ignorance of civil rights and judicial process.” The North had no magistrate based there during
the CCF era.

White people often wanted increased law and order services. Their concerns frequently
involved drunk Aboriginals, delinquent children, and wild sled dogs. The CCF contracted policing
to the RCMP, an arrangement which helped the CCF ignore appeals from citizens. Buffalo
Narrows provides an example of northern policing problems. After receiving a “permanent”

RCMP constable by 1952, the village became “much more orderly.”® He left by 1954, and RCMP
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policed Buffalo Narrows from Ile a la Crosse. The Buffalo Narrows ratepayers association and C.
S. Brown of DNR complained, and the RCMP agreed to again station an officer there.*® In 1957,
again without an RCMP officer, terror reigned among whites at Buffalo Narrows, following the
rape of the public health nurse and the possible attempted rape of a DNR officer’s wife. Reports
said that drunks roamed unmolested by the RCMP, visitors found themselves bothered by the local
people, and break-ins and thefts occurred almost nightly. When the RCMP officer did fly in, he
had to borrow a car or truck when he wanted to go somewhere. C. S. Brown described Buffalo
Narrows as “the most lawless and immoral community in the Northern Administration District.”
Brown, many citizens, and the ratepayers association all called for improvements to the justice
system. Vigilante action, including lynching, appeared possible. Concerns also arose about the
judicial system. Brown opposed having the magistrate from Meadow Lake, whose work he
described as “rather disturbing,” preside over court cases in the Buffalo Narrows region. Alleged
instances of miscarriages of justice also concerned people, as did reversals of some harsher
sentences by the attorney general’s department. White residents wanted at least two mounties
stationed there. They also wanted a local jail, which would end the custom of well-traveled
prisoners flying back from luxurious holidays in southern cells and receiving a hero’s welcome
from other Aboriginals. Whites wanted exemplary local humiliation of offenders and “sexual
monstrosities” put away in a mental institution. DNR’s minister, A. G. Kuziak, also called on the
attorney general to reform northern justice. Although Buffalo Narrows again received a
“permanent” RCMP officer in 1958, problems with law and order continued.*

The CCF also failed to deal adequately with justice issues at Sandy Bay. There, “The
Council of Good Order,” which included the priest, the Island Falls nurse, the Sandy Bay nurse,
three Sandy Bay teachers, the DNR officer, and the MLA, signed a petition in 1955, complaining
about the policing situation. The RCMP officer lived a short distance away at the comfortable
community of Island Falls, rather than at Sandy Bay with its problems of public drunkenness,
contraband liquor, home brew, child abuse, accidents, and misery. The white people claimed
Aboriginals lacked respect for “anybody and anything” and were “worse than animals.” The
deputy attorney general J. L. Salterio refused to intervene with the RCMP, beyond making the
RCMP in Regina aware of the concerns.”

People at Denare Beach also repeatedly begged for improved policing, while the CCF
continued to deny responsibility for this. In 1953, the RCMP from Flin Flon patrolled the resort
area and year-round community only about once a week during the busy summer resort season and

refused to create a summer detachment. Policing problems continued in 1957, when the vacation
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area had up to 5,000 people, but the RCMP had only one car and two constables available for work
outside Flin Flon. The Manitoba detachment considered the work in Saskatchewan
“complimentary, and not obligatory.” Saskatchewan’s attorney general appeared unable or
unwilling to better the situation.’

While white people complained loudly when Aboriginal crime affected them, CCF neglect
ofjustice issues particularly affected the Aboriginal community. When Aboriginal men threatened
the safety of white women at Buffalo Narrows, an uproar resulted; yet female Aboriginals had long
suffered sexual assaults from both Aboriginals and whites. At La Ronge, sexual contact between
visitors and local girls or women, sometimes with consent and sometimes without, caused concern.
On one occasion, local persons, including Quandt and Brady, reportedly forced the RCMP to tell
some men to leave La Ronge, “over the issue of pregnant native girls.” A group of girls also
formed a “bubble-gum gang” for protection against rape by white visitors.”> Buffalo Narrows teen-
age girls in 1957 felt unsafe “to even go to a show, a jiving class, or Church,” for fear of attack
from “sexual maniacs.”® Many members of the white community did not make an issue of crime
until it affected them.

Disproportionate numbers of northern Aboriginals spent time in jail, serving longer
sentences in the South. By about 1957, sixty percent of northern males aged sixteen to thirty had
served time in prison 1.75 times. Aboriginals comprised about one-quarter of men and one-fifth
of women in provincial correctional facilities in 1963. Non-aboriginal northerners frequently
called for the establishment of northern jails and for prisoners to perform local work, since white
people thought that jail time outside had no stigma for Aboriginals. The RCMP rejected the idea
as it could fly prisoners out more cheaply.**

Delinquency was common, although it went largely unreported except by white persons.
Professor and Mrs. Hill, Department of Social Welfare group workers at Buffalo Narrows in 1957,

saw youth’s problems as “boredom and lack of stimulation.””

Whites in many communities
wanted curfews to curb Aboriginal youths, but controls rarely resulted. Buffalo Narrows did
institute a 9:00 p.m. curfew in the late 1950s, complete with an enforcer. The system ended when
the judge would not support it.”

Under the CCF colonial system, white people from the South enforced most laws in the
North. By 1960, the RCMP involved some Aboriginal northerners in policing through a special
constable program. In one situation, a local Metis man at Cumberland House worked as a special

constable. He acted as an interpreter, guide, and assistant to the constable, managing to hold the

confidence of both the people and the constable.”” While the special constable program seemed
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a positive development, the CCF still refused to devote major resources to issues of law and order
in the North,

Underdevelopment, caused by CCF neglect, also characterized other aspects of the
northern colonial world. The CCF did not extend the southern natural gas distribution system to
the North, not even to the larger, easily accessible communities near the South. Although DNR
acted as the local government for most northern communities, the CCF provided virtually no
equipment specifically to fight local fires. The Northern Administration Act allowed for the
appointment of DNR field officers as deputy fire commissioners, allowing them to act in
emergencies, although not compelling them to do s0.”®* The communities with larger white
populations, including Creighton, Uranium City, and La Ronge, established some fire fighting
services. La Ronge relied on a rudimentary voluntary brigade by 1952, but the CCF refused to
spend much money even after the fire commissioner’s office recommended buying equipment to
fight local fires. By the 1960s, fire protection there remained inadequate for the scattered village,
reserve, and surrounding area’s population.”

Although the CCF introduced a cash economy to the North, most communities had no bank
or credit union, forcing residents to deal with local merchants to cash cheques and obtain limited
credit. Even La Ronge only received its first bank, the Bank of Montreal, in about 1956. A few
CCF-directed credit unions briefly operated, including one at Cumberland House by the early
1950s. Buffalo Narrows received a credit union by the late 1950s, although it dissolved in the
1960s.'°

Postal service fell largely outside CCF control. The formerly sporadic mail service
improved from 1944 to 1964, likely partly because northerners sent many petitions to the
Postmaster General asking for improvements. SGA, which had the mail contract, carried the mail
on its airplanes. Some communities received post offices, although stores still handled the mail
in smaller villages. Complaints about the service continued since northerners suspected that
storekeepers tampered with the mail. People suspected the stores of returning parcels from outside
mail order companies, such as Eatons, to reduce competition and of intercepting cheques to apply

them to accounts owing.'?!

In spite of upgrades, much of the northern postal service remained far
below southern standards.

Northern mass media also remained underdeveloped from 1944 to 1964. Minimal access
to newspaper and radio service and the absence of television added to the feeling of isolation many
southerners felt when they went to the North. Most local newspaper enterprises did not last long,

and no newspaper brought together the concerns of northerners. No radio or television station
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broadcast from within the area, and radio signals from the South varied greatly in strength, with
US signals among the strongest late at night. One Cumberland House Metis woman remembers
listening to Wolfman Jack from a faraway US station.'®

The CCF did broadcast one radio program from the South to the North.' Beginning in the
1940s, Prince Albert’s CKBI broadcast “Northern News,” a program produced by DNR and paid
for by DNR and crown corporations. Northerners eagerly awaited the program, which included
personal messages besides the information and propaganda about the Fur Marketing Service and
other CCF programs.'® This broadcast gave the CCF control over much of the dissemination of
information in the North. Opposing points of view lacked a forum of equal power.

The CCF appointed DNR as the municipal government for most northern communities,
but gave it only paltry resources to provide recreation facilities. Aboriginal communities
consequently received few facilities, although white people organized to provide limited facilities
in a few villages. Father Lavasseur took the initiative at Buffalo Narrows by 1958 and organized
the Buffalo Narrows Advancement Club. The group dismantled and moved two Mid-Canada
Radar Line buildings from the Fort Black radar base and rebuilt these into an indoor skating and
curling rink.'* The CCF made a minimal effort to address the lack of recreation facilities by the
early 1960s. It gave DNR a $5,000 budget to give matching grants to help communities build
facilities, including rinks and community halls. Since the North had dozens of communities, the
budget did not go far. DNR then reallocated even part of this meager budget and could not give
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the Denare Beach Community Club $500 without overspending.'™ In an unusually generous act,
the CCF passed an order-in-council in 1961 approving $500 to help the Pemmican Portage Sports
Club build a hockey rink.'® Glaring contrasts existed between Aboriginal and white settlements.
Many Aboriginal communities did not even have a large room or gymnasium, attached to the local
school or elsewhere, to accommodate local functions.

The northern infrastructure system established and maintained by the CCF bore many
colonial characteristics. Most white people received a much higher standard of services than did
Aboriginal people. Aboriginals lived in poverty in dismal settlements. In the area of
infrastructure, as in health and welfare, the CCF blamed northern Aboriginals for their poverty.
At the same time, government removed millions of dollars from the North in various royalties and
taxes. In most instances, the CCF did not apply policies with a socialist bent when it came to
spending money on the welfare of northerners, including infrastructure. Yet, the socialist

principles of the CCF strongly influenced its plans and projects to restructure the northern

€conomy.
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Part Three

THE SEGREGATED ECONOMY
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Chapter Five

NEVER BEFORE HAVE WE BEEN SO POOR

One of the CCF’s major goals was diversification of the provincial economy. The
agricultural disaster suffered by Saskatchewan during the Great Depression and the realization that
Saskatchewan had almost totally missed out on industrial development motivated efforts to expand
the range of economic activity. Diversification offered hope for economic stability and prosperity.
The restructured Department of Natural Resources and Industrial Development, led by Joe Phelps,
provided the organizational base for working towards this goal. Taking control of and modifying
the northern economy formed a key part of the CCF diversification plan. The CCF accepted the
stereotypical view of the North as a storehouse of great riches. While the North did hold treasures,
it did not freely give them up. Only a great investment of effort and money could wrest these from
the rugged environment. The CCF divided northern resources into two groups: those it thought
suited for Aboriginals and those it considered beyond the scope of Aboriginals’ interest and ability.
It lafgely reserved trapping, fishing, and peasant farming for Aboriginals, while it thought white
people should handle most mining, forestry, and tourism.

The CCF applied socialist ideals to all major areas of the northern economy. It believed
resources belonged to the people of Saskatchewan and not just to entrepreneurs who removed the
wealth. True to this belief, it imposed state control over the extraction of all northern resources,
with the exception of mining, which it viewed as beyond its abilities to manage at the time. Crown
corporations, marketing boards, and co-operatives structured Aboriginal trapping and fishing and
a socialist model shaped northern farming. In the non-Aboriginal economy, the CCF took over
most of the forest resource and applied socialist principles there. It contented itself with raising
royalties and taxes for mining, reserving the right to take over the industry later.

Policies established by the CCF suffered from glaring contradictions which it did not
address and which remain difficult to explain. An obvious contradiction appeared between the
often stated desire of the CCF to assimilate Aboriginals into white society and the CCF segregation
of Aboriginals into the more traditional sectors of the northern economy. On the one hand, the

assimilation policy implemented by the CCF required and encouraged Aboriginals to give up a
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nomadic lifestyle, live in a cash economy, learn English, and become literate. Yet, on the other
hand, economic segregation and the CCF failure to help Aboriginal northerners move into
industrial occupations, including mining and forestry, guaranteed that complete assimilation would
not happen. The CCF economic policies also ensured that Aboriginals would not leave their
communities in large numbers since they did not learn the occupational skills to survive outside
the region. It remains unclear whether the CCF viewed the segregated economy as only a step
towards eventual complete assimilation or whether it régarded this structure as its ultimate
economic plan for northern Aboriginals.

Promotion of Aboriginal trapping by the CCF also contradicted its plan to move people
from the bush into settlements. Traditionally, trappers and their families spent prolonged periods
of several months living on remote trap lines. This obviously could not continue if the CCF
wanted to assimilate Aboriginals in settlements. The CCF partially resolved this dilemma by
changing how people trapped. It looked on trapping as a man’s activity and condoned male
absence from the settlement as long as women and children remained there. Instead of allowing
trappers to trap wherever they wanted, the CCF also assigned trapping areas to groups of men. In
some cases, these areas were near the village, allowing trappers to frequently return to their homes.
When the trap lines stood farther away, the pull of the village often meant that little trapping took
place.

Northern economic policies established by the CCF also contradicted those it followed in
the South. Socialist ideology guided the CCF’s economic plans for the North much more than
elsewhere. The party imposed state ownership and control over furs, fish, timber, and retail sales,
and applied socialist forms of organization to vital parts of the northern economy. At the same
time, it used its power to limit the role of private capital in the northern economy. In contrast, the
CCF quickly abandoned most of its state interventions in the southern economy, continuing state
ownership mainly in utility monopolies. The CCF’s northern actions demonstrate that the CCF did
not abandon its socialist ideology, and that, given the opportunity, it preferred and did not hesitate
to apply socialist solutions.

CCF politicians and planners visualized northern Aboriginals efficiently and contentedly
harvesting renewable fur, fish, and game resources. Using compulsion, the CCF largely reserved
these resources for Aboriginals, expelling many non-Aboriginals from participating in their
extraction. The structure imposed by the CCF to gather furs and fish used crown corporations,
marketing boards, and co-operatives to provide organizational and marketing services. Southern

planners, however, grossly misjudged the capacity of these resources to support Aboriginals. The
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forced reliance on fur and fish consequently soon formed a structural part of northern poverty and
underdevelopment. The CCF watched this situation worsen, without dealing with the situation.

The CCF saw two types of problems in fur, fish, and forestry: those caused by resource
mismanagement and those created by capitalist abuses. It developed an integrated programto solve
both issues, using “sustained yield management” and socialist ideology to address the situation.
The CCF successfully applied conservation principles to ensure a sustainable supply of furs, fish,
and game. Its desire to replace capitalism with socialism proved more difficult to satisfy. Yet the
CCF’s ideology influenced resource policies more than did conservation considerations.

Of all CCF actions, its intervention in the fur industry raised the most northern opposition.
Phelps and his colleagues justified their intervention partly by pointing to depletion of fur-bearing
animals. The CCF correctly saw low fur stocks. Allan Quandt of DNR, in an accurate description,
blamed resource depletion on “mankind bent on personal power and material wealth being
gained.”! Prior to 1944, non-Aboriginals, many of whom only spent winters in the North and
lacked a long-term commitment to the region, increasingly dominated trapping. White trappers
often responded to the strong demand for furs by taking as many fur-bearing animals as possible.
Depletion of fur stocks resulted. Beaver particularly declined in number, becoming rare in many
areas of the North by 1944. The CCF was interested in restoring fur stocks and held no ideological
opposition to harvesting fur resources. It sought a balance between overuse and underuse,
considering underutilization as wasteful as overutilization.” DNR proved quite skilled at managing
fur and fish resources, with its actions ensuring adequate stocks in most cases. The game
commissioner, a position held by E. L. Paynter for much of the CCF era, and the Game Branch
controlled many aspects of the fur industry.’ While the fur situation clearly justified the
introduction of conservation controls, the CCF could have addressed the conservation issues
without imposing socialist solutions.

Until 1944, the Hudson’s Bay Company and other private fur traders bought and marketed
the furs brought to them by trappers. Traders only stayed in business by making a profit from their
operations. Long experience taught them how much they could pay for furs and how to
successfully operate the crucial credit system on which trappers depended. Most northerners did
not deal much with cash, but relied on traders to provide them with needed goods throughout the
year. Trappers then repaid their debts with furs. Traders held great influence in the northern
society, acting as economic advisors, bankers, and welfare agencies.

Influenced by its socialist beliefs and its desire to modernize the North, the CCF found the

old northern system of control by capitalist traders unacceptable. It decreed that the system could
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not continue. The CCF thought traders imposed their will on dependent Aboriginals and did not
see the fur trade as a mutually-beneficial agreement between Aboriginals and traders. The CCF
characterized the HBC as a great villain. T. C. Douglas justified creating the CCF’s compulsory
Fur Marketing Service, which became the dominant force in fur handling, by saying “There was
only one thing to do to save them from the exploitation by the Hudson’s Bay Company.” George
Cadbury, the top CCF planner, thought the HBC kept trappers in near permanent debt.* The CCF
did not seem to realize that the HBC had already lost its overwhelming, dominant position in the
fur trade and that many other traders competed with it. The company handled about forty-five
percent of the wild fur exports of about $2,300,000 from Saskatchewan in 1943-1944, while within
the larger Canadian scene, it only handled twenty-three percent of furs. Phelps thought the HBC
still had a near monopoly.’ The CCF also wanted to put small traders out of business. This attack
caused uncertainty and losses for merchants, who could not buy furs while the CCF revamped
policies.b

Joe Phelps likely was the CCF’s greatest foe of the HBC. Myth and misinformation
provided the basis for much of his crusade. He had already judged the HBC before he set out to
gather evidence against the company for an address to the legislature, a speech which would
“expose” HBC exploitation of the Aboriginals. Phelps asked RCMP Corporal C. E. Wenzel for
details about unfair HBC dealings. The best Wenzel offered was rumours that both the HBC and
a private trader charged five squirrel pelts for one box of matches and that the HBC gave special
beaver licenses only to those who sold their furs to the HBC. He referred Phelps to six other
possible informants. Phelps wrote to these six saying “the people have been exploited very much
in their trading, both by free traders and the Hudson’s Bay Company.” One of the six, himself a
free trader at Stanley, claimed that unfair trading practices did not exist when more than one trader
operated in an area, as at Stanley. Another respondent, Albert VanderKracht of Lac la Ronge,
observed to no one’s surprise that northern prices exceeded southern prices. He also complained
about the large supply of vanilla extract stocked by a free trader for people who “do not go in for
cakes much,” implying that the trader sold the vanilla as a substitute for alcohol. Thus armed,
Phelps raised the issue in the legislature in 1945. Following his characteristic style, he relied
largely on rhetoric, even wanting to “challenge the validity of the Hudson’s Bay Company charter
issued by King Charles II in 1670.” Phelps also claimed that the HBC and the CPR did not
“rightfully own” land granted them.’

The CCF’s Mineral Taxation Act successfully coerced the HBC into surrendering most

of its mineral rights, but Phelps lacked legal grounds for a further challenge to the old firm. The
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company skilfully handled Phelps, whom it seemed not to respect, by co-operating and promoting
conservation. The CCF worked to assume HBC functions, including fur buying, retailing, social
services, and leadership, trying to replace the old capitalist paternalistic model with its new
socialist paternalistic model. Once Phelps and some radicals left and the CCF socialist fervour
eased, the CCF and HBC relationship improved. The CCF then reduced its efforts to open
government-owned northern stores and asked the HBC if it would sell its stores. The HBC kept
its stores.®

Some CCF radicals continued to complain about the HBC. In 1960 the Lac LaRonge CCF
Club claimed the HBC charged an Aboriginal customer 280 muskrat pelts, which sold for $1120,
for a used ten horsepower motor. The motor soon broke down.” Rumours, which said that the
HBC illegally took Aboriginals’ cheques from its post offices to repay debts, also persisted.

Many Aboriginals did not share the CCF view of the HBC. Instead, they saw the valuable
services the HBC had long provided them. In many cases, while government projects came and
went, the HBC provided a stable and reliable economic and welfare institution. Northerners
especially depended on the credit system offered by the HBC and other traders, which let them
obtain goods and pay for them later with their fur harvest. Conversely, the CCF viewed the credit
system as one of the primary northern evils because they thought it allowed traders to pay low
prices for furs, sell goods at high prices, and paternalistically treat Aboriginals as children. The
CCF also wanted northerners to use a cash system to facilitate their paying licence and lease fees,
royalties, and taxes. Phelps considered it “absolutely necessary” to end northerners’ reliance on
credit, and swift action followed. The CCF succeeded in breaking the old system by making the
marketing of some furs compulsory through the Saskatchewan Fur Marketing Service.'® This move
caused trappers to lose most of their credit, since traders could no longer buy the furs to repay
debts. While the shift to cash appeared inevitable, the CCF prematurely forced this transition in
an extremely destructive fashion.

Although the credit system allowed traders to exercise paternalistic control over
Aboriginals, it operated harmoniously, and northerners wanted to see it continue. At Ile a la
Crosse, families were either a “Hudson’s Bay family” or a “Marion family.” Because the free
trader, Marion, protected and cared for them, the Metis called him “boss.” Most did not complain
about his prices for fear of hurting the paternalistic relationship.'' Traders ensured that trappers
bought essentials, since they knew the trapping ability and likely income of each customer and
doled out goods accordingly. A trader who extended too much credit for luxury items or vanilla

would not stay in business, since the trappers’ income likely would not pay for it. The system also
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spread buying power throughout the year. Some with large families received as much as $200 per
month in credit, while those with few dependents received less. Men also gained prestige from
their credit limit, which reflected their ability as trappers and hunters. The HBC cared for its
customers, even giving out free food at Christmas. One person recalls that the HBC “promised to
look after us, just like a pension . . . they treated all the old people the same way.”'* The
sometimes inflated prices helped pay bad debts and carry customers through hard times, with
trappers, not southern taxpayers, paying the cost. This system effectively encouraged work and
helped moderate drunkenness and crime. Hugh Mackay Ross, a long-time HBC employee, said
his company “understood how they felt about tomorrow. It might never come.” Ross also
described Phelps as “a rabid socialist” who thought the HBC wanted to keep Aboriginals
“enthralled in debt.””"

To facilitate conservation and equalize opportunity for Aboriginals and whites in trapping,
Saskatchewan and the federal government signed the first Northern Fur Conservation Area
Agreement. The ten-year agreement took effect on July 18, 1946 and applied to the area north of
the 53" parallel. This allowed the CCF to establish a northern Fur Conservation Block there,
where it would apply conservation and other policies. The signing also created a Fur Advisory
Committee to advise government. The agreement called for spending up to $50,000 annually to
develop and administer northern fur resources, with Saskatchewan contributing forty percent.
Because the North had a large number of Treaty Indians, Ottawa would pay sixty percent. The
funding proved inadequate, and even though Ottawa gave extra, Saskatchewan wanted more.
Saskatchewan contributed $352,000 from 1946 to 1957 while Ottawa provided $412,400. On
expiry of the first agreement, the two governments signed another ten-year agreement to run until
March 31, 1966."

The CCF allowed affected parties some opportunity for input into the design of fur
policies. After distributing about 15,000 questionnaires to trappers, fur ranchers, and fur dealers
in 1944, the CCF claimed to have the support of ninety-six percent of trappers, of eighty-eight
percent of fur ranchers, and of eighty-one percent of fur dealers for its plans. Phelps also met with
trappers on a trip north in 1944, holding meetings in “all northern communities” to introduce
policies. In another effort, the Saskatchewan Fur Marketing Association, the corporation which
controlled the Saskatchewan Fur Marketing Service (SFMS), established an advisory committee,
but it met only once. Field officers’ conferences also gave DNR staff an opportunity to make
recommendations."’

The process used by the CCF to gather public opinion suffered from serious flaws. First,
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the CCF already seemed to have decided that it would intervene aggressively to structurally alter
the fur business. Secondly, many who completed questionnaires and attended meetings did not
understand the true nature of CCF plans. Finally, the process excluded many, particularly
Aboriginals who could not read or write and did not complete the questionnaires. The widespread
opposition which soon arose contradicted CCF claims of general support for its actions.

Controversy resulted when the CCF virtually eliminated all trapping by southerners in the
North. The CCF required a one-year residence period, the recommendation of the area trappers’
association, and the approval of DNR before allowing an outsider to trap. In effect, this policy
reserved northern trapping for the area’s residents.'® The CCF further restricted northern trapping
by limiting it to those who did not have a major source of income other than from trapping or
fishing--in other words, usually Aboriginals. This rule eliminated trapping by many white
northerners, including priests, bureaucrats, teachers, and business people.!” The CCF enforced this
policy less strictly with Aboriginals than with whites, likely showing its true intent. The policy of
not permitting persons income from more than one occupation had no precedent in the province.
Even Joe Phelps, responsible for the edict, received income from various sources, including
farming and politics. In one case, the policy ended the long-standing conservation and trapping
efforts of the North of 55 Mink Ranch, comprised of Churchill River Power employees. The CCF
rejected their plans to continue operating, because the group did “not make their living from this
source,” even though they proposed forming a co-operative and using Aboriginal labour to improve
the trapping area.'® Ina Candle Lake Conservation Area case in 1950-1951, the CCF stopped long-
time trapper Alvin L. Akre from trapping after he became the principal at the Candle Lake School.
Feeling unfairly treated, Akre complained that another trapper, Nemo Sackett, worked at many
activities. On the advice of W. J. Berezowsky of DNR, the Fur Advisory Committee then
disqualified Sackett from trapping. Minister Brockelbank supported the decision, which also
appeased Akre. DNR also refused a trapping licence to Mrs. Hanson because her husband worked
for DNR, even though she had long trapped in the area."”

Yet in the case of the Aboriginal trapper Matthew Natwejus, who had other employment
in the Island Falls area, the CCF overlooked the rule.”® It enforced the regulations more strictly
against white than Aboriginal trappers because of the CCF belief that Aboriginals had a natural
aptitude for trapping and fishing and that they would not succeed in other industries. The CCF
possibly erred in its belief in Aboriginal aptitude for “traditional occupations.” Valentine and
Young described as “perhaps the greatest paradox” that the average Metis did not do well at

trapping or fur preparation.”’ The banning of southern trappers and those with other sources of
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income removed some of the best and most efficient trappers from the industry. These policies
became part of the CCF tolerance of inefficiency in the trapping industry.

Shutting out numerous good trappers contributed to some remote areas becoming under-
trapped by the mid 1950s. Many Aboriginals lost interest in trapping far from the village. Falling
fur prices and increased access to welfare also took interest away from trapping in outlying areas.
The CCF still protected Aboriginal trapping, even in under-trapped areas. A. T. Davidson,
assistant deputy minister of DNR, and other officials agreed “too much security was being given
these men.”” DNR encouraged trappers to get out and take fur. It operated an “access trails”
program in the north-west area in 1958-1959 to allow ground access to remote areas, and also
provided two “camp trade” outpost stores, which allowed for longer stays on trap lines.® In
another effort, DNR flew two trappers from the Buffalo Narrows area into an under-trapped area
in 1961, also offering fur pickup and a trip out at Christmas.”* Yet Aboriginal interest in trapping
in difficult-to-reach areas waned further, even though fur stocks increased. Wild fur production
dropped to a seventeen-year low in 1964.> The CCF stuck to its belief that Aboriginals should trap
and did not open the industry to those it excluded. It still hoped that Aboriginals would trap the
remote areas more intensively.

In another controversial move, the CCF introduced group leases for northern trapping
areas. This move, consistent with a socialist preference for group action over individual enterprise,
reversed the previous Liberal administration’s plans for an individual trapline registration system.
Group trapping brought heavy regimentation and forced co-operation between trappers.?® The CCF
broke the North into group trapping areas and intended to administer the areas much as “large wild
fur farms.” On April 3, 1945, at Phelps’ request, an order-in-council established the Cumberland
House-Pine Bluff Conservation Area. It became the first of ninety-nine areas eventually
established. Conservation Areas included 3,584 trappers by 1950. Part of the far North remained
outside the program until its extension to the northern boundary of Saskatchewan in 1958.
Individual trappers could sell their right to trap in the trapping area, providing DNR and their group
approved of the buyer. Regulations also required notifying Indian Affairs of vacancies.?’

Resistance to the new trapping boundaries arose partly because the new divisions often
violated traditional trapping arrangements. A CCF supporter at La Ronge wrote in 1945 “We have
had a lot of agitation here about the trapping leases and got only 29 votes for Bowerman [federal
CCF candidate].”* Stony Rapids residents in 1949 repudiated their chief, blaming him for creating
a new division of the traditional hunting and trapping area used by the Stony Rapids and Fond du

Lac groups. DNR had drawn a new dividing line in an effort to increase trapping of beaver by
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Fond du Lac trappers faced with “extreme poverty.” The chief wrongly received the blame, and
DNR seemed willing to reevaluate its decision.”” Cumberland House trappers repeatedly agitated
for changes to trapping areas, wanting expansion of area A28 to include traditional trapping
territory. Their wishes sometimes conflicted with the desires of Sturgeon Landing trappers. CCF
rules barred trappers, including Pierre Carriere, who trapped on the nearby HBC lease, from
trapping in A28. This led to protests, which the CCF did not appreciate. Game Commissioner
Paynter described Liberal supporter Pierre Carriere as the “chief agitator.”*® The area system did
allow some flexibility, by assigning some trapping rights closer to settlements to older and less
mobile trappers.

The CCF also created trappers councils in each area. Councils had five elected members,
with Indians, Metis, and whites, where present, having equal rights on the councils. Paynter
claimed “this is the first time in the history of the province that Indians have been treated equally

ke

with all others.” DNR kept strict control of the system, dominating council meetings, setting
agendas, and making final decisions. Because trappers could not set prices or relieve overcrowding
of trapping areas, they often showed little enthusiasm for the meetings. Only twenty-four of
eighty-six members attended one meeting at Cumberland House in 1954-1955. DNR continued
to call the meetings in 1960, although it allowed trappers to chair some of the gatherings.*'

All regions, even those with no previous regulation, soon fell under the CCF system of
trapping licenses and fur royalty collection. In 1945, Phelps seemed alarmed when he heard that
trappers at Fond du Lac did not have licenses. Metis needed to buy licenses, while Indians
received these free of charge. The CCF also wanted Ottawa to establish fur rehabilitation areas
on Indian Reserves.”> Some northern Saskatchewan residents, including a number with a
traditional claim to do so, hunted and trapped in the NWT. Beginning in 1949, they needed federal
licenses to do so.”

In the interests of restoring endangered fur populations, the CCF placed strict controls on
the harvest of beaver and muskrat. Many areas had virtually no beaver left in 1944. Muskrat
numbers also had declined, due to overtrapping and the 1930s drought, which dried up marsh
habitat. Phelps closed muskrat and beaver seasons, although he knew this action would hurt
Aboriginal trappers. He thought construction work on the road to La Ronge and work programs
could help fill the income gap. The CCF’s fur conservation program applied to the entire province.
In the Pre-Cambrian area north of the Churchill River, beaver management held priority, while in
the northern Saskatchewan River watershed, muskrat management took precedence.*

Habitat modification formed a major part of the CCF plan to restore beaver and muskrat
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populations. Largely funded by the Northern Fur Conservation Area Agreement, the CCF built
dams and flood control structures in various areas. The Oblate priest, F. X. Gagnon of the Beauval
Indian Residential School, knew his area well and advised government on the placement of dams
there. Over the years, DNR built many dams; in 1949-1950 alone, it built thirty-nine dams.*

Southern beaver stocks stood at a much higher level than those in the North in 1944. DNR
consequently live-trapped beaver in the South and relocated them to the North. In 1945, DNR
wanted Father Gagnon to “instruct the natives that these beaver were planted for their benefit and
that they should not be molested.”® During 1946 and 1947, DNR transplanted 1,127 beaver,
raising their number in most areas to a level considered sufficient for propagation. Relocation
carried on though, including to the far northern area of Stony Rapids in 1952. While it was costly
to fly beaver that far, Brockelbank hoped the effort would have a “psychological effect” on the
Dene and result in an improved attitude to conservation. The program continued, with about 3,500
moved by 1955.%

Under the CCF, Cumberland House’s low-lying, wet delta area received a disproportionate
amount of governmental and private attention directed at restoring and increasing fur stocks. The
former Liberal government had entered into leases for much of the area. In response to drought
drying up the marshes and damaging muskrat habitat, the HBC began the largest fur conservation
program in northern Saskatchewan on leased land at Cumberland House in 1938. The HBC
seemed to have altruistic motives for leasing the marshes. It wanted to restore fur populations, help
Aboriginals become independent, demonstrate that “large-scale conservation schemes” could work,
and encourage governments to take action. One lease ran from 1943 until 1964, while another
expired sooner. The HBC built a headquarters and manager’s residence, and dams, dykes, and
canals to control water levels and improve muskrat habitat and production. It spent about $200,000
by the early 1960s on structures.” Although the project increased local employment and income,
some trappers opposed the HBC presence. They disapproved of the HBC monopoly on buying furs
from the leases and losing unrestricted access to the marshes. Phelps and the CCF also did not like
the HBC involvement and tried to take the land back. The CCF viewed the leases as capitalist
oppression of the northern people. They met with partial success when the HBC gave up the area
north of the river. The company kept the lease south of the river, probably the most profitable of
the two areas. Pressure continued for this lease to end as well.*

The CCF seemed overly suspicious about HBC intentions and did not fully appreciate the
dramatic increase HBC efforts brought in fur production and income. The HBC lease, for example,

produced 110,708 muskrat in the 1953-1954 season compared to only 16,000 taken from the A-28
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side. Careful management, contracts with trappers, regular fur pickups, and the provision of traps
and grubstakes helped bring the HBC success. Many better trappers wanted to trap for the
company. Game Commissioner Paynter recognized the superior HBC administration, compared
to that of DNR, and opposed cancelling the HBC lease until DNR could improve its management.*

Likely tired of opposition from the CCF and trappers, the HBC asked DNR in 1960 to end
the lease, even though it did not expire until 1964. The HBC also viewed the project as successful,
since it had helped restore fur production. During twenty-two years of HBC control, production
had approximately quadrupled, muskrat and beaver trappers received $830,000, and the HBC paid
wages of $150,000 to local staff. Over the years, Saskatchewan also collected more than $185,000
in lease fees, royalties, and SFMS commissions from the HBC. The company claimed it lost about
$175,526 on the project. It offered the province a house, ten other buildings, and various assets
for $30,000, and did not ask any compensation for the approximately $200,000 spent on dams,
dykes, and canals. DNR, shrewdly sensing that the HBC might take less, offered $20,000, which
the HBC accepted.*!

The CCF set out to turn the former HBC lease into a community development project.
While DNR’s Read wanted to eliminate all appearance of paternalism, contradictorily, he spoke
of government paying for deficits. Aboriginals should make at least token payments on the
project’s purchase cost. The CCF looked for local support for the plan, but only about twenty-five
percent of those eligible voted, with fifty voting for and forty against the plan. In spite of the
lukewarm support, the plan went ahead. In October of 1961, trappers formed the Cumberland Fur
Project, and the province helped them organize as a co-operative. The CCF repeatedly bailed out
the money-losing organization, while the Federal-Provincial Fur Agreement paid off the debt to
the province.*” The new operation proved costly to the province and likely lowered fur production
and local income. Yet, the CCF clearly preferred co-operative community ownership over private
control.

Various other fur leases in the Cumberland House area predated the CCF era. The CCF
also strove to end some of these leases, except in the case of the lease to Indian Affairs of the
Sipanok area west of Cumberland House. Indian Affairs operated a successful conservation
program there, aiding trappers from Red Earth and Shoal Lake Reserves.* Non-profit projects to
improve fur habitat also received a warm welcome from the CCF. Ducks Unlimited began
conservation efforts in the Cumberland House area in the mid 1940s. It also carried out water
control work for the CCF in the former HBC lease area in the 1960s. By 1963, Ducks Unlimited
spent about $240,000 on area water control.* The CCF undid some of the positive effects of

-108-



conservation efforts when it built the Squaw Rapids hydro electric dam upstream on the
Saskatchewan. The structure generated opposition at Cumberland House from the time it opened
in about 1963. Fluctuating water releases repeatedly damaged fur habitat. The community also
blamed the dam for many other problems.*

Of the various organizations and persons who worked on conservation projects in the
Cumberland House area, DNR ran one of the least productive operations. It built some water
control projects to improve fur habitat there, including those directed by J. Brady in the late 1940s.
In these projects, local people used wheelbarrows to build earthen dams. Some dams extended to
one-and one-half miles or more in length. With DNR interest rising and ebbing over the years, its
dams often fell into disrepair.*® Yet, the CCF preferred the inefficiency of its own operations to
the efficiency of those who could profit from their conservation efforts.

Efforts to restore beaver and muskrat populations succeeded, both at Cumberland House
and elsewhere. After severe restrictions on beaver and muskrat trapping in 1944-1945, trappers
could again take muskrat in most parts of the province and some beaver under special permits in
1945-1946. The beaver harvest averaged about 1,200 per year in the eight years before the
program began, while during the first ten years of the program trappers took an average of about
12,000 per year. By 1949 DNR saw “splendid progress.” It described the trapper as “a fur farmer
in the wild.” The beaver harvest reached over 34,000 in 1954-1955. In spite of a large price
decline, down from an average of forty dollars in 1945 to $9.69 in 1954, Brockelbank claimed
government actions helped increase income by over $225,000. In 1958-1959, trappers in the
conservation block took 31,164 beaver which sold for an average of $9.04, compared to 1,260
taken in 1946-1947 which brought an average price of $31.80.Y

Muskrat production also increased from its low point in 1941-1942. Although
conservation played a part in this recovery, muskrat numbers naturally rose and fell in a cycle. In
the years from the beginning of the conservation program until 1952, muskrat production averaged
477,541 per year compared to 230,084 for the same number of years before the program began.
Production reached 951,065 in 1952-1953. The most productive muskrat area, the Cumberland
delta, saw large harvest fluctuations due to water conditions and disease. Flooding and refreezing
of the water in 1947 led to DNR closing the muskrat season there. The area muskrat harvest
dropped from 126,407 in 1946 to nil in 1948, causing destitution and the consequent distribution
of relief.*

DNR closely regulated trapping and trappers. It expected trappers to carry out beaver

censuses, although DNR distrusted their counts. Suspicion arose that some trappers inflated
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numbers thinking this would give them a higher beaver quota. At Stanley Mission, the beaver
house count fell from 1,860 to 986 after DNR, suspecting an exaggerated census, threatened to take
away trapping rights. DNR also found trapping violations there, including beaver houses chopped
open. DNR required trappers to submit annual reports within thirty days of the end of the
trapping season, refusing future permits for non-compliance.” DNR also closely regulated the
taking of other fur bearers, as in the early 1950s when it issued no fisher or marten permits.”* It
also set trapping seasons, which varied by species, with some beginning as early as October.*
The CCF’s strict controls on trapping caused dissatisfaction in many areas. Some thought
the regulations contributed to poverty and hardship. Residents at Pelican Narrows, a poor
community, called for a beaver quota.”® At Island Falls, Horace Morin complained when DNR
closed an area to trapping, since people did not have the canoes or dogs to allow them to trap
farther away. He also objected to only married men receiving beaver licenses. Phelps’ office
consulted with Churchill River Power, whose superintendent expressed surprise that Morin

3 At Cumberland House in

complained, since Morin had a reputation as a docile, lazy person.
1948, Pierre Carriere sent a petition with fifty-six names to DNR asking for an open beaver season.
Trappers there also wanted changes to trapping areas.”® As well, the quota system for muskrats
raised complaints. One protester at Cumberland House in 1950 claimed that, after government
stopped muskrat trapping the previous year, the remaining 10,000 muskrat died anyway.*

In at least one case, DNR used its power to control and prosecute trappers as a social
measure. It charged blind seventy-six-year-old Andrew Raun of the Cumberland House area in
1951 with illegally trapping six beaver. He seemed to badly need the trapping income., While area
trappers approved of him trapping near his cabin, DNR had refused him a beaver permit. Rev.
Parker, the justice of the peace, fined Raun $250 and $4.50 costs, which represented more than one
year’s blind pension for Raun, or sixty days in jail. Raun went to jail. The jailing appeared
motivated by a desire to protect the blind man “living in a deplorable, filthy state in his cabin on
the Mossy River.” While in jail, he had an operation on his toe nails, which possibly had not been
cut for years. E. L. Paynter, Game Commissioner, wrote “It is quite a problem to know just what
to do with people like this. Many of them think they should have the right to live and die as they
wish. . . . I am inclined to recommend that the proceeds of the fur involved should be given to
him.”?’

While northerners effectively resisted paying property taxes by refusing to do so, the CCF

system for collecting fur royalties defied resistance since it required payment at the point of sale.

Royalties varied over time and by species. In the late 1950s royalties ranged from a low of two
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cents for squirrel and jack rabbit, to seven cents for muskrat, to one dollar for beaver, fisher, and
mink, to $1.25 for otter. Fur royalties and license fees totaled about $3.8 million from 1944 to
1963, much more than the CCF spent on fur programs.® _

In its most controversial trapping intervention, the CCF forced the marketing of beaver and
muskrat, other than muskrat from the HBC lease near Cumberland House, through its new crown
corporation, the Saskatchewan Fur Marketing Service (SFMS). Idealistically, the CCF sought to
provide a “safe, sound market for trappers and fur farmers.” It also wanted to give trappers the
highest possible prices and improve the quality and prestige of Saskatchewan furs. Phelps justified
creating SFMS by claiming overwhelming support from trappers, fur farmers, and dealers.*

Creation of SFMS served various purposes for the CCF. It fit with the its socialist agenda,
which preferred crown corporations over private enterprise. SFMS also helped break the power
of private traders, thought responsible for keeping Aboriginals in debt peonage and poverty.
Further, the CCF did not trust trappers or traders. Handling the furs itself helped the CCF enforce
its controls for beaver and muskrat.* Additionally, the CCF looked to SFMS for revenue. Phelps
wanted to use initial profits to expand DNR and expected SFMS to return a dividend to
government.®’ By 1962, SFMS earned a surplus of $412,319 and possessed a contingency reserve
of $25,000.%

SFMS hired W. H. Lefurgey as its manager, but since he did not satisfy Phelps, A. J.
Cooke took over as manager in November of 1945. SFMS held fur auctions from its building in
Regina. At four auctions from January to June of 1945, sales totalled about $520,000. Phelps soon
claimed that SFMS succeeded in raising prices for trappers. He also planned to expand into
tanning and processing furs and making fur coats. Phelps, in his excitement, ordered a muskrat
coat from Winnipeg, made with Saskatchewan skins.%

SFMS charged a commission of five percent plus other fees. DNR and SFMS both
collected royalties. SFMS relied on agents, including DNR, the Fish Board, priests, and others to
collect furs, paying them a fee of about one percent of the selling price. Rev. C. E. Gamache of
Fond du Lac, sympathetic to SFMS, offered to collect fur, without pay. He stressed the need to
replace delayed SFMS payments with advance payments made “on the spot,” a suggestion SFMS
refused to follow.%

The compulsory fur marketing system raised much more opposition than did the
conservation measures, but Phelps and the CCF refused to listen to the complaints from trappers
and fur dealers. Northerners still speak with great anger about the negative effects of CCF fur
policies. One Metis man bitterly described how compulsory marketing destroyed the profitability
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of muskrat trapping.® Many unhappy SFMS customers complained, with some saying they
received only a small percentage of what they should have.®® In one case, SFMS paid $22.28 for
thirty-six wolf pelts, which it sold for $106.05.%7 In 1948, Rev. C. J. Waite of Montreal Lake railed
against charges much higher than the ten percent fee he thought the CCF had promised. Charges
reached twenty-five percent for fisher pelts, including royalties. Waite spoke of the CCF and its
Soviet system robbing “my Indians.”® L. E. Blanchard, MLA for Cumberland, wrote to
Brockelbank in 1949: “The Indians tell me never before have we been so poor . . . they are getting
desperate.” Brockelbank dogmatically replied “I think you will agree with me that it would be very
.undesirable in the interests of your constituents to leave them completely at the mercy of the fur
dealer as they were in the past.”® The same year, 142 La Ronge trappers and fishermen signed a
petition which opposed SFMS and favored an open market for fur and fish.” A letter from
Deschambault Lake, originally written in Cree, read “For me I feed my dogs, when I have finished
using them, all summer I feed them even when they are not working for me since I expect that they
will be working for me again, but now, as far as we can see it is as if they are trying to starve us
to death and children.””" Chief Robert McKay of Red Earth Reserve complained to Brockelbank
after SEMS destroyed rejected muskrat pelts. He reminded Brockelbank that he recently told
trappers that nothing would please him more than to have the trappers call him “brother.”” Slow
payment by SFMS also proved a major issue for trappers.”

The anthropologist V. Valentine experienced resistance to CCF fur policies in the 1950s.
The Metis he knew particularly disliked compulsory fur marketing, which destroyed the credit
system and did not replace it with a reliable substitute. “For most people, all present wrongs are
believed to have been caused by the present Government,” Valentine wrote. Aboriginals “had only
contempt and hostility for the Department of Natural Resources, and for the Provincial
Government generally.” He reported “I couldn’t walk two steps without being accused of being
some kind of a CCF spy or some other damn thing . . . it was all focused on the way in which the
resources were being administered, and specifically, the compulsory aspects of beaver and
muskrat.””*

The resistance to compulsory fur marketing became part of a generalized opposition to the
CCF presence and policies. Laurie Barron describes Aboriginal opposition as “an indictment of
the very notion that the CCF was walking in Indian moccasins.” The older generation particularly
resisted, and Aboriginals fought back by continuing to use the HBC when they could.” Valentine
thought the Metis felt “robbed of their natural heritage and that the new programmes are rapidly

bringing about the disintegration of their society. The resentment is such that to be called a
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‘C.C.F.’er’ is an anathema.”” Some of the strongest open resistance to CCF policies came at
Cumberland House. In 1947, arecording secretary at a community hall meeting admonished Pierre
Carriere “for his anarchistic expressions and conduct at past meetings.””” In 1948, R. T. Francis,
a forestry student, wrote “I have heard from some great rumors that these people are very hard to
get along with, i.e. what we have done for them in the past two or three years was more or less
ignored by these people.””

Even when trappers and other northerners disagreed strongly with CCF policies, they often
chose mild methods to register their opposition, such as petitioning the CCF. In 1949 for example,
a petition from 147 Lac la Ronge area trappers and fishermen requested “the removal of
compulsory marketing of fish and furs through socialist boards.” Formal opposition from
Aboriginals often depended on white advisers, as most Metis and Indians lacked education or
experience with the white man and his policy and decision-making process. A language barrier
also existed, as Aboriginals spoke primarily Cree or Chipewyan. Often a literate white person
organized a petition, which arrived in Regina with numerous Xs made by those who could not sign
their names.”” Many trappers and others also used passive resistance, not co-operating with CCF
fur and other projects. In the North, the powerless aimed more to minimize the negative impact
of CCF programs than to bring structural changes. They delayed, faked compliance, and affected
ignorance and incompetence. Most resistance stayed unorganized, although silent understandings
and informal networks effectively worked against CCF plans. A Metis Society study found that
Aboriginals used “accommodating language” when speaking to officials. They gave the answers
they thought would please the officials, and they did not show their true “deep feelings and
decisions.” The report said “accommodating answers make things run more smoothly in the
colonized world.”® Resistance of various types to CCF fur policies continued to rise.

The CCF did create one mechanism through which trappers could register their concerns
over fur policies with government. Beginning in 1950, the CCF used Annual Trappers
Conferences at Prince Albert as one of its main ways to communicate with trappers. DNR
provided most of the initiative, financing, and organization. Northerners participated increasingly
by 1953, when ninety-one delegates from fifty-two areas attended meetings conducted in Cree,
Chipewyan, and English. Yet DNR and white trappers from fringe areas often dominated. DNR
anthropologist J. E. M. Kew depicted the organization as “dictatorial” and “paternalistic.” The
meetings acted as a “safety valve” for hostilities and as an *“educational tool” for government, and
with few exceptions did little to alter government policies. DNR continued its close supervision

in the 1960s, and still gave grants to delegates. Some who attended spent the money partying and
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then could not afford to rent a room.*!

Northern trappers were not alone in their opposition to CCF fur policies. Resistance also
arose among fur traders and dealers throughout the province. The CCF largely ignored the
concerns of these capitalist merchants since it viewed them as part of the problem in the fur
industry. The government worked to reduce and even eliminate their involvement in the business.
Complaints from dealers flooded in to Regina. Schneider and Einarson, traders at Deschambault
Lake, complained of forged signatures in support of SFMS and that Indians had been told that
shipping their furs to SFMS would help the Red Cross. They wondered too if SEMS would collect
debts owed them for advances to trappers. The pair soon sold their post to the CCF, which opened
a government store there. The HBC also worried about collecting debts from trappers who shipped
furs to SFMS. The Raw Fur, Hide, Horsehair and Wool Dealers’ Association in 1944 opposed the
creation of SFMS. When Phelps considered forcing the marketing of all ranch and wild fur
through SFMS, the Lestock Silver Fox and Fur Association unanimously opposed the plan.
Fearing the worst, Jewish fur dealers in Saskatoon asked for one year to close out their affairs. Fur
dealer Mick Fyck wrote to Phelps saying “Do you think Mr Phelps that fur dealers were making
so much profit on buying furs that you wanted to take this away from us.” After trying the new
system, the Raw Fur Dealers Association remained opposed to SFMS in 1948. It offered to handle
furs, keep records, oversee quotas, collect fees, and “ become keen guardians.”? The CCF did not
listen.

Although regulations allowed the HBC to handle muskrat furs from its Cumberland House
lease, Phelps wanted it to market these furs through SFMS. After selling a trial shipment of
muskrats through SFMS, the HBC decided to market all its furs in London. It seemed this would
help the British government reestablish the London fur market, which had ended during the war.®

A recovery in fur prices to “exceptional” levels helped SFMS succeed. From 1944 to
1946, it marketed nearly two million dollars in furs. One large auction in August of 1947 offered
the skins of 83,848 muskrat and 1,712 beaver and produced sales of $254,400.30. About thirty
brokers and agents from outside the province attended, including representatives from twelve New
York firms. After the sale, A. J. Cooke personally traveled north to distribute returns to allow
trappers to buy trapping equipment and avoid debt. Many trappers seemed less concerned about
the future and quickly spent the cash. SFMS added two stories to its building in Regina, and
Cooke declared that he had seen no equal to the new second floor display area. SFMS sales
brought prices which equalled or exceeded those at any sale on the continent, he claimed. SFMS

sold about eight million dollars in pelts by January of 1951, and earned a total surplus of $277,611
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by the end of 1953.%

In some cases, SFMS raised the prices of furs. In 1947, for example, it paid eighty-six
cents for muskrat, while the HBC paid seventy-five cents for those from its lease at Cumberland
House. DNR’s Malcolm Norris surveyed fur prices in La Ronge and found that the HBC and other
private interests paid far less for furs than did SFMS. Large mink sold at La Ronge for thirty-five
dollars, while they had a market value of about sixty dollars. A report commissioned by Phelps
for November and December of 1947 likely inaccurately concluded that trappers who sold to
private interests lost about $128,000 compared to SFMS prices.® In reality, the differences often
seemed small, not large enough to justify accusations of unfair treatment by private dealers.
Dealers could justify paying lower prices for furs, since they did not know in advance what prices
they would receive for furs. Unlike SFMS, dealers paid for furs when they received them. Dealers
also incurred costs by operating in isolated settlements and offering credit. Further, SFMS
received operating subsidies of various types, including free labour from DNR officers who
collected furs.

Many trappers did not experience the benefits from SFMS claimed by the CCF. While
government claimed that statistics demonstrated the benefit from its programs, trappers knew they
received lower prices for many furs than they had years before. Even though weakening world fur
markets caused some of this decline, the CCF received the blame. Delayed payments from SFMS
and lost credit at local traders also continued to irk many northerners. Consequently, opposition
to compulsory fur marketing intensified. As early as 1949, faced with complaints from Liberals,
dealers, and trappers, Brockelbank considered having to abandon the policy, even though SEMS
showed a profit. As protests increased, DNR’s Deputy Minister C. A. L. Hogg and Game
Commissioner E. L. Paynter also questioned continuing the compulsory program. Even DNR
officers became apathetic about SFMS. With the opposition reaching overwhelming proportions,
Brockelbank again reluctantly spoke of ending compulsory marketing in 1954. The final blow to
the system came when the Annual Trappers Convention, which had previously supported
compulsory marketing, voted to end the system in 1955. The Fur Advisory Committee blamed
Aboriginal delegates for the result, since most white trappers at the convention favoured
compulsory marketing. In a weak effort to salvage the crumbling system, Brockelbank suggested
increasing the initial payment. The CCF government, worn down by persistent and growing
opposition to SFMS, allowed open marketing of beaver and muskrat pelts during the 1955-1956
fiscal year. The primary reason for compulsory marketing ending was persistent pressure from

trappers. The CCF wanted to continue the system, even though the main initial justification for
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creating the system, the need to protect fur stocks, no longer caused concern.?

From the point of view of many northerners, the SFMS had failed. During its time as a
compulsory service, SEMS helped destroy the former northern economy while it did little to raise
incomes. It possibly left Aboriginal northerners “poorer than ever.”® The CCF also broke a
promise to use the $412,319 surplus to promote the industry and increase social services. Instead,
the money went into general revenue.*® However, from the CCF point of view, the SFMS
succeeded. It largely accomplished at least one of its original purposes; it played a key role in the
CCF’sideological attack on northern capitalism, including the HBC, private traders, and the credit
system. Compulsory fur marketing helped weaken these institutions. SFMS continued operating
as a non-compulsory service after 1955, with southern trappers using the service most. Northern
trappers largely avoided the hated marketing system. In 1961-1962, SFMS handled 60.6% of the
total wild fur catch, compared to 74.5% in 1949-1950. In nineteen seasons of operation, SFMS
marketed more than twenty-five million dollars in furs, more than one-half of Saskatchewan’s wild
fur production.®

Although the CCF used a heavy hand in various matters--banning trapping by southerners
and those who had jobs, imposing trapping areas, and forcing marketing through the SFMS--it
chose not to use its power to reduce the number of Aboriginal trappers to a rational number.
Instead, it institutionalized overcrowding. The number of northern trappers increased from 1,747
in 1947-1948 to 2,055 in 1959-1960. The CCF allowed practically any Aboriginals who wanted
to trap to do so. The Fur Advisory Committee and later the Program Co-ordinating Committee
held responsibility for approving new trapping licenses. While recognizing the poor economic
outlook for trapping, the Program Co-ordinating Committee claimed vocational alternatives did
not exist and turned down few applicants. It allowed thirty to forty new trappers per year. By
1959-1960, Cumberland House area trappers, operating in one of the North’s most productive
areas, had a mean gross income of only $328, down from $464.15 in 1953-1954. Many trappers
failed to cover expenses, and trapping increasingly became an activity rather than an occupation.
Few earned a living trapping. Allowing many to trap, rather than limiting trapping to fewer
participants, added to the failure of the CCF plan to have trapping form one of the primary bases
of the northern Aboriginal economy.*

In an initiative closely related to trapping, the CCF encouraged northern fur farming. The
CCF and others viewed farming captive animals on fur farms as the future of fur production.
During the 1940s, mink ranches replaced the once popular fox ranching. Northern mink ranching

interested the CCF, since it would utilize coarse fish and offal from fish plants as feed and offered
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hope for economic diversification. Many mink ranches began, particularly in the Buffalo Narrows
and Ile a la Crosse area, which produced more than one-quarter of the provincial mink production
by 1955-1956.>' The province had about ninety-four fur farms by 1959, with 49,534 mink
consuming about 5,685,372 pounds of coarse fish.”> White people raised most furs, although the
CCF wanted Aboriginals to enter the business. CCF encouragement existed more in spirit than in
fact, since it had no program to help Aboriginals become fur farmers. Various DNR officials spoke
about creating programs to move Aboriginals into fur farming, and the Center for Community
Studies visualized a great expansion in northern mink ranching, with up to another sixty ranches
on the west side and more elsewhere. The CCF, the Center, and experts all guessed wrong in
seeing a bright future for fur farming. Prices crashed by the mid 1960s. Only twenty-one licenced
mink ranches remained in the province by 1970.%

CCF efforts torestore and control fur stocks succeeded. Beaver once again felled trees and
built dams, and muskrat played in thriving marshes. Yet the CCF hope that its multi-faceted fur
intervention would bring prosperity to Aboriginals proved false. Benefits to trappers remained
small for several reasons, some of which the CCF could not control. It could not reverse the long
decline in world fur prices, which reduced the profitability of trapping. In 1960-1961 Canadian
wild fur production totalled only $12,360,000 compared to $16,092,000 in 1923. Beaver prices
fell from an average of $27.36 in 1947-1948 to $11.17 in 1959-1960, and muskrat from $2.29 to
$.82. For 1959-1960, Treaty Indian trappers averaged returns of $476, Metis of $313, and whites
of $606. Trapping incomes fluctuated wildly, as seen in the drop in 1963-1964 to $684,932.24
from $984,702.25 the previous year for the northern block. Artificial fur, ranch fur, and foreign
competition also hurt the industry. Pressure against using fur-bearing animals had not yet risen and
was not a factor.*

CCF policies also contributed to the failure of trapping to form a base for the northern
Aboriginal economy. Although fur stocks rose, trappers failed to increase the amount of fur taken;
by 1960 wild-fur production exceeded that of the first year of the conservation program only once.
Some remote areas saw little trapping, with Aboriginals preferring trapping closer to settlements.
Many trappers also lacked interest in trapping, even close to home. The CCF failed to rationalize
trapping by protecting inefficient and unmotivated producers and not opening trapping to outsiders.
Consistent with socialist principles, the CCF wanted to spread trapping income among all northern
Aboriginals rather than have a few trappers receive substantial incomes. Skilled and ambitious
trappers consequently could not earn a good living at trapping. The CCF forced socialist principles

on a reluctant trapping industry. It did so by expelling entrepreneurs from trapping, imposing a
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group trapping model, opposing profit-oriented traders, and compelling marketing through the
state-owned SFMS. Northerners resisted CCF ideology and actions, hurting the success of CCF
plans.

One aspect of the CCF trapping interventions strove to end the credit system and replace
it with a cash system. This effort failed dismally. The CCF seemed surprised when its tampering
with credit caused serious new problems. Traders cut the amount of credit they gave, forcing
trappers to frequently return from the trapline for supplies, unlike previously when they obtained
enough goods for extended, efficient stays on the trapline. SFMS used a system of initial and final
payments, but even the initial payment would not arrive for weeks or months. Trappers camped
near the post office, drinking and gambling, waiting for cheques which often did not meet
expectations. The cash system brought feast and famine, since many quickly spent their fur
cheques, and few bought traps and nets for the next winter from cheques which arrived in the
spring and summer. When fur income peaked at Cumberland House in 1946, with trappers
receiving from $1,200 to $4,000, many quickly spent the money and then went on relief. Montreal
Lake became a “bootleg paradise” when fur cheques arrived, with up to seven taxis bringing liquor
in one night. Reverend Waite blamed the increased drinking on what he referred to as the “Soviet
System” introduced by the CCF.” Under the CCF system, trappers commonly ended up broke and
without credit, which increased dependence on social aid.

The CCF made weak efforts to fix its new system, mainly by talking about issuing
payments in numerous installments. Indian Affairs and DNR unsuccessfully discussed a multiple-
payment system for Montreal Lake in 1948. The HBC agreed to help DNR implement a three-
payment system for the Cumberland House area, but the system broke down in 1950 when two fur
payments came too close together. RCMP Constable Crawford noted this resulted in “considerable
excess drinking.” In 1950, C. A. L. Hogg, DNR’s deputy minister, favoured implementing a larger
system to hold back fur income for “bad times.” Action did not follow, and the problem continued
since the CCF seemed less concerned about the increased drinking and po